Statistical mechanics of complex networks

Bartłomiej Wacław

February 1, 2008

Abstract

The science of complex networks is a new interdisciplinary branch of science which has arisen recently on the interface of physics, biology, social and computer sciences, and others. Its main goal is to discover general laws governing the creation and growth as well as processes taking place on networks, like e.g. the Internet, transportation or neural networks. It turned out that most real-world networks cannot be simply reduced to a compound of some individual components. Fortunately, the statistical mechanics, being one of pillars of modern physics, provides us with a very powerful set of tools and methods for describing and understanding these systems. In this thesis, we would like to present a consistent approach to complex networks based on statistical mechanics, with the central role played by the concept of statistical ensemble of networks. We show how to construct such a theory and present some practical problems where it can be applied. Among them, we pay attention to the problem of finite-size corrections and the dynamics of a simple model of mass transport on networks. In particular, we calculate the cutoff function for finite growing networks in the generalized Barabási-Albert model and show how the maximal degree observed in such a network depends on its size and on the exponent γ in the power-law degree distribution. We show that this structural cutoff is gaussian only for $\gamma = 3$, and is never exponential for $2 < \gamma < 4$. In parallel, we present numerical results for equilibrated networks, that is networks obtained in a sort of "thermalization" (randomization) process. We discuss also similarities and differences between growing and equilibrated networks. Concerning dynamics on networks, we study so called zero-range process being a system of particles hopping between sites of a network. We discuss known results for its static and dynamical properties on homogeneous networks, where all nodes have the same degrees, and derive new predictions for inhomogeneous graphs. We show that when the density of particles passes a certain threshold, a condensate emerges at the most inhomogeneous node. Its life-time grows exponentially with the size of the system, contrary to homogeneous graphs where it grows only like a power law. We find also a special type of an inhomogeneous network, for which the average distribution of balls is scale-free at the critical point.

Preface

This is a slightly modified text of the PhD thesis written as a part of the author's PhD studies in theoretical physics under the supervision of Prof. Z. Burda, and defended on April 5th, 2007, at the Faculty of Physics, Astronomy and Applied Computer Science, Jagellonian University in Cracow, Poland. In comparison to the officially accepted doctoral dissertation, available from Jagellonian University Library, this version has been changed according to some critical remarks of referees and other people who read it before and after the defense. In particular, some typos and errors in formulas have been corrected, and some references added or updated. There are also some minor changes. For instance, in the original text we used the word "homogeneous" to refer to a certain type of networks. We replaced it here by the word "equilibrated" which, as we realized, better reflects the structure of these networks and does not lead to a confusion with another, commonly accepted meaning. The contents is, however, almost unchanged, so is the order of all chapters, sections etc.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Science of complex networks	1
	1.2	Graphs as models of networks	1
	1.3	Properties of real-world networks	3
	1.4	The aims and the scope of the thesis	6
2	Stat	tistical mechanics of networks	7
	2.1	Equilibrated networks	7
		2.1.1 Examples of equilibrated networks	8
		2.1.2 Canonical ensemble for ER random graphs	12
		2.1.3 Grand-canonical and micro-canonical ensemble of random graphs	14
		2.1.4 Weighted equilibrated graphs	15
		2.1.5 Monte Carlo generator of equilibrated networks	19
	2.2	Causal (growing) complex networks	22
		2.2.1 Models of growing networks	23
		2.2.2 Rate equation approach	24
		2.2.3 Statistical ensemble formulation of growing networks	27
	2.3	Causal versus equilibrated networks	29
3	Арг	plications to modeling complex networks	33
	3.1	Finite-size effects in networks	33
		3.1.1 Cutoff in the degree distribution	33
		3.1.2 Growing networks	35
		3.1.3 Numerical simulations of equilibrated networks	41
	3.2	Dynamics on networks	45
		3.2.1 Zero-range process	45
		3.2.2 Condensation in the ZRP	47
		3.2.3 Dynamics of the condensate	54
		3.2.4 Power-law distribution in the ZRP on inhomogeneous graphs	31
4	Cor	nclusions and outlook	57

List of publications

Some results presented in this thesis have been published in the following papers:

- L. Bogacz, Z. Burda, and B. Waclaw, *Homogeneous complex networks*, Phys. A **366** (2006), 587; arXiv:cond-mat/0502124.
- P. Bialas, Z. Burda, and B. Waclaw, *Causal and homogeneous networks*, AIP Conf. Proc. **776** (2005), 14; arXiv:cond-mat/0503548.
- L. Bogacz, Z. Burda, W. Janke, and B. Waclaw, A program generating random graphs with given weights, Comp. Phys. Comm. 173 (2005), 162; arXiv:cond-mat/0506330.
- B. Waclaw and I. M. Sokolov, *Finite size effects is Barabási-Albert growing networks*, accepted for publication in Phys. Rev. E; arXiv:cond-mat/0609728.
- L. Bogacz, Z. Burda, W. Janke, and B. Waclaw, *Balls-in-boxes condensation on networks*, to appear in the "Chaos" focus issue on "Optimization in Networks"; arXiv:cond-mat/0701553.
- B. Waclaw, L. Bogacz, Z. Burda, and W. Janke, Condensation in zero-range processes on inhomogeneous networks, submitted to Phys. Rev. E; arXiv:cond-mat/0703243.

Other papers to which author has contributed during his PhD studies:

- Z. Burda, A. Görlich, B. Waclaw, Spectral properties of empirical covariance matrices for data with power-law tails, Phys. Rev. E 74 (2006), 041129; arXiv:physics/0603186.
- Z. Burda, J. Jurkiewicz, B. Waclaw, Eigenvalue density of empirical covariance matrix for correlated samples, Acta Phys. Pol. B 36 (2005), 2641; arXiv:cond-mat/0508451.
- Z. Burda, A. Görlich, J. Jurkiewicz, B. Waclaw, Correlated Wishart matrices and critical horizons, Eur. Phys. J. B 49 (2006), 319; arXiv:cond-mat/0508341.
- Z. Burda, J. Jurkiewicz, B. Waclaw, Spectral moments of correlated Wishart matrices, Phys. Rev. E 71 (2005), 026111; arXiv:cond-mat/0405263.

Acknowledgments

Many people helped me during my PhD studies. Here I would like to thank them. I hope that they will be able to decipher correctly enigmatic sentences written below.

I would like to thank my supervisor Prof. Z. Burda, who has been and still is doing much more for me than a supervisor should.

The work presented in this thesis was partially done during my several stays abroad. I am indebted to my hosts Prof. I. M. Sokolov from the Department of Physics, Humbold-Universität zu Berlin and Prof. W. Janke from the Institute of Theoretical Physics, Universität Leipzig, for a warm welcome and many useful discussions.

I would like to thank Prof. S. N. Dorogovtsev, Prof. J. F. F. Mendes, Dr. A. Goltsev and the University of Aveiro for hospitality. This was an unforgettable stay. I am especially grateful to Prof. Dorogovtsev for many interesting conversations.

I am grateful to Dr. R. Xulvi-Brunet for the time we spent talking about dynamically rewired complex networks.

I thank Dr. L. Bogacz for his hospitality during my first stay in Leipzig, for many things he taught me about programming and for long discussions about physics and computer science.

I am indebted to Dr. P. Bialas for pointing me out the importance of correlations in networks.

I would like to thank the German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) for a research fellowship at Universität Leipzig, Germany, and F. Kogutowska Foundation for Jagellonian University and EU grant MTKD-CT-2004-517186 (COCOS) for supporting my visit to Humbold-Universität zu Berlin.

Last but not least I thank my wife Justyna who had always deep understanding for the way of life I have chosen.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Science of complex networks

We live in the world dominated by networks, either in technological or social sense. Who can now imagine our existence without electric power transmission lines, organized in a kind of network with nodes being power plants or transformer substations, or without the Internet, the most powerful medium of the 21th century? In fact, networks surround us. We ourselves are also a part of a huge network of interpersonal contacts, where ideas or diseases can spread. Highways, subways, air traffic as well as scientific collaborations or sexual contacts' networks are just a few further examples. Some of them are real physical networks (the Internet), some of them describe non-physical relations between objects (the World Wide Web), being defined in some abstract space. During the last decade, networks became a subject of interest of scientists who want to discover general laws governing their formation and growth. It is a great success that despite an enormous variety of networks and essential differences in their physical structure, it is possible to find such laws, applying to the majority of real-world networks. The most important observation is that these networks are complex, what means that their properties cannot be simply reduced to a compound of individual components. Instead, a new quality emerges when many objects are linked together forming a network. Therefore, the reductionism - a powerful tool of physics - fails when one tries to examine complex networks. Fortunately, one branch of physics, namely the statistical mechanics, provides us with an ideal set of tools, methods and ideas for describing and understanding these sophisticated systems. The application of these ideas to complex networks uncovers unexpected connections to other areas of physics, as for instance to percolation or Bose-Einstein condensation.

In recent years, many properties of real-world networks have been described. Many models have been proposed. As a result, a new inter-disciplinary science, the science of complex networks, has emerged on the interface of physics, chemistry, biology, computer science and other disciplines. It is not the intention of author to review all important results of the science of complex network in this short introductory chapter. For a review, we refer the reader to excellent papers [1, 2, 3], or to a newer one [4] presenting also some recent developments in the field. However, to give a better comprehension of results presented in this thesis and to make it self-contained we shall describe some ideas which are especially important for our purposes. So in the next section of this chapter we shall discuss some basic concepts of graph theory, which provides a natural framework for description of networks. Then in the subsequent section we shall recall the empirical findings on real-world networks which have motivated the outbreak of interest in the field and then the rapid development of the science of complex networks in recent years. The explanation of the observed real-world properties is still the main objective of many scientific publications. In the last section of this chapter we shall briefly discuss the aim and the scope of the thesis.

1.2 Graphs as models of networks

The material presented in this section is intended to give the reader a brief introduction to the notation and some basic concepts developed by mathematicians in graph theory and then widely accepted by the community of complex networks. All the definitions given here and also many others can be found for example in the book [5]. The reader familiar with graph theory may skip this section.

It is probably a trivial statement that a network can be represented as a graph, a mathematical object consisting of a set of nodes (called also vertices or sites) and a set of edges (links), which are related by incidence relations. The nodes are joined by edges and the whole object is usually represented graphically



Figure 1.1: Left: an example of an undirected pseudograph with seven nodes and eight edges. The nodes are labeled for convenience. The node 7 is disconnected from the main body. The node 3 has a loop that is a self-connecting link. There is a double-link between the nodes 4 and 5. If the graph were simple, it would have neither multiple- nor self-connections. The degrees of all nodes are 1, 3, 5, 4, 2, 1, 0, respectively. In addition, there is a triangle on the nodes 2, 3, 4. Right: an example of directed pseudograph with N = 6, L = 10.

as in Fig. 1.1. For each edge the incidence relation says which nodes are its endpoints. In the thesis we shall denote the total number of nodes and links in the graph by N and L, respectively. While referring to graph's size we shall usually mean the number of nodes. Nodes shall be denoted by small Latin letters i, j, \ldots For simple graphs (see below), each link is uniquely determined by a pair (i, j) of nodes being its endpoints.

For many purposes it is convenient to differentiate between a directed graph, where every link $i \rightarrow j$ points only in one direction, and an undirected graph for which links do not have orientation. In Fig. 1.1 we show examples of an undirected and a directed graph. Not every edge must connect distinct vertices. An edge which has two identical end-points is called a loop or a self-connection. If two nodes are connected by more than one link, the corresponding links are called a multiple-connection or multiplelinks. One is often interested in graphs without self- and multiple-connections, which are called simple graphs or sometimes Mayer graphs, in contrast to graphs with self- or multiple-connections which are called pseudographs or degenerate graphs. In the course of this work we will see however that in some respects pseudographs are more convenient for analytical treatment. A graph is fully described by its adjacency matrix \mathbf{A} , whose entries A_{ij} give the number of edges between nodes i, j. In this thesis we shall mainly consider undirected graphs, for which A is symmetric: $A_{ij} = A_{ji}$. Because each self-connection can be viewed as two links: one going out and one going in, it is convenient to define diagonal elements of A to be equal to twice the number of loops incident with the node: $A_{ii} = 0, 2, 4, \ldots$ Alternatively the factor of two for the diagonal elements can be attributed to the fact that each loop is incident with the vertex two times. Of course for simple graphs, all diagonal elements vanish: $A_{ii} = 0$ and off-diagonal A_{ij} are either zero or one.

The most important local quantity characterizing a graph is node degree. The degree k_i of node i is just the number of links incident with the node: $k_i = \sum_j A_{ij}$. In case of directed graphs one can define the out- and in- degree separately, for outgoing and incoming links. For a simple undirected graph, the node degree is equal to the number of nearest neighbors of the given node, that is nodes linked to it by an edge. The average degree \bar{k} of a graph is the average number of links per one node, that is $\bar{k} = 2L/N$, because each link is counted twice in the sum $\sum_i k_i = 2L$. We shall use the notation \bar{k} when N, L are fixed, as for instance for the given network, or $\langle k \rangle$ when N or L may fluctuate, as for instance for networks in the given statistical ensemble.

A graph is said to be dense if the average degree is of order O(N) for $N \to \infty$ or to be sparse if \bar{k} approaches a constant in this limit. A special example of a dense graph is a complete graph for which every pair of nodes is connected by an edge, and thus L = N(N-1)/2 and $\bar{k} = N-1$, and of a sparse graph is an empty graph with L = 0 and $\bar{k} = 0$. There are more special graphs having their own names, some of which will be mentioned in the next chapters.

A subgraph is a graph defined on a subset of nodes which are connected by links preserving the incidence relation of the whole graph. The simplest subgraphs are a line (a single edge joining two nodes) or a triangle: three nodes joined together by three links, see Fig. 1.1. Small subgraphs are called motifs in the language of complex networks and will be discussed later.

A path joining nodes i_1 and i_n is a set of all nodes i_1, \ldots, i_n , where all intermediate nodes are distinct and every pair i_k, i_{k+1} is connected by a link. In other words, it is a walk which starts from i_1 , ends



Figure 1.2: A tree graph with N = 8 nodes and L = 7 edges. Note that for any tree L = N - 1.

in i_n and goes along links through the network, visiting each node no more than once. The length of a path is just its number of links. A shortest path (there may be more than one) between a pair of nodes is called geodesic path, and the length of this path is called geodesic distance. The longest geodesic from all possible paths is called a diameter of graph. The average geodesic distance is sometimes also called diameter, but strictly speaking it is quite a distinct quantity. In this paper we shall however use the latter definition since it is often much simpler to calculate, and moreover for graphs representing complex networks these two quantities are strongly correlated. A graph is said to be connected if every two nodes can be connected by a path. Each subgraph built on all vertices which can be connected by a path is called connected component, of the graph. When the size of a component scales as O(N) it is called a giant component. The graph on the left-hand side of Fig. 1.1 has two components: one has six nodes and the other only one, namely the node 7.

A close path is called cycle. The simplest cycle is the triangle graph. A connected graph with no cycles is called tree (Fig. 1.2). Trees play an important role because on the one hand many models of complex networks can be exactly solved for trees and on the other hand some important classes of graphs locally look like trees.

1.3 Properties of real-world networks

All definitions presented in the previous section have been developed by mathematicians long before the science of complex networks received its name and became popular between scientists working in different disciplines. In this section we shall present some of new ideas which have emerged recently, mostly in the last decade, as a result of empirical studies of real-world networks. Some of them have been introduced not as well-defined mathematical concepts but rather as "operative" definitions which captured interesting properties of investigated networks.

Since the works of Milgram, Albert, Barabási, Watts, Strogatz, and many others, three concepts have occupied an important place in the science of complex networks. These are power-law (or more generally: heavy tailed) degree distributions, the concept of small-world and the clustering. We shall discuss them shortly and describe how they apply to some real-world networks. All quantities and definitions shall be given for undirected networks if it is not stated otherwise.

Degree distribution. Like we said, node's degree is the number of links connected to that node. Let us define now the probability $\Pi(k)$ that a randomly chosen node has exactly k links. $\Pi(k)$ is called the degree distribution and can be obtained for any given network by making a histogram of the degrees for all nodes. By definition, the degree distribution is normalized: $\sum_k \Pi(k) = 1$ and its mean $\sum_k k \Pi(k)$ equals to the average degree \bar{k} . Investigations of real networks have led to a surprising result that many of them have a power-law tail in the degree distribution:

$$\Pi(k) \sim k^{-\gamma},\tag{1.1}$$

for intermediate values of $1 \ll k \ll N$ where N is the number of nodes in the network¹. The value of γ is typically between 2 and 4. This differs crucially from what one can imagine either for purely random networks, or for regular grids like square or cubic lattices. In the case of regular lattices, all degrees are the same, so $\Pi(k) = \delta_{k,\bar{k}}$, while for random graphs one can argue that since edges are placed randomly, the distribution $\Pi(k)$ should be close to a Poissonian one centered around \bar{k} . The network with a power-law degree distribution is called scale-free network (S-F), to emphasize the fact that there is no typical scale in the power-law describing the tail of the node degree distribution. Many models have been proposed to explain this feature, some of them will be presented later.

Another quantity related to degrees is a two-point function $\epsilon(k,q)$ giving the probability that a randomly chosen edge joins two nodes of degrees k and q. The values $\epsilon(k,q)$ form a symmetric matrix:

¹For k of order N there is always some correction, see the next chapter.



Figure 1.3: The assortativity \mathcal{A} of the network and the average degree of nearest neighbors $\bar{k}_{nn}(k)$. For an uncorrelated network, the assortativity is zero and $\bar{k}_{nn}(k)$ is a horizontal line. For correlated networks, two scenarios are possible: either $\mathcal{A} < 0$ if the network is disassortative, or $\mathcal{A} > 0$ if it is assortative.

 $\epsilon(k,q) = \epsilon(q,k)$. The function has the following properties:

$$\sum_{k \le q} \epsilon(k, q) = 1, \tag{1.2}$$

$$\sum_{q} \epsilon(k,q) = \sum_{q} \epsilon(q,k) = k \Pi(k) / \bar{k}.$$
(1.3)

The last equality becomes obvious when one realizes that the sum over q gives the probability that a randomly chosen edge incidents on a vertex with degree k. But the fraction of such edges is just $k\Pi(k)$ and the division over \bar{k} gives the correct probabilistic interpretation. If there were no correlations, the probability $\epsilon(k, q)$ would factorize:

$$\epsilon_{\rm r}(k,q) = \frac{k\Pi(k)\,q\Pi(q)}{\bar{k}^2},\tag{1.4}$$

but for almost all networks $\epsilon(k,q) \neq \epsilon_r(k,q)$. The two-point function is, however, not convenient for examining degree-degree correlations, therefore another alternative quantities based on $\epsilon(k,q)$ have been introduced, as for instance an average degree $\bar{k}_{nn}(k)$ of nearest neighbors of a node with degree k. It can be expressed through the two-point correlations as follows:

$$\bar{k}_{\rm nn}(k) = \frac{\bar{k}}{k\Pi(k)} \sum_{q} q \,\epsilon(k,q). \tag{1.5}$$

In Fig. 1.3 we sketch three possible behaviors of the correlations in the network, studied by means of $\bar{k}_{nn}(k)$. When this quantity grows with k, it means that the higher is degree of a node, the higher is average degree of its neighbors. In order to describe this behavior one uses the term "assortativity" which is borrowed from social sciences. If $\bar{k}_{nn}(k)$ decreases with k, the network is said to be disassortative. One can easily show that in case of uncorrelated degrees (1.4), the average degree of nearest neighbors is constant (horizontal line in Fig. 1.3). One can go further and reduce assortativity to a single coefficient [6]:

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{\mathrm{Tr}\epsilon - \mathrm{Tr}\epsilon_{\mathrm{r}}}{1 - \mathrm{Tr}\epsilon_{\mathrm{r}}}.$$
(1.6)

This quantity is equal 1 for a totally assortative network: $\epsilon(k,k) > 0$, $\epsilon(k,q) = 0$ for $k \neq q$, and is negative for disassortative networks. In the paper [7] a slightly different quantity, namely the Pearson correlation coefficient, was measured for real networks. It was found that artificial networks like the WWW or the Internet are mostly disassortative, while the citation network or other networks describing relations between human beings are rather assortative.

Small-worlds. The most popular manifestation of the small-world effect is the "Six degrees of separation" being also the title of S. Milgram's book. He found that a typical distance in the network of acquaintance among people in the USA is about six. In the language of graph theory, this means that the average path length is six. If relationships between people formed a regular, two-dimensional grid, then for $N = 3 \times 10^8$ people the average distance $\langle l \rangle$ would be of order 10^4 . The experiment made by Milgram showed that $\langle l \rangle$ grows rather as $\sim \ln N$. More generally, one speaks about a small-world network when the typical distance or the diameter grows like logarithm of the system size. It is different from the case of a regular lattice in d dimensions where

$$\langle l \rangle \sim N^{1/d},\tag{1.7}$$

but it agrees well with simple models of random graphs. Indeed, one can estimate the number of nodes of a random graph at distance l to some particular node as \bar{k}^l . This has to be equal to N for l being the diameter and hence $\langle l \rangle \sim \ln N$. If one defines a fractal dimension of the network as d from Eq. (1.7), one gets $d = \infty$ for a small-world. We will see later that random graphs of a special type, namely homogeneous random trees (Section 2.3) do not need to be small-worlds, thus randomness *per se* is not a sufficient condition to trigger the effect.

Clustering. This is a common property of many social networks which describes the tendency to form cliques of acquaintances. It is a rule that friends of our friends are often also our friends. In the language of graphs this means that there are many triangles in the network. Two measures of clustering are most popular. The first one is a global measure or a clustering coefficient C:

$$C = \frac{3 \times \text{number of triangles}}{\text{number of connected triples}},$$
(1.8)

where a connected triple is a subgraph consisting of three nodes with at least two links between them. For a complete graph, all nodes are connected and thus C = 1 which agrees with the intuition that the complete graph forms a big interconnected clique. For trees, C = 0 because of the absence of any cycles (and hence also triangles) which is also intuitively comprehensible. For any other networks, C lies somewhere between 0 and 1. Another definition of the clustering coefficient is based on local properties of nodes. Let *i* be a node with degree k_i and c_i be the number of edges existing between the neighbors of *i*, or in other words, the number of triangles having one vertex at *i*. Then we define a local clustering coefficient:

$$C_i = \frac{c_i}{k_i(k_i - 1)/2},$$
(1.9)

which is one if all neighbors of the node *i* are connected. The clustering coefficient for the whole network is the average of all C_i 's. Both definitions of *C* are qualitatively consistent and give roughly the same values for real networks, being rather high (typically C > 0.1) in comparison to random graphs of the same size where $C \sim 1/N$ (see Section 2.1.1).

After this introduction to the most interested observables on complex networks, let us shortly discuss some examples of real-world networks. Let us begin with the World Wide Web (WWW), which represents the largest network for which information about topology is currently available. The nodes are web pages and the edges are hyperlinks pointing from one page to another. This kind of structure can be represented by a directed graph. It is, however, possible to consider undirected networks where nodes are self-contained collections of web pages and the undirected link is formed if there is any hyperlink between pages belonging to different sites. The Web was probably the first network, for which the power-law degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ was discovered by Albert and Barabási, and Kumar et. al. [8, 9]. The total number of nodes in the WWW is of order several billions², but until now it was impossible to search the whole network. For a subset of about N = 300,000 nodes the exponents γ_{in} and γ_{out} in power laws for inand out-degree distribution were estimated to be 2.1 and 2.45, respectively. Later these estimations have been corrected to 2.1 and 2.72, where both distributions were collected on a network with 200 millions of documents [10]. The power law is observed in a range of k covering five orders of magnitude. The network considered in [10] had the average degree $\bar{k} = 7.5$, and the average path length around 16, which agrees with the conception of small worlds since $\ln N \approx 19$. The clustering coefficient has been found for another subset of the WWW [11], with 1-degree nodes excluded and the size $N \approx 150,000$, to be about 0.11, being much larger than for randomized graph of the same size.

In contrast to the WWW, the Internet is a physical network of computers (nodes) and wire- or wireless connections (edges). For the Internet treated as undirected network, the power law in the degree distribution has been found to hold over three orders of magnitude with γ being in the range 2.1 - 2.5 [12, 13]. Also the high clustering and small-world behavior have been confirmed, indicating a similarity of the Internet to the WWW.

There is also a large class of so called social networks. These are networks describing relationships between humans, either based on physical interpersonal contacts (movie or science collaboration networks, human sexual contacts) or non-physical like the citation network being in fact the graph of citation patterns of scientific publications (for a review see e.g. [1, 4]). These networks share also some common features. All of them are scale-free with the exponent γ varying between 2.1 for some scientific collaborations to 3.5 for the web of sexual contacts. Also the clustering is much larger than for an analogous random graph. The very interesting case happens for the citation network of papers published in Phys.

 $^{^{2}}$ In 2004 Google stated that they indexed over 4,000,000,000 web pages. It is, however, difficult to define, what is a single web page, therefore their number varies by two order of magnitude from definition to definition. Moreover, the WWW grows very quickly, making all precise estimations meaningless.

Rev. D [14], where γ seems to be very close to three, indicating that it can evolve due to the preferential attachment [15] described below in Section 2.2.1.

The last class of networks we want to mention are various biological networks. For instance, one can study the metabolism of a living cell and construct a graph with nodes being chemical reagents and links denoting possible chemical reactions. Again, for a network like that [16] the usual behavior has been found: the power-law degree distribution, high clustering and small diameter. Another type of networks, showing possible bindings between proteins [17], exhibits the power-law behavior with $\gamma = 2.4$ but with an exponential cutoff above $k \approx 20$.

There are many other examples of networks: ecological, neural or linguistic ones or a network of call phones etc., which have not been cited here. We decided to skip them because the examples presented above are already a good sample of what one can find in real networks. The inquiring reader is referred to the review articles given in the first section of this chapter.

1.4 The aims and the scope of the thesis

Although many models have been proposed to capture various properties of complex networks, there is a relatively small number of papers which aim on formulating a sort of general theory of complex networks from physicist's point of view. In such a theory one is interested in having a general framework for modeling, calculating, computing or estimating quantities of interest and explaining the existing facts rather than in formulating general theorems or finding formal proofs of statements with idealized assumptions. Of course these two directions should be developed in parallel, since they are complementary. Here we shall concentrate on the former one, that is on practical aspects and on a physical theory of complex networks. The latter direction is covered by the mathematical literature on random graphs.

Therefore, the aim of this thesis is to present a theory of complex networks based on statistical mechanics, where the central role is played by the concept of statistical ensemble of graphs. This approach to complex networks has been continuously developed over the past ten years by many people, including D. ben-Avraham, M. Bauer, J. Berg, D. Bernard, P. Bialas, G. Bianconi, P. Blanchard, M. Boguñá, Z. Burda, G. Caldarelli, J. D. Correia, I. Derényi, S. N. Dorogovtsev, I. Farkas, A. Frączak, K.-I. Goh, A. V. Goltsev, S. Havlin, J. A. Hołyst, B. Kahng, D. Kim, P. Krapivsky, T. Krüger, A. Krzywicki, M. Lässig, D.-S. Lee, J. F. F. Mendes, M. E. J. Newman, G. Palla, J. Park, R. Pastor-Satorras, A. M. Povolotsky, S. Redner, A. N. Samukhin, T. Vicsek, and many others. In the thesis we discuss ideas and methods developed in this approach as well as a variety of results obtained within this framework. In this general context we present the original contribution of the author. It is partially based on yet unpublished work. The remaining part of the thesis is divided into three chapters, subdivided into sections. Each chapter and each section begin with a short introduction and a summary of most important results derived there.

Chapter 2 is devoted to a general presentation of statistical mechanics of networks. First, the most important models are described and then they are formulated in terms of statistical physics. The approach via statistical ensemble of random graphs is developed and it is shown how to design a very general Monte Carlo algorithm, suitable for generating various networks on a computer. Also the rate equation approach is presented since it is well suited for growing networks, being the vast part of proposed models. The chapter is ended with a section on the comparison between growing networks and networks obtained by a process of "thermalization" (or "homogenization") by rewiring links.

Chapter 3 deals with applications of these ideas to complex networks. First we discuss finite-size corrections to power-law degree distributions. Such corrections are always present for finite networks and may significantly affect actual properties of the network. We develop an analytical method to evaluate the corrections and present results of this evaluation for some S-F networks. We compare the analytic results with numerical simulations. In the subsequent section of this chapter we discuss dynamics taking place on networks. We consider a special model called zero-range process. The application of the zero-range process to the description of many important phenomena like mass transport or condensation in homogeneous systems has been widely discussed in the literature. We concentrate here on the behavior of the zero-range process on complex networks, where inhomogeneity in nodes degrees plays an important role. After a preliminary discussion of the model we present our findings concerning static and dynamical properties of the process on inhomogeneous networks.

Chapter 4 contains conclusions and outlook.

Chapter 2

Statistical mechanics of networks

For a long time networks were studied by mathematicians as a part of graph theory. In recent years it has been discovered that many concepts and methods of statistical physics can be successfully applied to description of complex networks, and many papers have been dedicated to the problem of formulating principles of statistical mechanics of networks (see e.g. [1, 18, 19, 20, 21]). In this chapter we shall present some of these ideas. Although all of them originate from the same statistical physics, the nature of complex networks leads to distinguishing two classes of methods: those for networks being in a sort of equilibrium to which the concept of statistical ensembles naturally applies, and those for non-equilibrium networks which are most naturally formulated within the rate-equation approach. We shall refer to the two classes of networks as to **equilibrated** and **growing (causal)** networks, respectively. While the second term is commonly accepted in this context, networks belonging to the first class are sometimes called homogeneous networks [22] or maximal entropy random networks [23]. Here we shall use the term "equilibrated" since it resembles the way how these networks are generated¹.

We have split this chapter into three sections. In the first section we discuss equilibrated networks. We first present the most famous examples of networks of that type. Then we show how to formulate a consistent theory of statistical ensembles of these networks starting from the simplest construction of Erdös-Rényi random graphs. We show that ascribing non-trivial statistical weights to graphs from this set we can produce networks with any desired features, as for instance networks having the power-law degree distribution, high clustering, degree-degree correlations etc. We present also a dynamical Monte Carlo algorithm, based on a construction of Markov chains, which allows one to generate equilibrated graphs.

At the beginning of the second section we show some famous examples of growing networks. These networks are generated by a growth process in which new nodes are attached to the existing network, so by the construction nodes are causally ordered in time. Therefore the words "growing" and "causal" are used to name these networks. Their growing character explains why the rate equation approach is so successful in this field. We will see, however, that causal networks can also be described within the formulation via statistical ensembles which in some cases is even more convenient.

In the third section we present differences and similarities between equilibrated and growing complex networks. The causality manifests itself as a very strong constraint that selects a subset of networks from the corresponding set of equilibrated graphs. In effect, "typical" networks in this subset usually have quite different properties than "typical" networks in the whole ensemble, even if networks in the two ensembles have identical statistical weights.

The ideas presented in this chapter have been introduced earlier by many people. They are scattered in many papers and used in different contexts. Here we want to collect them and comment on their applicability to some problems in the theory of complex networks. This shall form a basis for the considerations presented in the next chapter, where some applications will be discussed.

2.1 Equilibrated networks

As mentioned, we shall use the term "equilibrated networks" to refer to networks which are closely related to maximally random graphs. Although they can be constructed by many different methods, their common feature is that nodes, even if labeled, cannot be distinguished by any other attribute. For

¹In our earlier papers we often called these networks "homogeneous". In this thesis we shall reserve this word for networks with all nodes having the same degree, like k-regular graphs, with all degrees being equal to k. This is also the most popular meaning in the literature.

example, they may not be causally ordered. This means that if one generates a labeled network and repeats the process of generation many times, each node will have statistically the same properties as every other node, e.g. it will have on average the same number of neighbors, the same local clustering etc. We stress here the meaning of the phrase "statistically the same", which means that it does not make sense to speak about a single network, but rather about a set of networks, similarly as one speaks about the set of states in classical or quantum physics. In this way a statistical ensemble of graphs naturally arises as a tool for studying "typical" properties of networks. As we shall see later, equilibrated networks belonging to the given ensemble are in a sort of thermodynamical equilibrium, however it is not an equilibrium in the sense of classical thermodynamics, where the statistical weight of a state is given by the Gibbs measure: $\sim \exp(-\beta E)$, with E being the energy of the state. In the case of complex networks it is convenient to abandon the concept of energy and Gibbs measure and consider a more general form of statistical weights. Therefore such a concept like temperature is often meaningless, although there were some attempts to define this quantity for networks [24].

Before we define a statistical ensemble of equilibrated networks, we shall present some examples of networks belonging to this class. They were introduced over the past 50 years. One of them, known as Erdös-Rényi model (ER model), is a pure mathematical construction. Much is known and can be proved rigorously for that model. In this respect, the ER model is exceptional since other models invented to mimic some features of real networks have not been studied so thoroughly and many results are not so rigorous. After a short presentation of the ER model we shall show how to change statistical properties of typical graphs by introducing an additional weight to every graph in the ER ensemble. The resulting ensemble of equilibrated graphs can be flexibly modeled by choosing appropriate weights. For instance, we shall see how to obtain a power-law degree distribution, or how to introduce degree-degree correlations. Towards the end of the section we shall present a quite general Monte Carlo algorithm for generating such equilibrated weighted graphs.

2.1.1 Examples of equilibrated networks

As a first example of a network model belonging to the class of equilibrated networks we shall describe the **Erdös-Rényi model**. In their classical papers [25] in 1950s Erdös and Rényi proposed to study a graph obtained from linking N nodes by L edges, chosen uniformly from all $\binom{N}{2} = N(N-1)/2$ possibilities. In this thesis we shall often refer to it as a maximally random graph since it is totally random, that is edges are dropped on pairs of nodes regardless of how many links the nodes have already got. The only constraint is that one cannot connect any pair of nodes by more than one link, so the ER graph is a simple graph. The graph can be constructed in an alternative way by random rewirings. This will be discussed later in section 2.1.5 which is devoted to computer simulations. Beside the ER model there is also a very similar construction called the **binomial model**. Here one starts with N empty nodes and joins every pair of nodes with probability p. The name of the model becomes obvious when one realizes that the distribution P(L) of the number of links L is given by the formula:

$$P(L) = \binom{N(N-1)/2}{L} p^L (1-p)^{N(N-1)/2-L}.$$
(2.1)

In this model, also introduced by Erdös and Rényi, the number of nodes is not fixed, but fluctuates around $\langle L \rangle = pN(N-1)/2$. This means that also the average degree \bar{k} is a random variable with the mean $\langle k \rangle \cong pN$. However, because real-world networks have fixed average degree while their size can be very large, in order to compare binomial-graphs to real-world networks one usually scales $p \propto 1/N$. Under this scaling the corresponding graphs have fixed \bar{k} and thus are sparse. If one calculates the variance of P(L) keeping the average degree constant in the limit of $N \to \infty$, one finds that the variance grows only as $\sim N$ and that the distribution P(L) becomes Gaussian with the relative width $\sim 1/\sqrt{N}$ falling to zero. Thus almost all binomial graphs have the same number of links $\langle L \rangle$ in the thermodynamical limit and therefore the ER and binomial graphs become equivalent to each other for large N. Later on we shall see that the ER model defines a canonical ensemble of graphs while the binomial model - a grand-canonical ensemble, with respect to the number of edges. In Fig. 2.1 we show some examples of binomial graphs for different p.

Like we have already mentioned, we are interested in properties of the model in the thermodynamical limit, that is for very large graphs. The great discovery of Erdös and Rényi was that many motifs, like trees of a given size, cycles or the giant component, appear for typical graphs suddenly when p crosses a certain threshold value p_c . The thresholds are different for different motifs. For p just below p_c there are almost no motifs of a given type, while for p just above p_c the motifs can be found with probability one. This is similar to the percolation transition on a lattice. For random graphs, however, p_c depends usually on the system size, N, and must be properly scaled to get fixed values of critical parameters in the thermodynamical limit. For example, if one scales p as $p = \bar{k}/N$, the desired average degree \bar{k} plays the role of a control parameter. In the limit $N \to \infty$,

$$\langle k \rangle = \bar{k},\tag{2.2}$$

and the graph is sparse making it comparable to some real networks. One can ask what is the critical value of the control parameter \bar{k} , for some motifs to appear on the network. Erdős, Rényi and their followers were interested in a more general problem. If one assumes that p scales as $p \sim N^{-z}$ for large N with z being an arbitrary real number, what are critical values of z at which some properties appear in the thermodynamic limit? Below we present some important findings.

1) Subgraphs: for binomial graphs one can determine the threshold values of the exponent z when subgraphs of a given type appear. One can argue [26] that the average number of subgraphs having nnodes and l edges is equal to

$$\binom{N}{n}\frac{n!}{n_I}p^l \approx \frac{N^n p^l}{n_I} \sim N^{n-zl},\tag{2.3}$$

because n nodes can be chosen out of N in $\binom{N}{n}$ possible ways and they can be connected by l edges with probability p^l . In addition one has to take into account that if one permutes n nodes' labels one obtains $n!/n_I$ different graphs, where n_I is the number of isomorphic graphs. From the formula (2.3) one can infer the critical value of the exponent z for having at least O(1) subgraphs of the given type in the limit $N \to \infty$. For instance, the critical value of z for a tree of size n is $z_c = n/(n-1)$, since for trees l = n-1. This means that for $z \ge 2$ the only subgraphs present in the graph are empty nodes and separated edges. When z decreases from 2 to 1, trees of higher and higher size appear in the graph. Finally for $z \le 1$ trees of all sizes are present as well as cycles, because for cycles the critical z_c is also 1. However, the number of cycles of a given length is always constant for z = 1, regardless of the size N. Thus binomial and ER random graphs are locally tree-like if $p \sim 1/N$. Because the clustering coefficient C is proportional to the number of triangles (n = l = 3) and inversely proportional to the number of connected triples (n = 3, l = 2), one sees from Eq. (2.3) that $C \sim 1/N$ and that it vanishes for sparse networks in the thermodynamic limit. This is the first property of random graphs that disagrees with empirical results for real networks, for which, like we saw in Sec. 1.3, C is always much greater than zero.

2) Giant component. For the most interesting case of $p \sim 1/N$, there is a critical value of $\bar{k}_c = 1$, above which a finite fraction of all nodes forms a connected component, called giant component. For $\bar{k} = 1$ it has approximately $N^{2/3}$ nodes but it grows quickly with \bar{k} so that for \bar{k} of order 5 and large N, more than 99% nodes belong to the giant component. All other clusters are relatively small, and most of them are trees. Thus when \bar{k} passes the threshold $\bar{k}_c = 1$, the structure of graph changes from a collection of small clusters being trees of size $\sim \ln N$, to a single large cluster of size $\sim N$ containing loops (cycles), and the remaining components being small trees. This behavior is characteristic not only for ER or binomial graphs, but it is a general feature of random graphs with various degree distributions [1].

3) Degree distribution. For binomial graphs it is extremely simple to obtain the formula for degree distribution $\Pi(k)$, just by observing that a node of degree k has k neighbors chosen out of N-1 other nodes, and each of them is linked to the node with probability p:

$$\Pi(k) = \binom{N-1}{k} p^k (1-p)^{N-1-k},$$
(2.4)

which for large N becomes a Poissonian distribution:

$$\Pi(k) \cong e^{-\bar{k}} \frac{\bar{k}^k}{k!}.$$
(2.5)

The same function describes the node-degree distribution for ER graphs in the limit of $N \to \infty$. For large \bar{k} the degree distribution has a peak at $k \approx \bar{k}$. Its width grows as $\sqrt{\bar{k}}$, so random graphs with high average degree are almost homogeneous in the sense of nodes degrees which assume values very close to \bar{k} . This is a second feature that disagrees with real networks, where $\Pi(k)$ has often a heavy tail meaning that there are some nodes with high degrees far from the mean value, called "hubs".

4) Diameter. As we mentioned in Sec. 1.2 we will calculate the diameter defined as the average distance \bar{l} between pairs of nodes in the network rather than the maximal distance d. We expect that \bar{l} is roughly proportional to d. Certainly it is a good measure of the linear extension of the network. For



Figure 2.1: Binomial graphs for N = 10 and various p. For p = 0.1 the graph consists of separated trees. For p = 0.3 for which $\bar{k} = 2.7$ we are above the percolation threshold $\bar{k}_c = 1$ and the giant component emerges (fat lines in the middle picture). In the limit of $p \to 1$ the graph becomes dense.

both definitions it has been found that above the threshold $\bar{k}_c = 1$, when a giant component is formed, the diameter grows only logarithmically with the size of the graph:

$$\bar{l} \propto \frac{\ln N}{\ln \bar{k}}.$$
(2.6)

We know that this behavior is called a small-world effect, and is almost always present in real-world networks.

A next construction, which we briefly discuss, is the **Watts-Strogatz model** [27]. Its main feature is that it extrapolates between regular and random graphs. We start with N nodes located on a ring (see figure 2.2). Each node is connected to K of its nearest-neighbors, so all nodes have initially degree K. Then one rewires each edge with probability p to randomly chosen nodes, or leave it in place with probability 1-p. Self- and multiple-connections are excluded. By tuning p one can extrapolate between K-regular graph (p = 0) and the maximally random ER graph (p = 1). This model originally arose from considerations of social networks, where people have mainly friends from local neighborhood, but sometimes they know someone living away - these cases are represented by rewired long-range edges.

An important feature of this model is that the network can have a small diameter and large clustering coefficient at the same time. Let us consider first the limit p = 0. The network is regular and a ring-like. Therefore, the diameter $d_{\text{reg}} \sim N$ grows linearly with N. The clustering coefficient C_{reg} is constant and larger than zero when $N \to \infty$ because the nearest neighborhood of each node looks the same and there are always some triangles². On the other hand, for p = 1 we have the ER random graph for which $d_{\text{rand}} \sim \ln N$ and $C_{\text{rand}} \sim 1/N \to 0$. Watts and Strogatz found [27] that there is a broad range of p, where $d \approx d_{\text{rand}}$ and $C \approx C_{\text{reg}}$. This is the result of a rapid drop of the diameter d when p grows, while the clustering coefficient C changes very slow. The diameter decreases fast because even a small addition of short-cuts which takes place during the rewiring process, reduces significantly the average distance between any pair of nodes. These two properties, namely high clustering and small-world effect, agree with findings for many real networks. However, the degree distribution is similar to that of ER random graphs. There is no natural possibility to produce a power-law (or generally fat-tailed) degree distribution in this model.

Now we shall describe the **Molloy-Reed model** [28, 29, 30] or configuration model, which allows for construction of pseudographs as well as simple graphs. In the Molloy-Reed model, to build a graph with N nodes one generates a sequence of non-negative integers $\{k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_N\}$, almost always as independent identically distributed numbers from a desired distribution $\Pi(k)$ and interprets k_i 's as node degrees. The only requirement is that the sum $k_1 + k_2 + \cdots + k_N = 2L$ is even. In the first step, each integer k_i represents a hub consisting of node i and k_i outgoing "half-edges". In the second step these "half-edges" are paired randomly to form undirected links which now connect nodes (see figure 2.3). The number of links fluctuates around $N\langle k \rangle/2$ if no additional constraint is imposed. In general, this procedure leads to pseudographs since sometimes an edge can be created between already connected nodes. To restrict to simple graphs one has to stop the procedure every time when a multiple or self-connecting link is created, and to start it from the beginning. This can be very time-consuming, especially for degree distributions with heavy-tails, where it is unlikely to produce only a single link between nodes of high degree. Thus sometimes for practical purposes one does not discard the whole network but only the last move, and

²We consider only the case of K > 2 when the network is connected.



Figure 2.2: Example of the construction of Watts-Strogatz small-world network. Starting from N = 10 nodes, each with degree 4, one rewires some edges with probability p. As p increases, the graph becomes more random.



Figure 2.3: Example of the Molloy-Reed construction of pseudographs. We start from N = 5 empty nodes with k_i "half-edges" (left-hand side) connected to node *i*. The numbers k_i are taken independently from some distribution $\Pi(k)$. On the right-hand side we show two possible configurations obtained by pairing half-edges.

chooses another pair of half-edges. This introduces correlations to the network and an uncontrolled bias to the sampling. In other words, graphs are not sampled uniformly [31].

Using this model Molloy and Reed have shown that for networks with uncorrelated degrees the giant component emerges when the following condition is fulfilled:

$$\sum_{k} k(k-2)\Pi(k) > 0.$$
(2.7)

For $\Pi(k)$ being Poissonian one gets the well-known result for ER graphs: $\bar{k}_c = 1$. The most important property of the model is that it allows for power-law degree distribution. Indeed, up to finite-size effects, the distribution $\Pi(k)$ is reproduced correctly. The average path length \bar{l} has also been calculated [3]; it grows as $\ln N$ with the system size, so again one has a small-world behavior. The clustering coefficient is proportional to \bar{k}/N so it vanishes as for random graphs, but the proportionality coefficient depends on $\Pi(k)$ and may be quite large for heavy-tailed distributions.

Finally, we shall mention the **Maslov-Sneppen algorithm** [32] used for obtaining a randomized version of any network. The original motivation was to examine whether the appearance of degreedegree correlations and other non-trivial properties observed in some biological networks could be entirely attributed to the power-law degree distribution. The basic step in this algorithm involves rewiring of two edges. One selects two edges: $i \rightarrow j$ and $k \rightarrow l$, and then one rewires their endpoints to get $i \rightarrow l$ and $k \rightarrow j$. If this move leads to multiple- or self-connections, one rejects it and tries with another pair of edges. To obtain a randomized ("thermalized") version of the given network, one repeats this move many times. The algorithm preserves degrees of all nodes, so at the end of randomization the degree distribution is the same as for the original network. However, thermalization breaks any correlations between nodes which might be present at the beginning. In a sense, one obtains a new network being maximally random for the given sequence of degrees $\{k_1, \ldots, k_N\}$. In next sections we will see that this algorithm is also very helpful for generating graphs in a micro-canonical ensemble.

The four models presented above clearly belong to the class of equilibrated networks because every node on the network has statistically the same properties. Nodes have no individual attributes which would be correlated with nodes' labels, as one can see if one repeats the process of generation of networks many times. In the next subsection we shall explain in a more detailed way what it means and how to define an ensemble of equilibrated graphs. We shall see that graphs from the ensemble can be generated in a process of thermalization which homogenizes the network.

2.1.2 Canonical ensemble for ER random graphs

The basic concept in the statistical formulation is that of statistical ensemble. The statistical ensemble of networks is defined by ascribing a statistical weight to every graph in the given set. Physical quantities are measured as weighted averages over all graphs in the ensemble. The probability of occurrence of a graph during random sampling is proportional to its statistical weight, thus the choice of statistical weights affects the probability of occurrence and, in effect, also "typical" properties of random graphs in this ensemble. For convenience, the statistical weight can be split into two components: a fundamental weight and a functional weight. If the functional weight is independent of the graph, graphs are maximally random. The fundamental weight tells one how to probe the set of "pure" graphs uniformly, so that each graph in the ensemble is equiprobable. In other words, the fundamental weight defines an uniform measure on the given set of graphs and should be fixed. The functional weight is the parameter of the model.

What is the most natural candidate for the fundamental weight for graphs? Consider simple graphs with a fixed number of nodes. We can choose the uniform measure by saying that in this case all unlabeled graphs are equiprobable, or alternatively that all labeled graphs are equiprobable. These two definitions give two different probability measures since the number of ways in which one can label graph's nodes depends on graph's topology. It turns out that the latter definition is in many respects better and we will stick to it. For instance, with this definition ER graphs have a uniform measure and thus are maximally random. There are also some practical reasons. First, in the real world as well as in computer simulations node are labeled³. Second, it is not easy to determine whether two unlabeled graphs are identical or not. The problem of graph isomorphism has certainly NP-complexity but it is unknown if it is NP-complete [33].

For pseudographs, the fundamental weight is most naturally defined by saying that fully labeled graphs, that is having nodes and edges' endpoints labeled, are equiprobable in the maximally random case. One can show that for this choice each unlabeled graph has the weight equal to the symmetry factor of Feynman diagrams generated in the Gaussian perturbation field theory [20, 34].

Let us concentrate on simple graphs. Consider again an ensemble of Erdös-Rényi's graphs with N labeled nodes and an arbitrary number L of (unlabeled) links. Since each ER graph from this ensemble can be in a one-to-one way represented as a symmetric $N \times N$ adjacency matrix we see that the uniform measure in this ensemble is alternatively defined by saying that all such matrices are equiprobable. What about unlabeled graphs? Are they equiprobable in this ensemble? An unlabeled graph is obtained from a labeled one by removing labels. We immediately see that each unlabeled graph can be obtained from many different labeled graphs. Let us consider the unlabeled one shown on the left-hand side in the upper part of Fig. 2.4. Since there are three nodes one can naively think that there are 3! labeled graphs corresponding to this shape as shown on the left-hand side of the figure. Actually, it turns out that there are only three distinct ones in the sense of having distinct adjacency matrix. Graphs A, C, E are distinct, but B is identical to A, D to C, and F to E:

$$\mathbf{A}_{\mathrm{A}} = \mathbf{A}_{\mathrm{B}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{A}_{\mathrm{C}} = \mathbf{A}_{\mathrm{D}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{A}_{\mathrm{E}} = \mathbf{A}_{\mathrm{F}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(2.8)

In other words there are three labeled graphs having this shape. On the other hand, if one takes the shape in the lower line of Fig. 2.4 one can see that there is only one labeled graph corresponding to it, since all others have the same adjacency matrix. In view of this we see that the probability of occurrence of the upper shape is three times larger than of the lower one since the upper is realized by three adjacency matrices while the lower has only one realization.

Let us consider now an ensemble of Erdös-Rényi graphs with N = 4, L = 3. The set consists of only three distinct unlabeled graphs A, B, C shown in Fig. 2.5. Each graph has a few possible realizations as a labeled graph. One can label four vertices of A in 4! = 24 ways corresponding to permutations of nodes 1 - 2 - 3 - 4, but only $n_A = 12$ of them give distinct labeled graphs. It is so because every permutation has its symmetric counterpart which gives exactly the same labeled graph, e.g. 1 - 2 - 3 - 4and 4 - 3 - 2 - 1. Similarly, one can find that there are $n_B = 4$ labeled graphs for B and $n_C = 4$ for C. One can check that indeed by dropping three links at random on four nodes one gets these numbers of labeled ER shapes. Altogether, there are $n_A + n_B + n_C = 20$ labeled graphs in the given set. Because

³In real-world networks one can always distinguish nodes for example by names of Web pages, people, scientific papers etc. On a computer, nodes are obviously labeled by their representation in computer memory.



Figure 2.4: Top: the given unlabeled graph can be realized as three different labeled graphs. A is equivalent to B, C to D and E to F since they have the same adjacency matrix and hence are identical. Bottom: a triangle-shaped graph has only one realization as a labeled graph.



Figure 2.5: Three possible graphs for N = 4, L = 3, for each of them one of possible labellings is shown. The total number of different labellings of these graphs is: $n_A = 12, n_B = 4, n_C = 4$.

all labeled graphs are assumed to be equiprobable, the shapes A, B, C have the following probabilities of occurrence during the random sampling:

$$p_A = \frac{n_A}{n} = \frac{3}{5}, \quad p_B = \frac{n_B}{n} = \frac{1}{5}, \quad p_C = \frac{n_C}{n} = \frac{1}{5}.$$
 (2.9)

We see that (unlabeled) ER graphs are not equiprobable - the distribution is uniform only for labeled graphs. Let us denote the statistical weights for A, B, C by w_A, w_B, w_C . They are proportional to probabilities of configurations and hence $w_A : w_B : w_C = p_A : p_B : p_C$. There is a common proportionality constant in the weights, which we for convenience choose so that the weight of each labeled graph is 1/N!. For this choice we have $w_A = 1/2$, $w_B = 1/6$, $w_C = 1/6$. The larger is the symmetry of a graph topology, the smaller is the number of underlying labeled graphs and thus the smaller is the statistical weight. The choice 1/N! compensates the trivial factor of permutations of indices, and thus removes overcounting - however, for graphs with fixed number of nodes this particular choice does not influence on any physical properties.

We now apply the above ideas to define an ensemble of ER graphs with arbitrary N, L. The partition function Z(N, L) for the Erdös-Rényi ensemble can be written in the form:

$$Z(N,L) = \sum_{\alpha' \in lg(N,L)} \frac{1}{N!} = \sum_{\alpha \in g(N,L)} w(\alpha), \qquad (2.10)$$

where lg(N, L) is the set of all labeled graphs with given N, L and g(N, L) is the corresponding set of (unlabeled) graphs. The weight $w(\alpha) = n(\alpha)/N!$, where $n(\alpha)$ is the number of labeled versions of graph α . We are interested in physical quantities averaged over the ensemble. The word "physical" means here that the quantity depends only on graph's topology and not on how nodes' labels are assigned to it. It is a natural requirement. The average of a quantity O over the ensemble is defined as

$$\langle O \rangle \equiv \frac{1}{Z(N,L)} \sum_{\alpha' \in lg(N,L)} O(\alpha') \frac{1}{N!} = \frac{1}{Z(N,L)} \sum_{\alpha \in g(N,L)} w(\alpha) O(\alpha).$$
(2.11)

We shall refer to the ensemble with fixed N, L as to a **canonical ensemble**. The word "canonical" is used here to emphasize that the number of links L is conserved like the total number of particles in a container with ideal gas remaining in thermal balance with a source of heat. Although there is no temperature here, the analogy is close because, as we shall see later, these graphs can be indeed generated in a sort of thermalization process.

The partition function Z(N, L) can be calculated by summing over all adjacency matrices **A** which are symmetric, have zeros on the diagonal and L unities above the diagonal [22]. The result is:

$$Z(N,L) = \frac{1}{N!} \binom{\binom{N}{2}}{L}, \qquad (2.12)$$

which agrees with simple combinatorics: there are $\binom{\binom{N}{2}}{L}$ ways of choosing L links among all possible $\binom{N}{2}$ edges. In a similar manner, summing over adjacency matrices, one can calculate averages of various quantities. As an example let us consider the node degree distribution $\Pi(k)$:

$$\Pi(k) = \left\langle \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i} \delta_{k,k_i} \right\rangle, \qquad (2.13)$$

where one can use an integral representation of the discrete delta to get [22]

$$\Pi(k) = {\binom{N-1}{2}}{L-k} {\binom{N-1}{k}} / {\binom{N}{2}}{L}.$$
(2.14)

This is an exact result for ER random graphs. It reduces in the limit $\bar{k} = \text{const}, N \to \infty$ to the Poissonian distribution (2.5).

2.1.3 Grand-canonical and micro-canonical ensemble of random graphs

So far we have discussed the canonical ensemble of Erdös-Rényi graphs with N, L fixed. If we allow for fluctuations of the number of edges, we get the binomial model. The probability of obtaining a labeled graph with given L is $P(L) = p^L (1-p)^{\binom{N}{2}-L}$. Thus the partition function is

$$Z_0(N,\mu) = \sum_L \sum_{\alpha \in lg(N,L)} \frac{1}{N!} P(L(\alpha)) = (1-p)^{\binom{N}{2}} \sum_L \left(\frac{p}{1-p}\right)^L \sum_{\alpha \in lg(N,L)} \frac{1}{N!}.$$
 (2.15)

The factor $(1-p)^{\binom{N}{2}}$ is inessential for fixed N and can be skipped. The new partition function reads

$$Z(N,\mu) = \sum_{L} \exp(-\mu L) \ Z(N,L),$$
(2.16)

where $\frac{p}{1-p} \equiv \exp(-\mu)$ or equivalently $\mu = \ln \frac{1-p}{p}$. The weight of a labeled graph α is now $w(\alpha) = \exp(-\mu L(\alpha))/N!$, where μ is a constant which can be interpreted as a chemical potential for links in the **grand-canonical** ensemble (2.16). Notice that the function (2.16) can be regarded as the generating function for Z(N, L). One can calculate the average number of links or its variance as derivatives of the grand-canonical partition function with respect to μ :

$$\langle L \rangle = -\partial_{\mu} \ln Z(N,\mu), \qquad (2.17)$$

$$\langle L^2 \rangle - \langle L \rangle^2 = \partial^2_\mu \ln Z(N,\mu).$$
 (2.18)

Like for the canonical ensemble of ER graphs, the sum of states can be done exactly:

$$Z(N,\mu) = \sum_{L=0}^{\binom{N}{2}} e^{-\mu L} \frac{1}{N!} \binom{\binom{N}{2}}{L} = \frac{1}{N!} (1 + e^{-\mu})^{\binom{N}{2}}.$$
 (2.19)

It is easy to see that for fixed chemical potential μ the average number of links behaves as

$$\langle L \rangle = p \frac{N(N-1)}{2} = \frac{1}{1+e^{\mu}} \frac{N(N-1)}{2}.$$
 (2.20)

Thus for $N \to \infty$ the graphs become dense; \bar{k} increases to infinity. We know that this pathology can be cured by an appropriate scaling of the probability p: $p \sim 1/N$. Since $\mu = \ln \frac{1-p}{p}$, this corresponds to

 $\mu \sim \ln N$. In this case L is proportional to N. The corresponding graphs become sparse and the mean node degree is now finite. The situation in which μ scales as $\ln N$ is very different from the situation known from classical statistical physics, where such quantities like chemical potential μ are intensive and do not depend on system size N in the thermodynamic limit $N \to \infty$. Moreover, the entropy $S = \ln Z(N, L)$ is not extensive - one can show that

$$S = \frac{\bar{k} - 2}{2} N \ln N + \frac{2 + \bar{k} - \bar{k} \ln \bar{k}}{2} N + O(\ln N), \qquad (2.21)$$

so the system is not "normal" in the thermodynamical sense for $\bar{k} \neq 2$. Only when $\bar{k} = 2$, that is if N = L, the entropy becomes extensive. This means that each graph from this set can be partitioned so that we get two sets of graphs A and B, with $N_A + N_B = N$ nodes, and the partition function for A+B being just the product of the partition functions for A and B. In other words, almost every graph in A+B can be constructed by taking two graphs: one from A and the second one from B, and joining two of their nodes by a link. In classical statistical physics this means that interactions between A and B take place only on the boundary which can be neglected in the thermodynamical limit. In the context of ER graphs, the case N = L must therefore corresponds to the set of tree-like graphs - the number of loops must be small and they must be short (local).

As mentioned, the difference between canonical and grand-canonical ensembles gradually disappears in the large N limit. It is easy to see why. In a canonical ensemble of sparse graphs the average degree $\bar{k} = 2L/N$ is kept constant when $N \to \infty$ while in a grand-canonical it fluctuates around $\langle k \rangle = 2\langle L \rangle/N = \bar{k}$, if μ is properly chosen. However, the magnitude of fluctuations around the average disappears in the large N limit since

$$\langle L^2 \rangle - \langle L \rangle^2 = \binom{N}{2} \frac{e^{-\mu}}{(1+e^{-\mu})^2},$$
 (2.22)

and for $\mu \sim \ln N$ the relative width $\sqrt{\langle L^2 \rangle - \langle L \rangle^2} / \langle L \rangle \sim N^{-1/2} \to 0$, so effectively the system selects graphs with $\langle k \rangle = \bar{k}$.

Apart from the canonical and grand-canonical ensembles, one can define a **micro-canonical ensemble** of ER random graphs. By analogy with classical physics, we define it as a set of all equiprobable graphs with prescribed sequence of degrees $\{k_1, \ldots, k_N\}$ which plays the role of the microstate. Then the canonical ensemble is constructed by summing over all sequences obeying the conservation law $k_1 + \cdots + k_N = 2L$. It looks similar to the construction of Molloy and Reed, and indeed, it is its special case. We shall make use of the micro-canonical ensemble in Chapter 3 in the context of dynamics on graphs.

2.1.4 Weighted equilibrated graphs

In the previous section we described ensembles for which all labeled graphs had the same statistical weight. They were just ER or binomial random graphs and thus had well known properties. In section 2.1.1 we pointed out however, that most of these properties do not correspond to those observed for real world networks. But the framework of statistical ensembles is very general and flexible and it allows one to model a wide class of random graphs and complex networks with non-trivial properties. Consider the same set of graphs as in the Erdös-Rényi model but now to each graph in this set, in addition to its fundamental weight 1/N!, we ascribe a functional weight $W(\alpha)$ which may differ from graph to graph so that graphs are no longer uniformly distributed. By tuning the functional weight one can make that typical graphs in the ensemble will be scale-free or have more loops, etc. One has a freedom in choosing the functional weight. The only restriction on $W(\alpha)$ is that it should not depend on the labeling because graphs need to remain equilibrated. We stress that we still have the same set of graphs but now they may have distinct statistical weights.

The partition function for a weighted canonical ensemble can be written as

$$Z(N,L) = \sum_{\alpha' \in lg(N,L)} (1/N!) W(\alpha') = \sum_{\alpha \in g(N,L)} w(\alpha) W(\alpha), \qquad (2.23)$$

where as before $w(\alpha) = n(\alpha)/N!$ counts labeled graphs. For $W(\alpha) = 1$ we recover the ensemble of ER graphs. The simplest non-trivial choice of $W(\alpha)$ is a family of product weights:

$$W(\alpha) = \prod_{i=1}^{N} p(k_i),$$
 (2.24)

where p(k) is a semi-positive function depending on degree k_i of node *i*. This functional weight is local in the sense that it depends only on individual degrees which are a local property of the graph. It does not introduce explicitly correlations between nodes, so we will call random graphs generated in this ensemble **uncorrelated networks**. One should, however, remember that the total weight does not entirely factorize because the fundamental weight $w(\alpha) = n(\alpha)/N!$ written as a function of node degrees $w(k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_N)$ does not factorize since the number $n(\alpha)$ of labelings is not a product of any local property of the graph but is a global feature. There is also another factor which prevents the model from a full factorization and independence of node degrees, namely the constraint on the total number of links $2L = k_1 + k_2 + \cdots + k_N$ which for given L and N introduces correlations between k_i 's. For example, if one of k_i 's is large, say $\approx 2L$, then the remaining ones have to be small in order not to violate the constraint on the sum. The effect gradually disappears in the limit $L \to \infty$ for a wide class of weights p(k) since then the canonical ensemble and the grand-canonical ensemble, for which L does not need to be fixed, become equivalent [18].

The weight (2.24) is especially well-suited for studying ensembles with various degree distributions and no higher-order correlations. To see how p(k) is related to $\Pi(k)$, let us first discuss the analogous ensemble of weighted pseudographs. They can model networks where self-interactions of nodes are important, as for example ecological networks which describe predator-prey relations where cannibalism is often present. A pseudograph can be represented by a symmetric adjacency matrix **A** whose off diagonal entries A_{ij} count the number of links between nodes *i* and *j*, and the diagonal ones A_{ii} count twice the number of self-connecting links attached to node *i*. Each adjacency matrix represents a certain labeled graph, but now, due to possibility of multiple links, we label also edges and call such a graph a **fully labeled graph**. To each fully labeled graph we ascribe a configurational weight 1/N!(2L)!. The weight of each labeled graph (where only nodes are labeled) having adjacency matrix **A** is then

$$\frac{1}{N!} \left(\prod_{i} \frac{1}{2^{A_{ii}/2} (A_{ii}/2)!} \right) \prod_{i>j} \frac{1}{A_{ij}!} = \frac{1}{N!} \prod_{i} \frac{1}{A_{ii}!!} \prod_{i>j} \frac{1}{A_{ij}!}, \qquad (2.25)$$

where the origin of all symmetry factors is the same as in case of Feynman diagrams and stems from possible ways of labeling links (see e.g. [22]). The key points behind introducing pseudographs are: i) the set contains the subset of all simple graphs which we are interested in, and, ii) despite a complicated form of Eq. (2.25), the canonical partition function can be easily evaluated. Let us rewrite the formula (2.23) for Z(N, L) for pseudographs with functional weight (2.24):

$$\frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\vec{q}} \delta_{\sum_{i} q_{i}-2L} \prod_{i} p(q_{i}) \sum_{\substack{A_{ii}=\\0,2,4,\dots\\i=1\dots N}} \sum_{\substack{A_{ij}=\\0,1,2,\dots\\i=j}} \prod_{i} \frac{\delta_{\sum_{ki} A_{ki}-q_{i}}}{A_{ii}!!} \prod_{i>j} \frac{1}{A_{ij}!}.$$
(2.26)

Using the standard integral representation of the delta function we can rewrite all sums over A_{ij} as

$$\oint \prod_{i} \frac{\mathrm{d}z_{i}}{2\pi i} \sum_{A_{ii}=0,2,4,\dots} \frac{z_{i}^{-1-q_{i}+A_{ii}}}{A_{ii}!!} \sum_{A_{ij}=0,1,2,\dots,i>j} \prod_{i} z_{i}^{\sum_{k< i} A_{ik}+\sum_{k>i} A_{ki}} \prod_{i>j} \frac{1}{A_{ij}!}.$$
(2.27)

The sum over diagonal elements gives a product of factors $e^{z_i^2/2}$. The sum over A_{ij} is also easy to calculate and reads $\prod_{i>j} e^{z_i z_j}$. Putting the two results together we find the following factor: $e^{\sum_{i,j} z_i z_j/2}$. Therefore, the partition function is

$$Z(N,L) = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\vec{q}} \delta_{\sum_{i} q_{i}-2L} \oint \prod_{i} \frac{\mathrm{d}z_{i}}{2\pi i} p(q_{i}) z_{i}^{-1-q_{i}} e^{\frac{1}{2} (\sum_{i} z_{i})^{2}}.$$
(2.28)

The last, quadratic term can be expanded by means of the Hubbard-Stratonovich identity:

$$\exp\left(\frac{A^2}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int \mathrm{d}x \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2} - Ax\right). \tag{2.29}$$

a 7

The discrete delta giving conservation of links can be written as a contour integral, so we get

$$Z(N,L) = \frac{1}{N!} \oint \frac{dy}{2\pi i} y^{-1-2L} \int \frac{dx}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-x^2/2} \left[\oint \frac{dz}{2\pi i} \sum_{q} p(q) \left(\frac{y}{z}\right)^q \frac{e^{xz}}{z} \right]^N.$$
(2.30)

The integral over dz yields $(xy)^q/q!$. Changing variables: $y \to v = xy$ and changing the order of integration over dx and dv we immediately obtain

$$Z(N,L) = \frac{1}{N!} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-x^2/2} x^{2L} \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{2\pi i} \left[\sum_{q} p(q) \frac{v^q}{q!} \right]^N v^{-1-2L} = \frac{(2L-1)!!}{N!} \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{2\pi i} v^{-1-2L} F^N(v),$$
(2.31)

where we have defined the following generating function for weights p(q):

$$F(v) = \sum_{q} p(q) \frac{v^{q}}{q!}.$$
 (2.32)

Up to now, these results are strict. However, the integral over dv is often hard to calculate for finite N, L. Fortunately, the partition function (2.31) can be calculated in the thermodynamical limit. The saddle-point integration yields:

$$\ln Z(N,L) \approx N \ln F(v_0) - (2L+1) \ln v_0 + \ln \frac{(2L-1)!!}{N!} + \dots, \qquad (2.33)$$

with v_0 being a solution to the equation:

$$v_0 \frac{F'(v_0)}{F(v_0)} = \bar{k}.$$
(2.34)

We are now ready to calculate $\Pi(k)$. Since all nodes are equivalent in the equilibrated network with product weights (2.24), the degree distribution can be obtained by a simple differentiation of the partition function:

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{p(k)}{NZ(N,L)} \frac{\partial Z(N,L)}{\partial p(k)} = p(k) \frac{1}{N} \frac{\partial \ln Z(N,L)}{\partial p(k)},$$
(2.35)

and by applying Eq. (2.33) we finally arrive at

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{p(k)v_0^k}{k!F(v_0)}.$$
(2.36)

This result has been derived in the thermodynamical limit for the canonical ensemble of pseudographs. If we try to do the same for simple graphs, the calculation of the partition function is more complicated, because if we exclude multiple and self-connections, the weight of each labeled graph is identical, and the entries A_{ij} of the adjacency matrix assume now only two possible values 0 and 1. This leads to a change of the factor $e^{\frac{1}{2}(\sum_i z_i)^2}$ in Eq. (2.28) to

$$\prod_{i>j} (1+z_i z_j) = e^{\frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \neq j} \ln(1+z_i z_j)}.$$
(2.37)

The integrals over dz_i cannot be done in a straightforward way. One can, however, use the following expansion:

$$\sum_{i \neq j} \ln(1 + z_i z_j) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{n} \sum_i z_i^{2n} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^n}{n} \left(\sum_i z_i^n\right)^2,$$
(2.38)

and, in order to get the factorization of z_i 's, to apply the H-S identity (2.29) to each quadratic term in the second sum over n. This leads to the following, rather formal, integral:

$$Z(N,L) = \frac{1}{N!} \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{2\pi i} y^{-1-2L} \int \mathrm{d}x_1 \cdots \int \mathrm{d}x_\infty \left(\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \sqrt{\frac{-n(-1)^n}{2\pi}} e^{\frac{n(-1)^n}{2}x_n^2} \right) \\ \times \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z_1}{2\pi i} \cdots \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z_N}{2\pi i} \sum_{q_1,\dots,q_N} \left(\prod_i p(q_i) y^{q_i} z_i^{-1-q_i} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{\frac{(-1)^n}{2n} z_i^{2n} + x_n z_i^n} \right).$$
(2.39)

If we look at Eq. (2.38) as a perturbative expansion, the integral over dx_n gives a "product" correction of *n*th order to Z(N, L). Taking only first few terms in *n* we get an approximation of Z(N, L), but because

we know that Z(N, L) is finite, it is not necessary to take all of them. If we restrict ourselves only to the first order n = 1 we get

$$\frac{1}{N!} \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{2\pi i} y^{-1-2L} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int \mathrm{d}x_1 e^{-x_1^2/2} \left[\sum_q p(q) \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} \left(\frac{y}{z}\right)^q \frac{e^{-z^2/2+x_1z}}{z} \right]^N.$$
(2.40)

This is indeed a partition function for pseudographs but with single self-connections excluded. Multiple connections and double, triple, etc. self-connections are still present. Changing variables $y \to v = x_1 y$ and evaluating the integral over dz we have

$$\frac{1}{N!} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int \mathrm{d}x_1 e^{-x_1^2/2} x_1^{2L} \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{2\pi i} v^{-1-2L} \left[\sum_q p(q) v^q \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left(-\frac{1}{2x_1^2} \right)^m \frac{1}{m!(q-2m)!} \right]^N, \tag{2.41}$$

and because the integral over dx_1 is dominated by the region $x_1 \sim \sqrt{L} \propto \sqrt{N}$, only the first term in the sum over m contributes in the limit of $N \to \infty$. We end up with a partition function like in Eq. (2.31) for pseudographs. As a by-product we can also estimate the characteristic value of $z \approx (q+1)/x_1 \sim 1/\sqrt{N}$ in the integral over dz in Eq. (2.40). Let us consider now the product of integrals in Eq. (2.39) and try to estimate the characteristic values of x_1, \ldots, x_∞ and z_1, \ldots, z_N in order to convince ourselves that integrals over dx_2, dx_3, \ldots can be neglected in the thermodynamical limit. Assuming that in the limit $N \to \infty$ the integral is dominated by a single saddle point, we must find the maximum of the function:

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(\frac{n(-1)^n}{2} x_n^2 + \sum_i \frac{(-1)^n}{2n} z_i^{2n} + x_n z_i^n \right) - \sum_i (1+q_i) \ln z_i.$$
(2.42)

The differentiation with respect to z_i and x_n gives the following set of equations:

$$\forall n = 1, \dots, \infty: \quad (-1)^n n x_n + \sum_i z_i^n = 0,$$
(2.43)

$$\forall i = 1, \dots, N: \qquad \sum_{n} (-1)^n z_i^{2n} + n x_n z_i^n = q_i + 1.$$
 (2.44)

The integrals over dz_i as well as the sums over q_i factorize, thus we can skip indices *i* because characteristic values of all z_i 's and all q_i 's are equal. This allows for solving these equations. We have

$$|z| \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{N}},\tag{2.45}$$

$$|x_n| \sim \frac{N^{1-n/2}}{n}, \qquad (2.46)$$

so $x_1 \sim \sqrt{N}$ but x_n 's for higher *n* tend to zero in the thermodynamic limit. This means that the only significant contribution to Eq. (2.39) is from the integral over dx_1 . Therefore, Eq. (2.40) is a good approximation. We notice that in the limit $N \to \infty$ this equation is identical to Eq. (2.30) which we had before for pseudographs. Thus the degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ is again given by Eq. (2.36). Let us now discuss some consequences of that formula. First, for p(q) = 1 the generating function $F(v) = e^v$ and $\Pi(k)$ is Poissonian as it should be for equally weighted ER graphs. Second, to get any desired degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ one should take $p(q) = q! \Pi(q)$ and tune the average degree \bar{k} so that $v_0 = 1$:

$$\bar{k} = \bar{k}_c \equiv F'(1)/F(1).$$
 (2.47)

In other words, the number of links and nodes must be carefully balanced to obtain a desired distribution $\Pi(k)$: $2L/N = \bar{k} = \sum_k k \Pi(k)$ in the limit of large graphs. For instance, to get a power-law distribution one should take $p(q) \sim q!q^{-\gamma}$ and adjust N, L carefully. A very important example is the distribution for Barabási-Albert model [1]:

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{4}{k(k+1)(k+2)}$$
(2.48)

for k > 0 and $\Pi(0) = 0$, which will be discussed in next section. In order to obtain the ensemble with $\Pi(k)$ given by the above formula, one has to choose $p(k) = k! \frac{4}{k(k+1)(k+2)}$ for k = 1, 2, ..., and p(0) = 0. The mean of the distribution (2.48) is $\bar{k}_c = 2$ so we have to take N = L to adjust \bar{k} to this value. If L is too small, the degree distribution falls off exponentially for large degrees as one can see from Eq. (2.36), because then the saddle point $v_0 < 1$. When one exceeds the critical degree \bar{k}_c , the saddle-point approximation is no longer valid⁴ and the behavior depends on whether we consider simpleor pseudographs. For simple graphs, the degree distribution has no longer a power-law tail, but has a more complicated form. We must remember that for simple graphs Eq. (2.36) is only an approximation. A very interesting behavior is observed for pseudographs. It has been shown [35] that a surplus of links condenses on a single node, thus $\Pi(k)$ has the same power-law distribution as for the critical degree \bar{k}_c , but with an additional delta peak whose position moves linearly with the system size N. This is the same phenomenon as in the "Backgammon condensation" taking place in the balls-in-boxes model [36]. We shall devote one section of Chapter 3 to this problem, so now we will only mention that this is related to the divergence of the series (2.32) when 2L/N exceeds the threshold \bar{k}_c . In fact, we shall see in Chapter 3 that the partition function for the balls-in-boxes model is given by the same formula as Eq. (2.31) for pseudographs and therefore the model can be mapped onto the balls-in-boxes model.

There is also another problem which should be mentioned here. Equation (2.36) is valid only for infinite sparse graphs, that is for $N \to \infty$ and \bar{k} fixed. For finite N, the node degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ deviates from the limiting shape due to finite-size corrections, which are particularly strong for fat-tailed distributions $\Pi(k) \sim k^{-\gamma}$. As a result of structural constraints, the maximal node degree cannot be $\sim N$ but often it scales as some power of N smaller than one. Corrections to the scale-free degree distribution for finite networks will be extensively discussed in section 3.1.

Let us mention also a particularly important subset of weighted graphs, namely weighted trees [37]. Because of their special structure (no cycles), many results can be obtained analytically. For instance, for trees with product weights, similarly as for pseudographs one can calculate the expression for $\Pi(k)$:

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{p(k)v_0^{k-1}}{(k-1)!F(v_0)},\tag{2.49}$$

where the generating function F(v) is now given by

$$F(v) = \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} p(q) \frac{v^{q-1}}{(q-1)!}.$$
(2.50)

Therefore to get a power-law degree distribution one has to take $p(k) \sim (k-1)!k^{-\gamma}$. Similarly, one can calculate correlations [38]:

$$\epsilon(k,q) = \frac{\Pi(k)\Pi(q)(k+q-2)}{2},$$
(2.51)

and hence the assortativity coefficient from Eq. (1.6), which for trees with BA degree distribution reads

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{2(69 - 7\pi^2)}{21 - 2\pi^2} \approx -0.1384, \tag{2.52}$$

showing that this network is disassortative. Trees will be more throughly discussed in section 2.3 in the context of comparing the properties of equilibrated and causal networks.

At the end we shall mention that one can define more complicated weights than those given by Eq. (2.24). A natural candidate for a weight to generate degree-degree correlations on the network is the following choice [39, 40]:

$$W(\alpha) = \prod_{l=1}^{L} p(k_{a_l}, k_{b_l}),$$
(2.53)

where the product runs over all edges of graph, and the weight $p(k_a, k_b)$ is a symmetric function of degrees of nodes a, b at the endpoints of link. One can choose this function to favor assortative or disassortative behavior [39, 40, 41, 42, 43]. Similarly, one can tune the weights to mimic some other functional properties of real networks, like for example higher clustering [44, 45, 46, 47, 48].

2.1.5 Monte Carlo generator of equilibrated networks

Only for a few models of random graphs, closely related to ER graphs, one can calculate almost all quantities of interest analytically. This is not the general case for weighted networks like those presented in the previous section. In some cases it is useful to support the discussion with computer simulations. Various methods have been proposed for generating random graphs, but usually each of them works only

⁴See the discussion of the condensation in balls-in-boxes model in Sec. 3.2.2.

for one particular model or its variations. In this section we will describe a very general Monte Carlo method which allows one to study a wide class of random weighted graphs. The idea standing behind this method is to sample the configuration space with probabilities given by their statistical weights. Unfortunately, there is no general and efficient procedure that picks up an element from a large set with the given probability. The most naive algorithm in which one picks up an element uniformly and then accepts it with the probability proportional to its statistical weight has a very low acceptance rate when the size of the set is large. Because the number of graphs grows exponentially or faster⁵, one clearly sees that another idea must be applied. In this section we will discuss such an idea which is derived from a general framework of dynamical Monte Carlo techniques.

The idea is to use a random walk process, which explores the set of graphs, visiting different configurations with probability proportional to their statistical weights. Such a process is realized as a Markov chain (process) which has a unique stationary state with the probability distribution proportional to $W(\alpha)$. The Markov chain is defined by specifying transition probabilities $P(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$ to go in one elementary step from a configuration α to β . The elementary step is a kind of transformation which carries over the current graph into another one. A convenient way to store these probabilities is to introduce a matrix **P**, called a Markovian matrix, with entries $P_{\alpha\beta} \equiv P(\alpha \rightarrow \beta)$. For a stationary process, the transition matrix **P** is constant during the random walk. The process is initiated from a certain graph α_0 and then elementary steps are repeated producing a sequence (chain) of graphs $\alpha_0 \rightarrow \alpha_1 \rightarrow \alpha_2 \rightarrow \ldots$. The probability $p_{\beta}(t+1)$ that a graph β is generated in the (t+1)th step is given by:

$$p_{\beta}(t+1) = \sum_{\alpha} p_{\alpha}(t) P_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (2.54)$$

which can be rewritten as a matrix equation:

$$\mathbf{p}(t+1) = \mathbf{P}^{\tau} \mathbf{p}(t), \tag{2.55}$$

where \mathbf{P}^{τ} denotes the transpose of \mathbf{P} and \mathbf{p} is a vector of elements p_{α} . From general theory of Markovian matrices [49] we know that the stationary state, characterized by the equation: $\mathbf{p}(t+1) = \mathbf{p}(t)$, corresponds to the left eigenvector of \mathbf{P} to the eigenvalue $\lambda = 1$. If the process is ergodic, which means that any configuration can be reached by a sequence of elementary steps starting from any initial graph, and if the transition matrix fulfills detailed balance condition:

$$\forall \alpha, \beta : \quad W(\alpha) P_{\alpha\beta} = W(\beta) P_{\beta\alpha}, \tag{2.56}$$

then the stationary state approaches the desired distribution: $p_{\alpha}(t) \to W(\alpha)/Z$ for $t \to \infty$. In other words, in the limit of infinite Markov chain, the probability of occurrence of graphs becomes proportional to their statistical weights and is independent of the initial graph. However, one must be careful while generating relatively short chains. First of all, the probabilities can strongly depend on the initial state, and one has to wait some time before one starts measurements, to "thermalize" the system, i.e. to reach "typical" graphs in the ensemble. Second of all, consecutive graphs in the Markov chain may be correlated, especially when the elementary step is only a local update. Therefore one has to find a minimal number of steps for which one can treat measurements on such graphs as independent.

Among many possible choices for probabilities $P_{\alpha\beta}$, which lead to the same stationary distribution, we shall use here the well-known Metropolis algorithm [50], based on the following transition probability:

$$P_{\alpha\beta} = \min\left\{1, \frac{W(\beta)}{W(\alpha)}\right\}.$$
(2.57)

The algorithm works as follows. For the current configuration α one proposes to change it to a new configuration β which differs slightly from α and then one accepts it with the Metropolis probability (2.57). Repeating this many times one produces a chain of configurations. The proposed elementary modifications (steps) should not be too large because then one risks that the acceptance rate would be small. Therefore, all algorithms which we propose below attempt in a single step to introduce only a small change to the current graph, by rewiring only one or two links.

Let us try to apply these ideas to write a Monte Carlo algorithm for generating weighted graphs from the canonical ensemble. A good candidate for elementary transformation of a graph is rewiring of a link called "T-move" (see Fig. 2.6), because it does not change N and L, fixed in the canonical ensemble. We choose a link ij and a vertex n at random, and rewire one of the endpoints of the link, say j, to n, forming a new link in which replaces the old one ij. Sometimes it is easier to think about a rewiring of an oriented link $i \to j$ to $i \to n$, and simultaneously, $j \to i$ to $n \to i$. If the link in is already present, or if n = i we reject this move to prevent from forming a multiple- or self-connection. Then, each move

⁵For instance, for ER model it grows faster than exponentially which results in a non-extensive entropy of graphs, see Sec. 2.1.3; for introduction on counting graphs see also the reference [51].



Figure 2.6: The idea of "T-move": a random link (solid line) is rewired from vertex j to a random vertex n (left-hand side). Alternatively (right-hand side) a random, oriented link (dotted line) is rewired from vertex of its end j to a random vertex n. The opposite link $j \rightarrow i$ is simultaneously rewired.

is accepted with the Metropolis probability (2.57). In a special case of the ensemble of Erdös-Rényi graphs this probability is equal to one since every graph has the same weight. So ER graphs can be alternatively obtained by simple rewirings of any other graph - we call this process "thermalization". The thermalization (homogenization) can be used to generate any ensemble of equilibrated networks. In fact, one could define equilibrated networks as graphs, which can be produced in a procedure like this, if weights do not depend on nodes' labels. This process destroys any correlations which might be present due to causal growth of the initial network.

One can show [22] that, indeed, this algorithm produces labeled graphs with desired probabilities. We skip here the details. We would like, however, to point out two difficulties which can be encountered. First, it is not clear whether the ergodicity is not broken in the limit $N \to \infty$ for models where the number of configurations grows with N faster than exponentially. Second, for some classes of (unphysical) weight functions, a local algorithm may not be ergodic. Consider for example weight functions $W(\alpha)$ of the form (2.24), with p(k) being a function which is strictly positive on a support which has a gap in the middle – an interval $k \in (k_1, k_2)$, where p(k) = 0. In other words, there are no configurations in this ensemble which have a node with degree $k \in (k_1, k_2)$. A single rewiring can change degrees only by ± 1 , so it is not possible to change the value of k from $k < k_1$ to $k > k_2$ since it would have to go through the forbidden region (k_1, k_2) . In this case, in order to avoid the difficulty one would have to invent an algorithm which is able to significantly change k in a single move, to jump from one to another part of the support of the weight function p(k). We shall not, however, consider such unphysical weights p(k). For weights, which are physically important, the support of the weight function is connected. In this case the acceptance probability reads

$$P_a(\alpha \to \beta) = \min\left\{1, \frac{W(\beta)}{W(\alpha)}\right\} = \min\left\{1, \frac{p(k_j - 1)p(k_n + 1)}{p(k_j)p(k_n)}\right\} = \min\left\{1, \frac{w(k_n)}{w(k_j - 1)}\right\},$$
(2.58)

where we have introduced an auxiliary function:

$$w(k) = \frac{p(k+1)}{p(k)}.$$
(2.59)

The degrees k_j, k_n are taken from the current graph α . In the computer algorithm we prefer to use the weight function w(k) instead of p(k) to reduce computational cost and round-off errors. In fact, w(k) can be exactly calculated for many important p(k)'s, which we are interested in. For example, to get the BA degree distribution in simple graphs, according to Eq. (2.48), we have to choose $p(k) = k! \Pi_{BA}(k)$ and hence

$$w(k) = \frac{k(k+1)}{k+3},$$
(2.60)

while for trees, because of the factor (k-1)! in Eq. (2.49),

$$w(k) = \frac{k^2}{k+3}.$$
 (2.61)

The rewiring procedure described above does not change N and L. If we want to simulate weighted graphs from the grand-canonical ensemble, we have to choose another transformations which change the number of links L. Natural candidates for such transformations are two reciprocal transformations: adding and deleting a link. In order to add a link we have to choose two vertices to which the addition is attempted. To remove a link we pick up one link out of all L existing in the graph. These two transformations must be carefully balanced in order to get graphs with correct probabilities. If the



Figure 2.7: The idea of "X-move": two oriented links (dotted lines) ij and ln chosen in a random way are rewired, exchanging their endpoints. Then the opposite links (solid lines) are also rewired.

frequency of the two transformations is the same, then the acceptance probabilities for each of them are given by [22]

$$P_{\rm add}(\alpha \to \beta) = \min\left\{1, \exp(-\mu) \frac{N^2}{2(L_{\alpha}+1)} \frac{W(\beta)}{W(\alpha)}\right\},\tag{2.62}$$

and

$$P_{\rm del}(\beta \to \alpha) = \min\left\{1, \exp(+\mu) \,\frac{2L_{\beta}}{N^2} \,\frac{W(\alpha)}{W(\beta)}\right\},\tag{2.63}$$

respectively. Here μ is the chemical potential for links, defined in Eq. (2.16) and chosen to obtain a desired average number of links⁶ $\langle L \rangle$. As before, if we want to produce only simple graphs we must eliminate moves leading to self- or multiple connections. One could modify the algorithm in many ways. For example, one could, instead of picking up a link as a candidate for removing, pick up two nodes at random and if there is a link between them, remove it. Then the fractions $N^2/2(L+1)$ and $2L/N^2$ would disappear from equations (2.62) and (2.63). This would not change the probabilities of graph's occurrence, but it would affect the acceptance rate. For sparse networks such a modified algorithm is worse than the previous one because the chance that there is a link between two randomly chosen nodes is very small and for most of the time the algorithm would do nothing except looking for links that can be removed. On the other hand, the acceptance rate for the original algorithm is finite for $N \to \infty$ since then μ behaves as $\ln N$ and the factor $e^{\mu}2L/N^2$ is of order 1.

Let us consider now a version of this algorithm suitable for the product weights (2.24). The probability of acceptance of a new configuration by adding or removing a link between ij reads:

$$\min\left\{1, \frac{N^2}{2(L+1)}e^{-\mu}w(k_i)w(k_j)\right\} \quad \text{for addition a link,}\\\min\left\{1, \frac{2L}{N^2}e^{\mu}\frac{1}{w(k_i-1)w(k_j-1)}\right\} \quad \text{for deleting a link,}$$

where L and k_i, k_j refer to the current configuration and w(k) is given by Eq. (2.59).

Finally, let us say some words about the generation of graphs from the micro-canonical ensemble. Inspired by the Maslov-Sneppen algorithm preserving node degrees, as a local update we choose simultaneous rewirings shown in Fig. 2.7. We shall call this combination "X-move". At each step of this algorithm one picks up two random links: ij and ln, and rewires them to in and lj. In case of the Maslov-Sneppen algorithm [32], the functional weight is $W_{\alpha} = 1$ and hence all rewirings are accepted. In the general case, one can use this algorithm to generate graphs whose statistical weights depend for instance on the number of triangles, to get a high clustering coefficient, or to produce some higher-order correlations between nodes [52]. The motivation is similar to that given by Maslov and Sneppen, namely if one tries to determine relations between the abundance of structural motifs and the functionality of network, it is very important to construct randomized networks which could serve as a benchmark.

We described the algorithms presented here and their implementation in [53]. Because we often have to do with sparse graphs, it is not needed to keep the whole adjacency matrix in computer memory. The data structure that we developed allows us to encode and simulate networks of size of order 10^6 .

2.2 Causal (growing) complex networks

In the previous section we discussed equilibrated networks, which can be constructed in a sort of thermalization or homogenization process. Clearly for such graphs, if they are labeled, a permutation of nodes'

⁶For complicated weights, when analytical calculations of the correspondence $\langle L \rangle \leftrightarrow \mu$ is impossible, one can tune μ during the simulation to obtain desired number of links.

labels leads to the same set of graphs. In this section we shall discuss another kind of graphs, generated in a process of growth. A common feature of these graphs is that there is a natural labeling of nodes which corresponds to the order in which they were added to the graph. We call this labeling "causal", since it is always obvious which node is an ancestor of which. The corresponding graphs will be called **causal networks**. The causality introduces a restriction on the number of ways in which the graph can be labeled. As we shall see, this restriction very strongly affects properties of typical networks in the ensemble.

In this section we shall discuss some famous models of growing networks. These models are more popular than equilibrated networks presented above and, indeed, they were first models reproducing many properties of real network. Although in some models the rules governing the process of growth may look somewhat artificial, it is instructive to study how methods of statistical physics can be applied to causal networks. Because of the growing nature of these networks, the rate equation approach is particularly well suited to study them. We will see, however, that also the concept of statistical ensemble can be very helpful in order to understand some features of these networks.

2.2.1 Models of growing networks

As a first example of growing network we shall discuss the Barabási-Albert (BA) model introduced in a very seminal paper [15]. This model triggered enormous activity in the field of complex networks. Similar models were proposed in different contexts and discussed several times in the past (for review see e.g. [54]). The model has two basic ingredients: growth and preferential attachment. The latter means that new nodes added to the system prefer to attach to nodes with higher degrees. In effect, high degrees are further increased and become even higher⁷. The model is defined as follows. Starting from a complete graph with n_0 nodes, at each step a new node is introduced and joined to m previously existing nodes with the probability proportional to the degree of the node to which a new link is established. One can easily program this procedure on a computer, adding nodes one by one and attaching them according to the preferential attachment rule. There is also a slightly different version of the algorithm, a more tricky one, which instead of focusing on the nodes uses links as elementary objects. It is more effective, so let us shortly describe it. Each link ij is viewed in this algorithm as a couple of directed links $i \to j$ and $j \to i$. In the algorithm one picks up at random a directed link and chooses the node which is at the endpoint of this link as a node to which a new link is going to be attached. The preferential attachment rule is in this way simply realized, because the number of links pointing onto a node with degree k is equal to k. After t steps of nodes' addition, the network consists of $n_0 + t$ nodes and $mt + n_0(n_0 + 1)/2$ edges. For m = 1, the graph generated by this procedure consists of trees planted on the initial graph. If the initial graph is a tree, so is the whole graph.

Later on we shall see that the degree distribution falls asymptotically as k^{-3} . In the limit $N \to \infty$ the distribution reads [55]

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{2m(m+1)}{k(k+1)(k+2)}\Theta(k-m),$$
(2.64)

where $\Theta(x)$ is the step function: $\Theta(x) = 1$ for $x \ge 0$, $\Theta(x) = 0$ for x < 0. By construction, nodes of degree smaller than m are absent. The degree distribution (2.64) is in accordance with distributions observed for some real networks like the citation network. The exponent $\gamma = 3$ cannot be tuned in this version of the model. As we shall see below, a slight modification of the attachment rule will do the job. The next important property of the BA network is that the diameter grows as $\sim \ln N$, so it is a small-world. The clustering coefficient is rather small. For m = 1, C = 0 because the graph is essentially a tree. For m > 1many triangles appear⁸, but their number is small in comparison to the number of connected triples in the limit $N \to \infty$. There are obvious correlations on BA networks between the age and the degree of nodes: the older node is, the higher degree it has. This is an effect of a pure growth in absence of any rewiring of links. In fact, this age-degree correlation is not observed in the WWW, for which the model was originally designed, because there are new web pages having sometimes more links than older ones.

As mentioned, many refinements have been introduced to the BA model to account for some of the experimentally observed facts. In particular, one can make the power-law exponent tunable by a simple modification of the attachment rule as proposed by Dorogovtsev, Mendes and Samukhin [55]. Here we shall refer to this model as to the **DMS model**⁹ or as to the BA model with initial attractiveness. The algorithm is similar to that for the BA model. The only difference is that now a new node chooses the

 $^{^{7}}$ This is sometimes called St. Matthew's effect: "For unto every one that hath shall be given, and he shall have abundance: but from him that hath not shall be taken away even that which he hath." (Matthew XXV:29, KJV).

⁸E.g. for m = 2 for each new node one new triangle is also introduced.

⁹There are also other models proposed by those authors called DMS models in the literature.

older one to which it creates a link, with probability A_k , called attachment kernel, proportional to its degree plus some constant:

$$A_k = \frac{k + a_0}{\sum_i k_i + a_0},\tag{2.65}$$

where k is the degree of the old node and a_0 is called initial attractiveness. The model can be solved in the thermodynamic limit [55]. The degree distribution for m = 1 reads

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{(2+a_0)\Gamma(3+2a_0)}{\Gamma(1+a_0)} \frac{\Gamma(k+a_0)}{\Gamma(k+3+2a_0)},$$
(2.66)

that is $\Pi(k) \sim k^{-\gamma}$ with $\gamma = 3 + a_0$. The model can reproduce any power-law exponent larger than 2 $(a_0 > -1)$, and therefore it can be adjusted to experimentally observed degree distributions for real-world networks. One can summarize this part of the discussion by saying that DMS model became very popular because of three important properties: i) it yields scale-free networks with tunable exponent γ , ii) the networks are small-worlds, iii) the model is easy to handle in the numerical and analytical treatment. Actually, DMS networks can be easily generated but not so easy as BA ones. The innocently looking term a_0 in the attachment kernel changes the algorithm complexity, because one cannot apply the trick with picking up directed links at random instead of nodes. One has to work with nodes and choose them with a probability changing after each step, which increases the computational cost. Fortunately, it was shown in [56] that the model with m = 1 is equivalent to a model of **growing network with re-direction** (**GNR**). The GNR network is constructed as follows. Starting from some small initial graph like in the BA model, at each time step one chooses a node i with equal probability from the set of existing nodes. Then one introduces a new node which is attached with probability 1 - r to i, and with probability r to its ancestor¹⁰. With the choice $r = 1/(a_0 + 2)$ the GNR model is equivalent to the DMS tree model with initial attractiveness a_0 .

One can consider even more general attachment kernels than Eq. (2.65). For instance, one can assume that A_k behaves asymptotically as k^{α} for large k. When $\alpha < 1$ that is for sub-linear kernels, the degree distribution is exponentially suppressed [56]. When $\alpha > 1$, links tend to condense on one or more nodes, depending on the value of α : for instance for $\alpha > 2$ almost all links condense on a single node. This is the "winner takes all" situation. We have mentioned a similar behavior in the previous section while discussing pseudographs, but there only a finite fraction of links condensed. The situation presented here is more similar to the condensation of balls on inhomogeneous networks which will be discussed in section 3.2.2.

2.2.2 Rate equation approach

In this subsection we shall discuss rate equations and show how to use them to calculate asymptotic degree distribution for a growing network. We shall follow the approach developed in [56]. First, for simplicity we shall consider BA model with m = 1, that is the ensemble of growing trees with linear attachment kernel. The quantity of interest is $N_k(N)$, the number of nodes having degree k when the total size of the network is N. Assume that the initial graph consists of two nodes joined by an edge. This means that initially we have $N_k(2) = 2\delta_{k,1}$. For m = 1 the growth process does not introduce cycles, so the graph remains a tree. The assumption about the initial configuration is not crucial but it simplifies calculations. At each time step a new node is attached to an old node with probability equal to $k / \sum_q q N_q$, where k is the degree of the old node. Because the sum of all degrees gives 2L, this probability is simply $\frac{k}{2L}$. The process of growth is random, $N_k(N)$ may change by 0 or 1. We can formally write:

$$N_k(N+1) = N_k(N) + \xi(k, N), \qquad (2.67)$$

where $\xi(k, N)$ is a random variable which may assume values 0, 1. Having the probability distribution of ξ we could generate $\xi(k, N)$ at any time step N and simulate the process of growth to get $N_k(N)$. But we are interested not in a particular distribution of degrees for one network, but in "typical" properties of all BA graphs. Therefore we should consider the average $\langle N_k(N) \rangle$ rather than $N_k(N)$. The average is over an ensemble of all graphs of size N which can be generated by the growth process. One can show [55] that this average exists in the limit $N \to \infty$ and that the system self-averages, which means that for $N \to \infty$ the averages over the ensemble are equal to the averages over one network picked up from this ensemble. Taking the average of both sides of Eq. (2.67) we get

$$\langle N_k(N+1)\rangle = \langle N_k(N)\rangle + \langle \xi(k,N)\rangle.$$
(2.68)

 $^{^{10}}$ Because the network is growing (causal), one can always decide which node is older and fix the ancestor-descendant hierarchy.

The form of the average of the random variable ξ can be deduced from the process of growth. Let us focus at some node *i* having degree *k*. As a result of an addition of new node to the network, *i* can get a new link with probability k/2L. Thus the average change of $\langle N_k(N) \rangle$ will be $-\langle N_k(N) \rangle k/2L$ because it happens only when the new node chooses one of $N_k(N)$ possible nodes with degree *k*. But $\langle N_k(N) \rangle$ can also increase by $\langle N_{k-1}(N) \rangle (k-1)/2L$ if the new node connects to any node with degree k-1. The last contribution to $\langle \xi \rangle$ comes from addition of a new node with degree k = 1 and is equal to $\delta_{k,1}$. Thus the full equation for the rate of change of $\langle N_k(N) \rangle$ reads:

$$\langle N_k(N+1)\rangle = \langle N_k(N)\rangle + \delta_{k,1} + \frac{k-1}{2(N-1)} \langle N_{k-1}(N)\rangle - \frac{k}{2(N-1)} \langle N_k(N)\rangle, \qquad (2.69)$$

where we take advantage of the fact that for trees L = N - 1. The equation is exact for any N, not only in the thermodynamic limit, and could be solved for $\langle N_k(N) \rangle$. Using this equation one can also calculate $\Pi(k) \equiv \langle N_k(N) \rangle / N$, i.e. the degree distribution averaged over the ensemble of BA tree graphs. As we shall see it is not an easy task (see Chapter 3, Sec. 3.1.2). It can be simplified by neglecting finite-size corrections in the limit of large networks, in which case the degree distribution can be calculated by substituting $\langle N_k(N) \rangle = N\Pi(k)$ and assuming that $\Pi(k)$ tends to a stationary state¹¹. In this case one gets:

$$\Pi(k) = \delta_{k,1} + \frac{k-1}{2} \Pi(k-1) - \frac{k}{2} \Pi(k) + O(1/N).$$
(2.70)

In the thermodynamical limit the term O(1/N) can be neglected. Rearranging this equation:

$$(k+2)\Pi(k) = (k-1)\Pi(k-1) + 2\delta_{k,1},$$
(2.71)

one immediately obtains

$$\Pi(1) = 2/3, \tag{2.72}$$

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{k-1}{k+2} \Pi(k-1), \quad \forall k > 1,$$
(2.73)

and by iterating Eq. (2.73) one eventually arrives at the following degree distribution for $k \geq 1$:

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{4}{k(k+1)(k+2)}.$$
(2.74)

Following [56], let us apply the same method for a general attachment kernel A_k . Now, the probability that a new node will be attached to the older one with degree k, is $A_k/A(N)$ where A(N) is a normalization coefficient:

$$A(N) = \sum_{k} A_{k} N_{k}(N).$$
(2.75)

In the limit $N \to \infty$, all $N_k \sim N$ and thus we can assume that $A(N) \approx N\eta$ where η is some constant to be determined later. Proceeding exactly as above for pure BA model, we get the rate equation in the form:

$$\Pi(k) = \delta_{k,1} + \frac{A_{k-1}}{\eta} \Pi(k-1) - \frac{A_k}{\eta} \Pi(k), \qquad (2.76)$$

which can be solved with respect to $\Pi(k)$:

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{\eta}{A_k} \prod_{j=1}^k \left(1 + \frac{\eta}{A_j} \right)^{-1}.$$
(2.77)

The parameter η can be obtained from the normalization of the degree distribution: $\sum_k \Pi(k) = 1$. If we now assume a shifted linear kernel like in the DMS model: $A_k = a_0 + k$, we find

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{\eta}{a_0 + k} \frac{a_0 + 1}{a_0 + 1 + \eta} \cdots \frac{a_0 + k}{a_0 + k + \eta} = \frac{\eta}{a_0 + k} \frac{\Gamma(a_0 + k + 1)/a_0!}{\Gamma(a_0 + k + \eta + 1)/(a_0 + \eta)!},$$
(2.78)

and $\eta = 2 + a_0$ as follows from $A(t) = \sum_k (k + a_0) N_k(N) = 2L + Na_0$. Inserting this into Eq. (2.78) we end up with Eq. (2.66). It reduces to the BA degree distribution (2.74) for $a_0 = 0$, that is for the purely linear attachment kernel. In figure 2.8 we show plots of $\Pi(k)$ calculated analytically using Eq. (2.78)



Figure 2.8: Left: Degree distribution for pure BA model with $m = 1, n_0 = 2$ for networks of different sizes. Solid lines from left to right: N = 1000, 2000, 4000, averaged over 10^6 generated networks. Circles: $\Pi(k)$ for a single network with $N = 10^7$. As N grows, plots approach theoretical distribution $\Pi(k) \sim k^{-3}$. One also sees that averaging over the ensemble is (up to finite-size effects) equivalent to averaging over one large network (self-averaging). Right: plots of $\Pi(k)$ for DMS models with $N = 10^6$ and various a_0 , compared to the theoretical distributions (2.66). The plots correspond to $a_0 = 2.1$ (the smallest slope), $a_0 = 3$ and $a_0 = 4$ (the largest slope). All results are averaged over 100 networks generated in the GNR model, equivalent to the DMS model.

and measured in numerical simulations of networks generated by the GNR version of growing network algorithm for various a_0 .

The same method allows one to determine $\Pi(k)$ for sub- and super-linear kernels, cited in the previous section, or to calculate degree distribution for non-tree growing networks [55, 57]. It can also be used to find degree-degree correlations [56] by writing a rate equation for $N_{k,q}$, the number of nodes with degree k attached to ancestor nodes of degree q. The exact result for BA is fairly complicated, but in the limit $k, q \to \infty$ with y = q/k kept fixed, it simplifies to

$$N_{k,q} \cong Nk^{-4} \frac{4y(y+4)}{(1+y)^4}.$$
(2.79)

This function has a maximum at $y \approx 0.372$ which means that the ancestor node's degree is approximately 37% of its descendant. The correlation function ϵ_{kq} defined in Sec. 1.3 and calculated from the formula:

$$\epsilon(k,q) = \frac{N_{k,q} + N_{q,k}}{L},\tag{2.80}$$

does not factorize: $\epsilon(k,q) \neq \epsilon_r(k,q)$ which means that the network is correlated. A similar behavior is observed for shifted attachment kernels. The assortativity coefficient \mathcal{A} defined in Eq. (1.6) can be calculated for pure BA model. From Eq. (41) in [56], and Eq. (2.80) we obtain

$$\epsilon(k,k) = \frac{2(5k^2 - 3k - 2)}{k^2(1+k)^2(4k^2 - 1)}.$$
(2.81)

Using Eq. (1.6) after some tedious but straightforward calculations we find:

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{33 - 24 \ln 4}{42 - 4\pi^2} \approx -0.1075, \tag{2.82}$$

which stands in a very good agreement with numerical simulations. This indicates that the BA growing tree network is disassortative.

Many improvements of BA growing network models have been proposed (for a review, see e.g. [4]). The growing BA network can be used as an initial configuration for the algorithms, like those described before, to generate scale-free networks with some features enhanced [6]. In this way one can also extrapolate between causal and equilibrated networks.

¹¹One can show that N_k 's from Eq. (2.69) grow as $\sim N$ [56] for large N and therefore $\Pi(k)$ has a stationary state in the thermodynamical limit.



Figure 2.9: Planted rooted trees of size N = 1, 2, 3. All causal labellings are surrounded by dashed rectangles.

2.2.3 Statistical ensemble formulation of growing networks

Although many properties of growing networks can be understood using rate equations, sometimes it is convenient to introduce the ensemble of causal graphs and calculate desired quantities from the partition function. As mentioned, such an ensemble cannot be thought as an ensemble with the Gibbs measure, in the usual statistical sense, but merely as an ensemble of networks which can be obtained in a growth process, if this process is terminated at some moment of time. In this subsection we shall define such an ensemble for trees with the product weight (2.24). As we shall see, the model is on the one hand solvable and on the other hand it exhibits non-trivial behavior. In particular, we shall be able to quantify the effects of causality.

Because a tree with N nodes has L = N - 1 links, we shall define the canonical partition function which depends only on N:

$$Z(N) = \frac{1}{N!} \sum_{\alpha \in lct(N)} n(\alpha) p(k_1) \cdots p(k_N), \qquad (2.83)$$

where the sum runs over all labeled causal tree graphs. The causal ordering of nodes' labels selects a relatively small fraction of all possible labeled trees. The calculation of Eq. (2.83) is much simpler for planted rooted trees, i.e. trees with an additional link (a stem) attached to one of its nodes. The stem acts as an additional link which marks one node of the tree and increases its degree by one. Because only one node is marked, in the thermodynamic limit ensembles of trees and planted rooted trees have roughly the same properties. In figure 2.9 graphs with N = 1, 2, 3 are sketched. Following [37] we shall derive a recursion relation for Z(N). First, we observe that every tree of size N + 1 can be constructed from trees of sizes N_1, \ldots, N_q where $\sum_{i=1}^q N_i = N$, by attaching their stems to a common node (see Fig. 2.10). This new node is attached to a new common stem. Denoting by n(N) the number of different labellings for the set of trees of size N we have

$$n(N+1) = \frac{N!}{N_1! \cdots N_q!} \frac{1}{q!} n(N_1) \cdots n(N_q).$$
(2.84)

The origin of factorials is the following. The whole tree has N + 1 labels, but the smallest label must be attached to the root because of the causality. The remaining N labels can be distributed arbitrarily. All $N_i!$ permutations of N_i labels of a subtree are undistinguishable and thus they give the same graph. To avoid overcounting one divides by $N_i!$. This leads to the multinomial factor. In addition, q subtrees can be permuted in q! possible ways giving the same labeled graph, thus we have to divide by q!. The functional weight W(N + 1) for the set of compound trees also factorizes:

$$W(N+1) = p(q+1)W(N_1)\cdots W(N_q).$$
(2.85)

Notice that the new node has degree q + 1 because the root is counted as a link. The partition function



Figure 2.10: Construction of a new planted rooted tree from q = 3 trees of size N_1, N_2, N_3 . The large circle denotes the set of all trees of given size. One node (small circle) is distinguished by the stem joined to it. The new set of trees of size $N_1 + N_2 + N_3 + 1$ is obtained by joining the trees from the left-hand side to a new common rooted node (right-hand side). The new node has degree four since the root is counted as a link.

(2.83) can be expressed as a sort of self-consistency equation for Z(N):

$$Z(N+1) = \frac{1}{(N+1)!} \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} \sum_{N_1, \dots, N_q} \delta_{N, N_1 + \dots + N_q} \frac{N!}{N_1! \cdots N_q!} \frac{1}{q!} n(N_1) \cdots n(N_q)$$

$$\times \quad p(q+1) W(N_1) \cdots W(N_q)$$

$$= \frac{1}{N+1} \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} \frac{p(q+1)}{q!} \sum_{N_1, \dots, N_q} \delta_{N, N_1 + \dots + N_q} \prod_{i=1}^q Z(N_i), \quad (2.86)$$

where Z(N) appears on both sides. The sum goes over all subtrees $1, 2, \ldots, q$ of sizes N_1, \ldots, N_q with the only constraint given by the delta function. The constraint can be decoupled by introducing a grand-canonical partition function:

$$Z(\mu) = \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} Z(N) e^{-N\mu},$$
(2.87)

which is just a generating function for the canonical partition functions Z(N). Here μ is the chemical potential but contrary to the previous definition (2.16), it controls the average number of nodes, not links¹². Multiplying both sides of Eq. (2.86) by $(N + 1)e^{-(N+1)\mu}$ and summing over $N = 1, \ldots, \infty$ we get:

$$\sum_{N=2}^{\infty} NZ(N)e^{-N\mu} = e^{-\mu} \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} \frac{p(q+1)}{q!} \left(\sum_{N_i=1}^{\infty} e^{-\mu N_i} Z(N_i) \right)^q.$$
 (2.88)

If we add the term $Z(1)e^{-\mu}$ to both sides of this equation, the left-hand side becomes just a derivative of $-Z(\mu)$ with respect to μ , while the right-hand side is a sum over q extended to the range $q = 0, \ldots, \infty$, which additionally includes the term for q = 0. Thus we get

$$Z'(\mu) = -e^{-\mu}F(Z(\mu)), \qquad (2.89)$$

where F(x) is the generating function for the distribution p(k) like in Eq. (2.50):

$$F(x) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} p(q+1) \frac{x^q}{q!}.$$
(2.90)

This series may have a finite or infinite radius of convergence, x_0 . The equation (2.89) can be integrated over $d\mu$. This yields

$$e^{-\mu(Z)} = \int_0^Z \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{F(x)},$$
(2.91)

and because¹³ F(x) > 0 for x > 0 and $F(x) \to \infty$ for $x \ge x_0$, the integral is bounded from above. Hence the chemical potential $\mu(Z)$ is bounded from below: $\mu \to \mu_0$ as $Z \to \infty$. This means that Z as a function

¹²Because L = N - 1, the difference is in fact meaningless.

¹³We can exclude the trivial case when all p(q)'s are zero.



Figure 2.11: Typical behavior of functions discussed in section 2.2.3.

of μ has a singularity at μ_0 (see Fig. 2.11):

$$\mu_0 = -\ln \int_0^{x_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{F(x)}.$$
(2.92)

From definition of the partition function (2.87) we have that Z(N) shall grow as $\sim e^{\mu_0 N}$ or faster. We assume now that the ensemble of trees is normal in the statistical-thermodynamical sense, that is $Z(N) \propto e^{\mu_0 N}$. As we have seen, this is not true for simple graphs, but the number of causal trees grows only as (N-1)! [35] and not as $\sim (N^2)!$ for graphs. Therefore, many quantities as for instance degree distribution can be obtained from the critical value μ_0 . For example, according to Eq. (2.35) the degree distribution reads

$$\Pi(k) = p(k)\frac{\partial\mu_0}{\partial p(k)} = \frac{p(k)}{(k-1)!} \frac{\int_0^{x_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}x \, x^{k-1}}{F^2(x)}}{\int_0^{x_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{F(x)}}.$$
(2.93)

Thus, similarly as for simple graphs, by tuning p(k) one can obtain any desired degree distribution. It is, however, not as trivial as in case of Eq. (2.36) because the dependence on F(x) is now more complicated. Some interesting distributions were investigated in [37]. For instance, with the choice p(k) = (k-1)!, the generating functions reads $F(x) = (1-x)^{-1}$ and has the radius of convergence $x_0 = 1$. The integrals in (2.93) can be done analytically. The result is

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{4}{k(k+1)(k+2)},\tag{2.94}$$

so one recovers the BA degree distribution. We can show that, indeed, causal trees with the product weight

$$W(\alpha) = (k_1 - 1)! \cdots (k_N - 1)!$$
(2.95)

form the same ensemble as BA growing trees. To this end, let us consider a set of all causal trees α which for a given degree sequence k_1, \ldots, k_N have the statistical weight $W(\alpha)$ given by Eq. (2.95). Imagine also that we have a Markov process which generates such trees. First, we see that the number of possible causally labeled trees in this set is obviously the same as in the BA model. We have to check whether also the statistical weights are the same in both cases. Imagine that we take a graph α with N nodes with degrees k_1, \ldots, k_N and attach a new node by linking it to a node n. We obtain a new configuration β , which has now N + 1 nodes with degrees $k_1, \ldots, k_n + 1, \ldots, k_N, 1$. The transition probability $\alpha \to \beta$ for a process which has a stationary distribution (2.95) is

$$P(\alpha \to \beta) \propto \frac{W(\beta)}{W(\alpha)} = \frac{(k_1 - 1)! \cdots k_n! \cdots (k_N - 1)! \cdot 1}{(k_1 - 1)! \cdots (k_N - 1)!} = k_n$$
(2.96)

and we see that it is identical to that for linear attachment kernel in the BA growth process. In conclusion, this shows the equivalence of the two approaches.

The formulation of the BA model of growing networks via statistical ensemble can be used to calculate degree-degree correlations or the average distance $\langle r \rangle$ between any two nodes [37]. For instance, it can be found that $\langle r \rangle \cong (1/2) \ln N$, that is the BA network really displays the small-world phenomenon.

2.3 Causal versus equilibrated networks

So far we have discussed equilibrated and causal networks separately. We have shown that for both classes some properties of networks can be essentially the same, as for instance the power-law degree



Figure 2.12: The distance distribution G(r) for unweighted equilibrated trees (circles), scale-free equilibrated trees (diamonds) and scale-free causal trees (squares) of size N = 1000. S-F causal trees are the shortest.

distribution. Now we shall compare these two ensembles and see that although $\Pi(k)$ can be identical in the thermodynamic limit, some other characteristics of the network topology are different for causal and equilibrated graphs. As shown in [35], causal trees form only a small subset of all trees. The same is true for simple graphs. The fraction of causally labeled trees among all labeled trees is only $\sim N^{3/2}e^{-N}$. So the chance of picking up at random a causal tree from the set of all trees vanishes when N grows. We shall show that geometrical properties of typical trees in this subset are quite different from those in the whole set.

Let us first consider the ensemble of unweighted equilibrated trees and the corresponding ensemble for causal trees. Here "unweighted" means that all trees have the same functional weight equal to one. We can now calculate some geometrical quantities for trees in the first and in the second ensemble. An example of such a quantity is the average distance $\langle r \rangle$. In fact, one can calculate it analytically [37, 56, 58, 59, 60]. For equilibrated trees it is

$$\langle r \rangle \sim \sqrt{N},$$
 (2.97)

which means that the fractal dimension of typical equilibrated trees is equal to 2. These trees are therefore rather elongated and certainly are not small-worlds so abundantly observed in nature. On the other hand, for causal trees,

$$\langle r \rangle \sim \ln N,$$
 (2.98)

hence the fractal dimension is infinite. This is because most of nodes concentrate around the oldest node. A similar observation was made for weighted trees with BA degree distribution [35]. An even better insight into geometrical properties of trees (or graphs) is provided by the distribution G(r) of distances r between all pairs of nodes:

$$G(r) = \left\langle \frac{1}{N^2} \sum_{i,j} \delta_{r,r(ij)} \right\rangle.$$
(2.99)

Here r(ij) is the length of the shortest path between two nodes i, j. The average distance is the mean of this distribution: $\langle r \rangle = \sum_r rG(r)$. In figure 2.12 we present a comparison of G(r) for equilibrated and causal trees of the same size. Causal trees were generated using the BA model while for equilibrated trees we used the Monte Carlo algorithm described in section 2.1.5. The weights p(k) = 4(k-1)!/(k(k+1)(k+2)) were chosen according to Eq. (2.49) to get the same degree distribution as in the BA model. In Fig. 2.13 we see that indeed both types of trees have the same $\Pi(k)$, so one cannot easily distinguish to which ensemble the given tree belongs, by only measuring¹⁴ $\Pi(k)$. But one easily sees in Fig. 2.12 that the causal trees are much shorter than the equilibrated ones. If we assume that the average distance scales for equilibrated trees like

$$\langle r \rangle_{\rm h} \sim \sqrt{N/\ln N},$$
 (2.100)

and for causal trees:

$$\langle r \rangle_c \sim \ln N,$$
 (2.101)

 $^{^{14}}$ We shall see in the next chapter that this statement is true only in the thermodynamic limit. For any finite N there are finite-size corrections, which are different for both ensembles. To see a difference coming from the finite-size correction one has to have much better statistics than in figure 2.13.



Figure 2.13: The degree distribution for causal (diamonds) and equilibrated (circles) scale-free trees measured in Monte Carlo runs for N = 1000. The solid line stands for theoretical $\Pi(k) = \frac{4}{k(k+1)(k+2)}$.



Figure 2.14: Left: G(r) for equilibrated trees plotted in the rescaled variable: $x = r/\sqrt{N/\ln N}$ for different sizes N = 500, 1000, 2000, 4000. Right: the same quantity for causal trees, for $x = r/\ln N$. Continuous lines are given by Eqs. (2.102) and (2.103).

we can plot curves G(r) for different N in the rescaled variable $x \equiv r/\langle r \rangle$ and observe that they collapse to some characteristic curves but different for each of the two ensembles (see Fig. 2.14). The function $G_{\rm h}(x)$ for equilibrated trees is well approximated by

$$G_{\rm h}(x) = Ax \exp(-Bx^2/2),$$
 (2.102)

while for causal trees by

$$G_{\rm c}(x) = A' \exp(-(x - \bar{x})^2 / B'), \qquad (2.103)$$

with some parameters A, A', B, B', \bar{x} fitted to data. So again, the average node-node distance is smaller for the causal trees than for the equilibrated ones with the same degree distribution. The effect is qualitatively the same when one considers simple graphs instead of trees. Thus the causality enhances the small-world effect by increasing the relative weight of graphs with clusters of nodes around the oldest vertices.

There are many other differences between the causal and equilibrated networks. We shall give one more example showing the difference in degree-degree correlations in both types of trees. A quantity which is commonly used to study these correlations is the average degree $\bar{k}_{nn}(k)$ of the nearest neighbors of a node with degree k, defined in Sec. 1.3 and expressed through Eq. (1.5). For uncorrelated graphs it is $\epsilon_{\rm r}(k,q) = kq \Pi(k) \Pi(q) / \langle k \rangle^2$ and thus

$$\bar{k}_{\rm nn}(k) = \frac{\langle k^2 \rangle}{\langle k \rangle},\tag{2.104}$$

which gives a constant value $\bar{k}_{nn} = 1 + \bar{k}$ for maximally random graphs in the ER model. In general case


Figure 2.15: Plots of $\bar{k}_{nn}(k)$ for ER random graphs (diamonds), random trees with BA degree distribution (squares) and causal BA trees (circles). Both causal and random trees are disassortative, but they differ in approaching $k \to \infty$. The descent of experimental curves for large k is caused by finite-size effects. Theoretical curves (solid lines) are calculated from Eqs. (2.105) and (2.106).

for equilibrated trees with an arbitrary degree distribution it can be shown [38] that

$$\bar{k}_{nn}(k) = 2 + \frac{1}{k} \left(\left\langle k^2 \right\rangle - 4 \right).$$
 (2.105)

This result differs from the corresponding one for causal trees. For instance, for causal trees with BA degree distribution [61],

$$\bar{k}_{\rm nn}(k) = \frac{\langle k^2 \rangle}{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{k} \right). \tag{2.106}$$

The second moment $\langle k^2 \rangle$ depends on the size N and can be calculated for growing BA trees [62]:

$$\langle k^2 \rangle = (2 - 2/N)H(N - 1).$$
 (2.107)

Here $H(n) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} 1/i$ is the harmonic number. The same formula performs well for random BA trees. In figure 2.15 we plot $\bar{k}_{nn}(k)$ for BA causal and equilibrated graphs, and also for ER graphs. From Eq. (2.105) we get $\bar{k}_{nn}(k) \to 2$ when k approaches infinity, while for causal trees the limiting value is proportional to the second moment of the degree distribution, and thus diverges for $N \to \infty$. This means that the affinity of nodes with higher degrees and their tendency to cluster together grow with the size of tree. This is another argument supporting the conjecture that causal trees are more compact than the corresponding equilibrated ones.

Chapter 3

Applications to modeling complex networks

In this chapter we present some further applications of the mathematical methods developed so far. First we shall quantify finite-size effects in networks. Usually, while discussing networks one calculates quantities of interest in the thermodynamic limit $N \to \infty$. As we will show such a procedure may lead to neglecting some important effects, which are seen for finite networks. In particular, the nodedegree distribution exhibits for finite N apparent deviations from the limiting distribution. We will find an explicit form of finite-size corrections to the scale-free behavior for growing networks and talk over corrections for homogeneous graphs. A second problem which shall be discussed in this chapter concerns a very important class of phenomena which describe the dynamics of statistical processes on networks. On the example of a zero-range process we will show the usage of techniques developed in the previous chapter.

3.1 Finite-size effects in networks

In the preceding chapter we discussed some popular models of networks, for which we determined degree distribution, clustering coefficient, diameter etc., in the limit of infinite networks. The derivation of exact analytical result was possible because in this limit structural constraints, like for example that on the sum of degrees, become less important and some of them loose their virtue at all. For instance, we mentioned that in the thermodynamic limit the canonical ensemble for homogeneous graphs with fixed L is equivalent to the grand-canonical one where L can in principle fluctuate¹. However, it is not the case for finite N and one has to incorporate the effect of finite-size constraints into calculations.

One must be very careful while comparing models solved in the thermodynamic limit to real-world networks. For finite N, some local quantities like node degrees are bounded from above. There are also some effects resulting from network's features which are rare but can significantly change the picture for small graphs. For example, it is known that in many models, as for instance in the ER model, large graphs are essentially trees, because the average number of cycles of finite length is constant and does not depend on the network size N. On the other hand, for smaller graphs, short loops play an important role. Their presence shapes the network and strongly affects its global properties.

In next sections we shall discuss one type of finite-size effects, namely that which is related to the appearance of a cutoff in the degree distribution of finite networks. We will present our recent findings for various graphs and compare them to those from the literature.

3.1.1 Cutoff in the degree distribution

As we have pointed out in Sec. 1.3, for any finite network the power-law behavior of the degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ can hold only for values of k significantly smaller than N. Both experimental data and theoretical models of scale-free networks indicate that the behavior of $\Pi(k)$ for $k \gg 1$ for a finite network exhibits two regimes: below some k_{\max} it follows the power-law behavior as in an infinite network while above k_{\max} it displays a much faster decay. The characteristic degree k_{\max} which separates these two regimes is called a cutoff. Intuitively, the cutoff comes about due to the fact that the overall number of links present in a finite, non-degenerated graph is restricted and so is also the degree of each node. Thus

 $^{^{1}}$ We have shown this explicitly for equally weighted random graphs. A more general situation is considered in [18].

for any finite network the power-law behavior of the degree distribution is truncated. In consequence, many quantities calculated on finite networks significantly differ from their counterparts derived in the thermodynamic limit. One can see this effect for example when one calculates percolation thresholds for statistical systems on networks, like for instance those describing infection spreading for real diseases or computer viruses.

Many attempts were undertaken to estimate the position of the cutoff for different scale-free networks, most of them concentrated on sparse networks where the average degree \bar{k} is fixed. This restricts the class of distributions $\Pi(k)$ to those which have a finite mean value, and the power-law tail exponent to the range $\gamma > 2$, which is indeed observed for real networks.

1000 -

3

Article	α for $2 < \gamma < 3$	α for $\gamma > 3$	$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{1/(\gamma-1)} & 1 \\ 0.8 \end{bmatrix}$
(a) [63], homog. simple graphs	$1/(5-\gamma) *$	1/2 *	× 100 = 1 /2 = 1
(b) [64], homog. simple graphs	1/2 *	$1/(\gamma - 1) *$	
(c) [65], uncorrelated networks	1/2	$1/(\gamma - 1)$	
(d) Pseudographs	$1/(\gamma - 1)$	1/2	$10 1/(5-\gamma)$
(e) [66], growing trees	$1/(\gamma - 1)$		= - 0,2
(f) [34], homog. trees	$1/(\gamma - 1)$		
			2 2,5 3 3,5 4

Table 3.1: Some results for the exponent α in the cutoff $k_{\max} \sim N^{\alpha}$. A star (*) denotes two inconsistent predictions. By pseudographs we understand graphs with self- and multiple-connections with the partition function (2.31), for which corrections to the degree distribution (2.36) can be found by observation that it is equivalent to so called balls-in-boxes model [36], and calculated in the limit of large but finite N [67]. In figure on the right-hand side we compare different exponents graphically. Left axis: k_{\max} for the network of size N = 1000, right axis: the value of α .

In general, the position of the cutoff k_{\max} scales as N^{α} for large N with an exponent $\alpha < 1$. The value of the exponent depends on the type of network. In table 3.1 we collect some values α calculated for S-F graphs of various type, together with references to the original papers where the quoted values were derived. The exponent α is calculated as a function of the exponent γ in the power-law tail of the underlying degree distribution. In the discussion of S-F networks one should differentiate between equilibrated and growing networks, and simple graphs, pseudographs and trees. Note, however, that for $\gamma = 3$, $\alpha = 1/2$ in all cases. The value $\gamma = 3$ is in a sense marginal because it separates the regime of anomalous fluctuations for $\gamma < 3$ and of normal fluctuations for $\gamma > 3$. In the former case $\langle k^2 \rangle$ is infinite in the limit $N \to \infty$ while in the latter one it is finite.

Let us make some remarks on the results in the table. First, the result (a) has been found recently in [63] in the statistical ensemble approach. It is in disagreement with the results (b). The authors [63] claim that (b) gives only an upper bound on the value of the exponent α for $2 < \gamma < 3$. Second, the scaling for trees seems to be the same for growing (e.g. the BA model) and equilibrated ones. Third, equilibrated pseudographs have different cutoffs than simple graphs or trees. Fourth, the result (c) applies only to hypothetic uncorrelated graphs with no correlations between degrees of nearest neighbors. Any finite network has certain correlations of such type, simply because of global constraints like that on the sum of degrees coming from the fixed number of links L. Therefore, as we have mentioned in Chapter 2, the two-point correlation function $\epsilon(k, q) \neq \epsilon_r(k, q)$ even if we do not introduce correlations *explicite*. For instance, $\Pi(N-1)$ can be non-zero for simple graphs but then it is impossible to pick a link joining nodes both of degree k = N - 1 as it would stem from Eq. (1.4). The authors [65] are aware of this effect and conclude that for assortative networks the cutoff should be smaller than the one predicted in table 3.1 while in case of disassortativity it should be larger.

The results in the table were obtained with the help of different methods. For homogeneous networks many of them were based either on some simple probabilistic arguments or extreme values statistics. Those methods allow one to determine the cutoff but not the shape of the function giving the finite-size correction to the degree distribution. For growing networks, however, the shape of the corrections can be found. In [66] the BA model of growing tree network has been solved for finite N. The authors have calculated the mean number of nodes of a given degree for the network of size N and deduced the form of the correction to the degree distribution for the pure BA model with $\gamma = 3$. In the next section we shall present a more general method which also applies to other growing networks and we shall use it to determine the form of the cutoff function. In the last section we shall present Monte Carlo simulations of networks which allow for the estimation of the cutoff function and the exponent α , and we shall compare

the results to those in table 3.1.

3.1.2 Growing networks

Here we would like to present the method of determining of the cutoff functions for growing networks. We shall explain it for the BA growing networks with initial attractiveness [63] described in Sec. 2.2.1. Some of results presented here were obtained in Ref. [66]. However, our approach is different and allows for solving more sophisticated variants of the model. Before we start, let us give some key points of the method here. We begin with the rate equation for the average number of nodes $N_k(N)$ of a given degree k. The average is taken over the canonical ensemble of growing trees as in Sec. 2.2.2. The solution of the rate equation in the limit of large N gives, up to a normalization constant, the degree distribution $\Pi_{\infty}(k)$ for the infinite network.

For a finite network, we define $\Pi(k)$ as a product of the limiting degree distribution $\Pi_{\infty}(k)$ and a cutoff function v(k, N) giving finite-size corrections. The recursion equation for this function can be obtained from that for $N_k(N)$. The next ingredient of the method is to consider moments of the cutoff function. One can derive recursive equations for the moments from the recursion relations for v(k, N). The equations can be solved recursively and one can derive explicit asymptotic expressions for the moments for sufficiently large but finite N. The knowledge of all moments makes it possible to reconstruct the leading behavior of the cutoff function v(k, N). This is the sketch of the method which we shall explain below in details. Although the idea is very simple, its implementation leads to quite complicated and lengthy calculations which we omit here, referring the reader to the original paper [62].

We start from the BA tree model with $m = 1, a_0 = 0$ and thus $\gamma = 3$. Like in Sec. 2.2.2, as an initial configuration we take the graph with $n_0 = 2$ nodes joined by a link (a dimer configuration), therefore $N_k(2) = 2\delta_{k,1}$. At each time step a new node is added and connected to one of N existing nodes in the system, with the probability proportional to the number of the preexisting links of the corresponding node, leading to a new network with N + 1 nodes. According to Eq. (2.69), the rate equation for the average number $N_k(N)$ has the form:

$$N_k(N+1) = N_k(N) + \delta_{k,1} + \frac{k-1}{2(N-1)}N_{k-1}(N) - \frac{k}{2(N-1)}N_k(N), \qquad (3.1)$$

where, for brevity, we have omitted the angle brackets denoting the average. The origin of all terms has been already explained in Sec. 2.2.2. This equation is exact for any N. In the limit of $N \to \infty$ it has a solution given by $N_k(N) \approx N \prod_{BA}(k)$, where

$$\Pi_{BA}(k) = \frac{4}{k(k+1)(k+2)}$$
(3.2)

is the degree distribution in the BA model. Here we are, however, interested in the general solution for $N_k(N) \equiv N\Pi(k, N)$, with $\Pi(k, N)$ being the degree distribution for a finite network. It is convenient to split $\Pi(k, N)$ into the product of the known function $\Pi_{BA}(k)$ and an unknown function v(k, N) giving finite-size corrections. With the substitution $N_k(N) = \Pi_{BA}(k)v(k, N)$, the equation (3.1) can be rewritten in terms of v(k, N):

$$v(k,N) = \frac{3}{2}\delta_{k,1} + \frac{2+k}{2(N-2)}v(k-1,N-1) - \frac{4-2N+k}{2(N-2)}v(k,N-1).$$
(3.3)

Multiplying now both sides of Eq. (3.3) by k^q and summing over $k = 1, \ldots, \infty$ we get

$$m_q(N+1) = \frac{1}{2N} \left(3 + \sum_{i=0}^{q-1} c_{qi} m_i(N) + (2N+q+1)m_q(N) \right),$$
(3.4)

where define moments $m_q(N)$ for the distribution v(k, N) as follows:

$$m_q(N) = \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} k^q v(k, N).$$
(3.5)

The normalization constant 1/(N-1) has been chosen for the later convenience. The initial condition reads

$$m_q(2) = 3,$$
 (3.6)

for all q as can be found for the initial configuration. The coefficients c_{qi} are given by:

$$c_{q0} = 3$$
, and $c_{qi} = 3\binom{q}{i} + \binom{q}{i-1}$ for $i > 0$. (3.7)

The equation (3.4) can be solved recursively starting from the lowest moments m_0, m_1, m_2, \ldots From expressions for the first moments we can infer that the general solution has the form:

$$m_q(N) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(N)} \sum_{i=0}^{q+1} \frac{B_{qi}}{\Gamma(2+i/2)} \Gamma(N+i/2), \qquad (3.8)$$

with some coefficients B_{qi} , yet unknown. The equation for coefficients B_{qi} can be found by inserting (3.8) into Eq. (3.4). For large N, the leading behavior of $m_q(N)$ is controlled by the term proportional to $B_{q,q+1}$:

$$m_q(N) \simeq B_{q,q+1} \frac{\Gamma[N + (q+1)/2]}{\Gamma(N)\Gamma(2 + (q+1)/2)} \simeq N^{\frac{q+1}{2}} A_q,$$
(3.9)

with $A_q \equiv B_{q,q+1}/\Gamma((5+q)/2)$. Each two consecutive moments m_{q+1} and m_q differ by a prefactor $N^{1/2}$, so clearly the cutoff function must have the form:

$$v(k,N) \simeq Nw(k/\sqrt{N}),$$
(3.10)

where w(x) is a universal (independent of N) cutoff function having moments equal to A_q :

$$A_q = \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}x \, w(x) x^q. \tag{3.11}$$

Therefore, the leading correction to the degree distribution for a large but finite BA tree network is

$$\Pi(k,N) = \Pi_{BA}(k)w\left(\frac{k}{\sqrt{N}}\right).$$
(3.12)

The exponent $\alpha = 1/2$ stemming from this equation agrees with the result for trees presented in Table 3.1. The function w(x) can be found in two ways. First, we can evaluate numerically Eq. (3.3) for some large N and then rescale variables according to Eq. (3.10). Second, it can be obtained analytically by reconstructing it from the moments A_q , which express through the coefficients $B_{q,q+1}$. Without going into the details we quote the result for the moments A_q [62]:

$$A_q = \frac{(2+q)^2 q!}{\Gamma((3+q)/2)}.$$
(3.13)

Using the asymptotic behavior of Eq. (3.13) we can infer the form of the cutoff function w(x) for large values of the argument:

$$\ln A_q \approx \frac{1}{2}q \ln q. \tag{3.14}$$

Let us now compare Eq. (3.14) with the behavior of moments I_q of the function exp $[-(x/\sigma)^{\rho}]$:

$$I_q = \int_0^\infty x^q \exp\left[-(x/\sigma)^\rho\right] \mathrm{d}x = \frac{\sigma^{q+1}}{\rho} \Gamma\left(\frac{q+1}{\rho}\right).$$
(3.15)

For large q the leading term of $\ln I_q \approx (q \ln q)/\rho$ with $\rho = 2$ is the same as in Eq. (3.14), i. e. the tail of w(x) defined by its higher moments falls like a Gaussian. The parameter σ is found by comparing sub-leading terms in I_q and A_q . The value $\sigma = 2$ obtained in this way will be confirmed below by a direct calculation of w(x). To this end we define a generating function:

$$M(z) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} A_q \frac{z^q}{q!}.$$
(3.16)

Comparing this definition with Eq. (3.11) we see that $M(z) = \int_0^\infty \exp(zx)w(x)dx$ so that

$$M(-z) = \int_0^\infty \exp(-zx)w(x) \,dx$$
 (3.17)

is the Laplace transform of w(x). Therefore w(x) is given by the inverse Laplace transform of M(z) or, equivalently, by the Fourier transform of M(-iz):

$$w(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} dz \, e^{zx} M(-z) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dz \, e^{izx} M(-iz).$$
(3.18)

Using the explicit form of coefficients A_q we get

$$M(z) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2+q)\Gamma(q+3)}{\Gamma(q+2)\Gamma((3+q)/2)} z^q.$$
(3.19)

This series has an infinite radius of convergence. The function M(z) given by Eq. (3.19) is a special case of a more general power series:

$$M(z) = \mathcal{N}\sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \frac{(aq+b)\Gamma(q+\xi)}{\Gamma(q+\zeta)\Gamma(\chi q+\psi)} z^q,$$
(3.20)

belonging to the class of so called Fox-Wright Ψ functions [68, 69]. In [62] it has been shown that its inverse Fourier transform, that is w(x), can be expressed through a combination of auxiliary functions $\tilde{f}_{\chi,\psi,\xi,\zeta}(x)$. In general, they are defined as follows:

$$\tilde{f}_{\chi,\psi,\xi,\zeta}(x) = \sum_{i} \operatorname{res}_{s_i} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\xi - s)\Gamma(1 - s)}{\Gamma(\zeta - s)\Gamma(\psi - \chi s)} x^{s - 1} \right]_{s = s_i},$$
(3.21)

where the sum runs over all points s_i at which either $\Gamma(1-s)$ or $\Gamma(\xi-s)$ has a pole. The above formula simplifies for ξ, ζ being positive integers m, n:

$$\tilde{f}_{\chi,\psi,m,n}(x) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} (-x)^q \frac{(m-2-q)(m-3-q)\cdots(n-1-q)}{\Gamma(\psi-\chi-\chi q)q!}.$$
(3.22)

The final formula for w(x) for arbitrary χ, ψ, ξ, ζ reads

$$w(x) = \mathcal{N}\left(ax\tilde{f}_{\chi,\psi-\chi,\xi-1,\zeta-1}(x) + (b-a)\tilde{f}_{\chi,\psi,\xi,\zeta}(x)\right),\tag{3.23}$$

where \tilde{f} is given either by Eq. (3.22) or by more general Eq. (3.21). In our case, which corresponds to $\mathcal{N} = 1, a = 1, b = 2, \chi = 1/2, \psi = 3/2, \xi = 3, \zeta = 2$, the function w(x) is given by

$$w(x) = x\tilde{f}_{1/2,1,2,1}(x) + \tilde{f}_{1/2,3/2,3,2}(x) = \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-x)^q}{q!} \left[\frac{-qx}{\Gamma(1/2 - q/2)} + \frac{1 - q}{\Gamma(1 - q/2)} \right].$$
 (3.24)

After some algebraic manipulations we get the function w(x) expressed as an infinite series:

$$w(x) = 1 - \frac{4}{\sqrt{\pi}} \sum_{q=1}^{\infty} x^{2q+1} \frac{(-1)^q q^2}{q! 2^{2q} (2q+1)}.$$
(3.25)

One can check that it corresponds to a Taylor expansion of the result given in [66]:

$$w(x) = \operatorname{erfc}(x/2) + \frac{2x + x^3}{\sqrt{4\pi}} e^{-x^2/4},$$
(3.26)

where $\operatorname{erfc}(z)$ is the complementary error function. The approximate result of Ref. [70] is close to this exact formula. The series in Eq. (3.25) is rapidly convergent, and if truncated at some q_{\max} , can be used in numerical calculations. One sees that the cutoff is indeed of a Gaussian type, with the variance $\sigma^2 = 4$ in agreement with the asymptotic behavior of A_q discussed above.

These calculations can be easily extended to the case of an arbitrary initial graph. For example, if we assume that at the beginning we have a complete graph with n_0 nodes, after repeating all the steps of calculations, we will obtain the following formula for the moments:

$$A_q = \frac{\Gamma(1+n_0-\omega)}{\Gamma(n_0+3/2-\omega+q/2)} \left[\frac{\Gamma(4+q)}{2(q+1)} + \frac{m_0(n_0)\Gamma(2+n_0+q)}{\Gamma(n_0+2)} \right] \approx \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}q\ln q + O(q)\right), \quad (3.27)$$



Figure 3.1: Plots of the cutoff function w(x) calculated from Eq. (3.28) for the BA model without initial attractiveness, for the initial graph with $n_0 = 3$ (black lower line) and 5 nodes (black upper line) agree very well with w(x) obtained from averaged degree distribution for 2×10^4 generated networks of size $N = 10^4$ (gray lines).

with $\omega = n_0(3 - n_0)/2$ and the zero-th moment $m_0(n_0) = (n_0 + 1)n_0/2$ being just the number of links in the initial graph. This allows us to infer the asymptotic behavior of w(x) which is the same as for $n_0 = 2$. Therefore, the degree distribution for the BA tree model without initial attractiveness has always a Gaussian cutoff whose position scales as $\sim N^{1/2}$. The full expression for w(x) takes the form:

$$w(x) = \Gamma(1 + n_0 - \omega) \left[\frac{1}{2} \tilde{f}_{\frac{1}{2}, n_0 + \frac{3}{2} - \omega, 4, 2}(x) + \frac{m_0(n_0)}{\Gamma(n_0 + 2)} \tilde{f}_{\frac{1}{2}, n_0 + \frac{3}{2} - \omega, 2 + n_0, 1}(x) \right].$$
 (3.28)

In figure 3.1 we have plotted w(x) calculated from Eq. (3.28) together with the results of Monte Carlo simulations for finite-size networks. One readily sees that w(x) strongly depends on the size of the seed graph n_0 . This sensitivity to the initial conditions has just been reported in [66] as well as in Ref. [71] where another quantity has been measured.

Let us go now to the case of preferential attachment kernel $k + a_0$, that is to the model with initial attractiveness $a_0 > -1$. From Eq. (2.66) we know that $\Pi_{\infty}(k) \sim k^{-\gamma}$ with the exponent $\gamma = 3 + a_0$. Like we said, the model is equivalent to the growing network with re-direction (GNR model), described in previous chapter, with the choice of the parameter $r = 1/(a_0 + 2)$. In all numerical simulations showed in this section the GNR model is used. On the other hand, in analytical calculations we shall follow the procedure, which we describe above for the pure BA model. Assuming that we start from the dimer configuration, using the recursion formula for $N_k(N)$ we get an equation for the moments $m_q(N)$ which can be solved in the form which involves some (yet) unknown coefficients $B_{q,q+1}$:

$$m_q(N) = \frac{1}{\Gamma\left(N - 1 + \frac{a_0}{2+a_0}\right)(N-1)} \sum_{i=0}^{q+1} B_{qi} \frac{\Gamma\left(N + \frac{a_0+i}{2+a_0}\right)}{\Gamma\left(2 + \frac{a_0+i}{2+a_0}\right)}.$$
(3.29)

For large but finite N it simplifies to

$$m_q(N) \simeq N^{\frac{q+1}{2+a_0}} A_q,$$
 (3.30)

with $A_q = B_{q,q+1}/\Gamma\left[2 + \frac{a_0 + q + 1}{2 + a_0}\right]$. Therefore, the function v(k, N) obeys the following scaling rule: $v(k, N) \to Nw\left(k/N^{\frac{1}{2 + a_0}}\right),$ (3.31)

where the function w(x) has now moments A_q depending on a_0 . Equation (3.31) indicates that the cutoff scales as $N^{1/(\gamma-1)}$ where $\gamma = 3 + a_0$ is the exponent in the power law for $\Pi_{\infty}(k)$. This is in agreement

with the result presented in table 3.1. For given N, the cutoff decreases when the exponent γ increases. Practically, this implies that the power law in the degree distribution can hardly be seen for $\gamma > 4$ because even for large networks with $N = 10^6$ nodes the cutoff corresponds to the value of $k_{\text{max}} \sim 100$ and the power-law extends maximally over 1 - 2 decades in k. This partially explains the fact why S-F networks with γ above 4 are practically never encountered [2].

The moments A_q can be found:

$$A_q = 2 \frac{\Gamma\left(1 + \frac{a_0}{2+a_0}\right)}{\Gamma(5+2a_0)} \frac{\left[6(q+2) + a_0(13+4a_0+3q)\right]\Gamma\left(4+2a_0+q\right)}{(1+q)\Gamma\left(\frac{5+3a_0+q}{2+a_0}\right)}.$$
(3.32)

The equation (3.32) is much more complicated than Eq. (3.13) but it reduces to it for $a_0 = 0$. The leading term of A_q is

$$\ln A_q \approx \frac{1+a_0}{2+a_0} q \ln q.$$
 (3.33)

Comparing this to Eq. (3.15) as it has been done before, one sees that for large x the function w(x) decays like exp $[-(x/\sigma)^{\rho}]$ with

$$\rho = \frac{2+a_0}{1+a_0} = \frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma-2}.$$
(3.34)

This agrees very well with numerical results. The cutoff for $\gamma \neq 3$ is no longer Gaussian. For $2 < \gamma < 4$, as often found in real networks, ρ is always greater than 1.5 and therefore the finite-size cutoff cannot be approximated by a pure exponential decay, observed in some networks [2]. Exponential cutoffs found in such networks probably have different origin [72]. The formula for M(z) is still given by Eq. (3.20) with the parameters a, b, \ldots expressed through a_0 . The cutoff function w(x) is given by Eq. (3.23). For instance, for $a_0 = -1/2$ which corresponds to $\gamma = 2.5$ we get

$$w(x) = \frac{\Gamma(2/3)}{3} \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-x)^q}{q!} \left[x \frac{-9q}{2\Gamma(1-2q/3)} + \frac{2-2q}{\Gamma(5/3-2q/3)} \right].$$
(3.35)

In Fig. 3.2 we plot w(x) for $a_0 = -1/2$, 0 and 1. For numerical calculations all series have been truncated. The truncation error is less than 10^{-4} in the plotted area. The results show that the curves become more flat when a_0 increases and agree well with w(x) obtained in simulations of finite-size networks.

The initial graph has a great influence on the functional form of w(x). We do not consider here the dependence on the size n_0 of the seed graph, but one can show that asymptotic properties of the cutoff function are insensitive to n_0 and therefore for x being sufficiently large, $w(x) \sim \exp\left[-(x/\sigma)^{\rho}\right]$ depends only on a_0 , i. e. only on the exponent γ in the power-law $\Pi(k) \sim k^{-\gamma}$.

So far we have considered the model with m = 1, restricting ourselves to the case when graphs are essentially trees and possible cycles can only come from the seed graph. The general case m > 1 is much more complicated. Each of m proper links of a newly introduced node has to be connected to one of N preexisting nodes according to the preferential attachment rule. However, since multiple links are not allowed, the nodes to which links have been connected on this step have to be excluded from the set of nodes available for further linking. Thus, when a new proper link of a node is introduced, the probabilities of attaching it to one of the preexisting nodes are different depending on whether the link is the first, second, etc., of m. The rate equation for $N_k(N)$ can still be obtained in this case, but its structure is very involved. For example, for m = 2 and $n_0 = 3$ (triangle as a seed graph) the full rate equation for $N_k(N)$ reads:

$$N_{k}(N+1) = N_{k}(N) + \delta_{k,2} + \frac{1}{4N-6} \left[(k-1) \left(1 - \frac{k-1}{4N-5-k} + S_{N} \right) N_{k-1}(N) - k \left(1 - \frac{k}{4N-6-k} + S_{N} \right) N_{k}(N) \right], \quad (3.36)$$

where S_N denotes the auxiliary quantity:

$$S_N = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{kN_k(N)}{4N - 6 - k}.$$
(3.37)

Due to the presence of the S_N term, Eq. (3.36) is nonlinear in N_k , and contains k in denominators. This makes impossible to apply our method in a straightforward way to the exact equation. In this case the



Figure 3.2: Plots of w(x) calculated from Eq. (3.23) for $a_0 = -0.5$, 0 and 1 (solid lines from top to bottom) which correspond to $\gamma = 2.5, 3$ and 4, respectively. The curves become flat with increasing a_0 . The thick gray lines are w(x) obtained from averaged degree distribution for 2×10^4 generated networks of size $N = 10^4$. The tails decay as $\exp(-x^{\rho})$ with $\rho = 3, 2, 3/2$, respectively, in agreement with numerical findings.

approximations are needed. The equations for m > 2 are even more complicated because of increasing number of possible ways of distributing m links at each time step.

We can, however, make the following approximation. When the total number of links L is large, the probability that at each step we pick up two or more links pointing onto the same node is small. When the size n_0 of the initial graph is much larger than m, this condition is fulfilled from the beginning and we expect that this approximation should work good. Within this approximation, the rate equation takes the form:

$$N_k(N+1) = N_k(N) + \delta_{k,m} + \frac{k-1}{2(N-\omega)}N_{k-1}(N) - \frac{k}{2(N-\omega)}N_k(N).$$
(3.38)

The Kroenecker delta stands for the addition of one node with m links at each time step. The remaining terms give the probability of preferential attachment like in Eq. (3.1). The denominators must give the normalization $\sum_{k} kN_k(N) = 2L$. Assuming that we start from a complete graph with n_0 nodes, we get the number of links $L = m(N - \omega)$ with

$$\omega = n_0 (2m + 1 - n_0) / (2m). \tag{3.39}$$

The factor m coming from 2L in the denominator cancels out with m coming from m possibilities of choosing links at each step. The choice of the same name " ω " above, as in Eq. (3.28) is not accidental. In fact, the cutoff function w(x) is now given by a very similar formula:

$$w(x) = \Gamma(1+n_0-\omega) \left[\frac{1}{\Gamma(m+2)} \tilde{f}_{\frac{1}{2},n_0+\frac{3}{2}-\omega,3+m,2}(x) + \frac{m_0(n_0)}{\Gamma(n_0+2)} \tilde{f}_{\frac{1}{2},n_0+\frac{3}{2}-\omega,2+n_0,1}(x) \right],$$
(3.40)

with $m_0(n_0) = n_0(n_0+1)/(m+1)$, which takes the form of Eq. (3.28) for m = 1. Thus the same scaling $k_{\text{max}} \sim N^{1/2}$ holds also here.

Like before, we expect some dependence on the initial graph, but as far as the asymptotic properties of w(x) are concerned the dependence should be negligible. Therefore, one should take the simplest possible initial configuration. The most natural choice is the complete graph with $n_0 = m + 1$ because then $\Pi(k) = 0$ for all k < m at each step of the growth process. However, one should remember that the approximation used here works well only for $m \ll n_0$ because Eq. (3.38) with ω given by Eq. (3.39) approximates reasonably the full rate equation only if $m \ll N$ at each stage of the network growth.

In figure 3.3 we compare our approximate analytical solution with Monte Carlo simulations of BA networks initiated from complete graphs with different n_0 . One can see a small deviation between the



Figure 3.3: The function w(x) for m = 2 and for $n_0 = 3, 7, 10$ and 15 (curves from the flattest to the most peaked). The agreement between the analytical solution and the results of computer simulations is not as good as before due to approximate character of the solved equation. The experimental points are obtained for N = 4000. The dip at about x = 1 and the peak at about x = 2 especially pronounced in the case of larger seed graphs mean that much more nodes with high degrees is present than it would be expected for the asymptotic power-law behavior of $\Pi_{\infty}(k)$.

analytical and numerical curves. The largest difference is for $n_0 = 3$ and the smallest for $n_0 = 15$, confirming our earlier conclusion that the approximation is better for larger seed graphs. The asymptotic form of $w(x) \sim \exp(-x^2/4)$ is the same as for growing BA trees, regardless of how many new nodes m we add per one time step.

3.1.3 Numerical simulations of equilibrated networks

We have performed extensive numerical simulations of various networks to cross-check analytic results for the scaling of the cutoff function. The results for growing networks have been just presented in the previous section. As we saw, they were in a very good agreement with theoretical predictions, and also consistent with earlier results presented in table 3.1. Now we shall describe results of the numerical computation of the cutoff for equilibrated graphs. We used the Monte Carlo generator described in Section 2.1.5 and in Ref. [53]. It performs a weighted random walk in the configuration space of the canonical ensemble. Each elementary step of the random walk is done using the T-rewiring and accepted with the Metropolis probability. We simulated three ensembles: equilibrated trees, equilibrated simple graphs, and equilibrated degenerated graphs. In all the cases we used basically the same algorithm except that in the first one we rejected rewirings violating the tree structure by introducing a cycle; in the second we rejected moves leading to multiple- or self-connections. This resulted in lowering the acceptance rate and algorithm efficiency, especially for tree graphs, in which case we had to extend the simulation time appropriately.

In simulation of trees, as an initial configuration we chosen a GNR network with $a_0 = \gamma - 3$ adjusted to have the desired value of the exponent γ in the tail of the node degree distribution. The asymptotic degree distribution, given by Eq. (2.66), has $\langle k \rangle = 2$ for infinite GNR trees as it should². In order to preserve this distribution in the process of homogenization we had to set the ratio-weight function w(k)according to Eqs. (2.49) and (2.59):

$$w(k) = \frac{k(k+a_0)}{k+3+2a_0}.$$
(3.41)

This choice ensures that the mean value of the degree distribution stays at its "critical" value equal to $\bar{k} = 2L/N \approx 2$ for trees. For densities of links below the critical one, one would observe an exponential

²Since L = N - 1, the average degree is in fact 2 - 2/N but it converges fast to the asymptotic result.

suppression of the degree distribution for large k, and for the average degree above two, the scale-free behavior would be disturbed by the surplus of highly connected nodes, or even by a condensation of links at some singular node. We simulated ensembles for three exponents $\gamma = 2.5$, 3 and 3.5 for which the scaling exponent α should be 0.667, 0.5 and 0.4, respectively. For each of them we took trees of two different sizes N = 1000 and N = 2000, and for each we made between four and six independent runs in order to estimate errors by means of the standard Jackknife method [73]. We measured the degree distribution as well as a cumulative degree distribution (c.d.d.) defined as

$$P(k) = \sum_{q=k}^{\infty} \Pi(q).$$
(3.42)

Because the degree distribution has the power-law tail $\Pi(k) \sim k^{-\gamma}$, the corresponding cumulative distribution behaves as $P(k) \sim k^{-\gamma+1}$. Any cutoff effects should be clearly visible also in P(k). The advantage of using the cumulative distribution is that one does not need to make binning to reduce statistical errors. One makes a rank plot instead. From Eq. (2.66) we get the following formula for theoretical P(k) for infinite graphs:

$$P_{\infty}(k) = \frac{\Gamma(3+2a_0)\Gamma(k+a_0)}{\Gamma(1+a_0)\Gamma(2+2a_0+k)}.$$
(3.43)

For any large but finite network we expect, similarly as in section 3.1.2, some cutoff so that $P(k) \approx P_{\infty}(k)V(k/N^{\alpha})$. Here V(x) would be some universal function. If it is so, we should observe a collapse of curves $P_{\exp}(x)/P_{\infty}(x)$ plotted in the rescaled variable $x = k/N^{\alpha}$. In figure 3.4 we see that such a collapse indeed takes place for $\gamma = 3$ and 2.5. This means that theoretical values of α (see table 3.1) agree very well with the experiment. However, for $\gamma = 3.5$ the collapse is much better for $\alpha = 0.55 \pm 0.03$ than for the theoretically predicted value 0.4. This means that there are more nodes with high degrees than it is expected. In [65] it has been suggested, that in the case of disassortative networks like equilibrated trees presented here, the cutoff might be higher than $1/(\gamma - 1)$. On the other hand, the assortativity coefficient \mathcal{A} increases³ with γ so the assortativity is bigger for $\gamma = 3.5$ than for 2.5 where we observe a perfect agreement. So it is not clear whether indeed the argument of Ref. [65] is entirely correct.

Let us now discuss equilibrated simple graphs. We will generate weighted graphs with the degree distribution (2.66). In our Monte Carlo generator (see Sect. 2.1.5) we have to set the weight from Eq. (2.59) to

$$w(k) = \frac{(k+1)(k+a_0)}{k+3+2a_0},$$
(3.44)

in order to get the stationary distribution given by Eq. (2.66) in the limit of $N \to \infty$. As before, we must keep the average degree equal to 2, which is the mean value of the distribution (2.66). As the initial graph we have chosen again a GNR tree, because from the very beginning it has the correct degree distribution equal to that produced by the graph rewiring process in the course of thermalization. The final results are the same when one begins with any random graph with N = L but the convergence to the asymptotic distribution might be in this case much slower.

We simulated four ensembles: with $\gamma = 3, 3.5, 2.5$ and 2.1, each of them for three sizes N = 2000, 4000and 8000. The acceptance rate of the algorithm was better than in case of trees and thus we were able to examine larger systems. Before starting simulations we suspected that the data would collapse to a scaling function V(x) better than for trees, because of less structural constraints. Surprisingly, as we see in figure 3.5, the collapse is worse and moreover, it takes place for different values of α than those give in table 3.1 and predicted in either [63] or [64]. In particular, for $\gamma = 3$ where one expects $\alpha = 1/2$, we measured 0.38 ± 0.02 . For the case $\gamma = 3.5$ we found that the measured value 0.40 ± 0.02 agrees with [64] which predicts $\alpha = 0.4$, while for $\gamma = 2.5$, $\alpha = 0.35 \pm 0.03$ is closer to the result of [63] which predicts $\alpha = 0.4$. For $\gamma = 2.1$ (not shown in the picture) we found $\alpha = 0.33 \pm 0.01$, which also agrees quite well with [63]. To summarize, the numerical results presented in this section do not give a conclusive evidence which of the theoretical predictions, [63] or [64], for the scaling exponent α of the cutoff is better. Actually, for $\gamma > 3$ the numerical value is closer to that of [64] while for $2 < \gamma < 3$ to that of [63]. One should, however, keep in mind that the numerical results are based on relatively small systems. For such networks, subleading finite-size corrections may be important and may interfere with the leading scaling behavior $k_{\rm max} \sim N^{\alpha}$. The question how α depends on γ for equilibrated S-F networks remains open.

Let us now discuss Monte Carlo results for pseudographs. As before we simulated ensembles for $\gamma = 2.5, 3$ and 3.5, for N = 1000, 2000, 4000. The weight function w(k) is the same as in Eq. (3.44).

³It can be shown that for the scale-free degree distribution (2.66), $Tr\epsilon$ grows with increasing γ and so grows the coefficient A.



Figure 3.4: Top: plots of experimentally found cutoff function V(k, N) for equilibrated trees, plotted in the rescaled variable $x = k/N^{\alpha}$. The curves for N = 1000 and N = 2000 collapse nicely for theoretical values of the cutoff exponent α for the first two plots ($\gamma = 3$ and 2.5) but significant difference is observed for $\gamma = 3.5$. A better collapse has been found for $\alpha = 0.55 \pm 0.03$ (inset) than for theoretical value 0.4. Bottom: plots of rescaled cumulative degree distributions $N^{\alpha(\gamma-1)}P(x)$ versus x.



Figure 3.5: Top: plots of experimentally found cutoff function V(x) in the rescaled variable $x = k/N^{\alpha}$ for equilibrated graphs of different sizes, for $\gamma = 2.5$, 3 and 3.5. Top: plots for α chosen to obtain the best collapse of data (by-eye fit). Bottom: the same data but for α predicted in papers [63] and [64] (the same result for both) for $\gamma = 3$, in [63] for $\gamma = 3.5$ and in [64] for $\gamma = 2.5$, in order to show the discrepancy with numerical simulations.



Figure 3.6: Experimentally found V(x) for equilibrated pseudographs of different sizes, for $\gamma = 2.5, 3$ and 3.5. The exponent α shown in figures gives the best collapse of curves.

In figure 3.6 we show the function V(x) obtained from rescaled numerical data: $x = k/N^{\alpha}$. The exponent α has been chosen in order to obtain the best overlap of the data for different N. We see that for pseudographs the numerical results are consistent with theoretical predictions. In table 3.1 we have $\alpha = 1/2$ for $\gamma = 3$, 3.5 and 2/3 for $\gamma = 2.5$, while the corresponding exponents determined experimentally are 0.55 ± 0.03 , 0.51 ± 0.02 and 0.66 ± 0.02 , respectively. For $\gamma = 3$ the experimental value deviates a bit from the theoretical ones, while for the two remaining values of γ the agreement is perfect. It is not surprising that experimental results for pseudographs exhibit the best agreement with theory, since they have almost no constraints on the structure of graph. In fact, they may be effectively reduced to the balls-in-boxes model [36], which shall be discussed in next section.

3.2 Dynamics on networks

So far we have discussed networks as purely geometrical objects. However, many networks represent not only relationships between nodes but often they are viewed as a backbone of the complex system on which signals, matter, or other degrees of freedom can propagate. For example, networks are a convenient way of thinking about flows, transport, signal propagation, and information spreading between different objects. In other words, one is often interested in dynamics of some degrees of freedom which reside on the network and undergo some dynamical evolution transmitted by the structure of the network. A good example is the air transportation network with airports as nodes and flight connections as links. The dynamical variable in this case is the number of passengers or goods. The flow is proportional to the intensity of the air traffic between airports. Another example is the voter model [74, 75] which is used to mimic an opinion formation among different individuals. The quantity which is this case "transmitted" on the network of acquaintance relations is the opinion. The distribution of opinions on the network is represented by discrete variables defined on nodes. In the simplest version, nodes change their state by copying the state of a randomly chosen neighbor. There are many other examples: the traffic of data packets in the Internet [76], epidemic spreading ("ill" nodes infect other nodes) [77, 78, 79], synchronization of coupled oscillators [80, 81, 82], etc.

It is worth mentioning, that the observed dynamical properties in models defined on scale-free networks are often quite different from those on regular lattices. It is so because S-F networks have two important properties mentioned at the beginning of this thesis: the distance between every pair of nodes is relatively small, and the power law in the degree distribution leads to the emergence of nodes with a high number of connections. This inhomogeneity in the degree distribution seems to play a very important role. In this chapter we shall examine the influence of the node degree inhomogeneity on the dynamics of systems defined on networks. We shall use a very simple model, called zero-range process. This model is easy to handle analytically. For example, one can show that its steady state has a simple factorized form which makes it possible to solve the statics of the model analytically. Despite its simplicity, the model exhibits a very interesting behavior, e.g. it has a phase transition between condensed and uncondensed state.

In the first subsection we shall define a zero-range process and review its basic properties. In particular, we shall discuss the criterion for the condensation on homogeneous and inhomogeneous networks. Next, we shall discuss in details a derivation of most important results in the statistical ensemble approach. In subsection 3 we shall study the dynamics of the condensate. We shall describe how the condensate is formed from a diluted state and how it behaves once it is formed. For example, we shall ask how much time the condensate needs to disappear from the node it occupies. In the last subsection we shall show how to obtain scale-free fluctuations in the inhomogeneous system.

3.2.1 Zero-range process

The zero-range process (ZRP) is a particularly simple diffusive system which describes dynamics of balls (particles) on a given network. The balls hop from site to site on the network and the hopping rate depends only on the number of balls at that site from which the ball hops. Despite its simplicity the model exhibits many interesting properties like phase separation, phase transition, long-range fluctuations and spontaneous symmetry breaking, observed in more complicated systems with mass transport. Therefore, it has attracted a great attention recently [83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88]. In comparison to more realistic models, it has one advantage: the steady state of the system is known exactly and it assumes a very simple, factorized form. It is worth to mention here that static properties of the model are the same as in the balls-in-boxes model [36, 89] developed earlier and successfully applied to explain such phenomena as for instance wealth condensation [90], emergence of the Hagedorn fireball in hadron physics [91, 92] or a collapse of random geometry in the quantum gravity [89, 93]. Although the statics of the zero-range

process is relatively well known, its dynamics, in case when it takes place in an inhomogeneous system, has not been yet so thoroughly studied.

We shall consider a zero-range process on a connected simple graph with N nodes and L links. Each node *i* of the graph is occupied by $m_i \ge 0$ identical balls and the total number of balls is fixed and equal to M. The system undergoes the following dynamics: balls hop from non-empty nodes with rate u(m), which depends only on the node occupation number m, to one of the nearest neighbors, chosen with equal probability. The function u(m) is any non-negative function defined for $m = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$. For a node which has k neighbors, the hopping rate per link emerging from this node is equal to u(m)/k since each link is chosen with equal probability 1/k.

It is easy to implement this type of dynamics on a computer. At each time step we pick N nodes at random. From each of these nodes, occupied by at least one ball, a ball is moved to a node chosen with equal probability from its k_i nearest neighbors. The move is accepted with probability proportional to $u(m_i)$, otherwise it is discarded. The jumping rate $u(m_i)$ must be properly normalized to be less than 1. With such a definition, one unit of time corresponds to one sweep of the system that is to N attempts of moving a ball.

The ZRP has a steady state. Following Ref. [94], we shall present here a short derivation for an arbitrary network having adjacency matrix A_{ij} . We are interested in the probability $P(m_1, \ldots, m_N)$ of finding the system in a particular state with given number of balls on each site. In the stationary state, this probability must be constant, as a result of balance between hopping into and out of the given configuration:

$$u(m_i)P(m_1,\ldots,m_N) = \left[\sum_{j\neq i} A_{ij} \frac{1}{k_j} u(m_j+1)P(\ldots,m_j+1,\ldots,m_i-1,\ldots)\right],$$
 (3.45)

for each node *i*. The sum over *j* includes only neighbors of node *i*, each of them gives the contribution $\propto 1/k_j$ since it has $k_j - 1$ other neighbors than *i*. Assume now that $P(m_1, \ldots, m_N)$ factorizes into some functions $\tilde{f}_i(m_i)$:

$$P(m_1, \dots, m_N) = \frac{1}{Z(N, M)} \prod_{i=1}^N \tilde{f}_i(m_i), \qquad (3.46)$$

where Z(N, M) is an appropriate normalization. Inserting this formula into Eq. (3.45) we have:

$$\sum_{j \neq i} A_{ij} \left[\frac{1}{k_j} u(m_j + 1) \tilde{f}_j(m_j + 1) \tilde{f}_i(m_i - 1) - \frac{1}{k_i} u(m_i) \tilde{f}_i(m_i) \tilde{f}_j(m_j) \right] = 0.$$
(3.47)

This equation is fulfilled only if each term of the sum over j vanishes separately:

$$\frac{1}{k_j}u(m_j+1)\frac{\tilde{f}_j(m_j+1)}{\tilde{f}_j(m_j)} = \frac{1}{k_i}u(m_i)\frac{\tilde{f}_i(m_i)}{\tilde{f}_i(m_i-1)}.$$
(3.48)

The left-hand side depends on m_j while the right-hand side on m_i . To be equal for any m_i and m_j they have to be a constant function, independent of m. Without loss of generality we can set it equal to one. We get:

$$\tilde{f}_i(m_i) = \frac{k_i}{u(m_i)} \tilde{f}_i(m_i - 1).$$
(3.49)

Iterating this equation we come to the formula for $\tilde{f}_i(m)$:

$$\tilde{f}_i(m) = k_i^{m_i} f(m_i),$$
(3.50)

where we have introduced the function f(m) which is independent of k_i and reads:

$$f(m) = \prod_{k=1}^{m} \frac{1}{u(k)}, \quad f(0) = 1.$$
(3.51)

The splitting into a site-dependent and a site-independent part is convenient when one considers regular graphs having all degrees k_i the same. The partition function $Z(N, M, \{k_i\})$ being a sum over all states m_1, \ldots, m_N has the form:

$$Z(N, M, \{k_i\}) = \sum_{m_1=0}^{M} \cdots \sum_{m_N=0}^{M} \delta_{\sum_{i=1}^{N} m_i, M} \prod_{i=1}^{N} f(m_i) k_i^{m_i}.$$
(3.52)

Here the Kronecker delta gives the conservation law of the total number of balls. For convenience we shall denote $Z(N, M, \{k_i\})$ of the original graph in short by Z(N, M), skipping the dependence on the sequence of degrees $\{k_i\}$. The partition function (3.52) encodes the whole information about static properties of the system. It depends only on the node degrees and a detailed structure of the graph has no meaning. As we shall see, also dynamical quantities, like the typical life-time of the condensate, are mainly characterized only by the degree sequence $\{k_i\}$, if the graph has a small diameter.

In order to study static and dynamic behavior of the ZRP it is convenient to define an effective distribution of balls $\pi_i(m)$, that is the probability that site *i* is occupied by *m* balls, averaged over all configurations: $\pi_i(m) = \langle \delta_{m,m_i} \rangle$. It can be calculated as follows:

$$\pi_i(m_i) = \sum_{m_1} \cdots \sum_{m_{i-1}} \sum_{m_{i+1}} \cdots \sum_{m_N} P(m_1, \dots, m_N) \ \delta_{\sum_{i=1}^N m_i, M} = \frac{Z_i(N-1, M-m_i)}{Z(N, M)} k_i^{m_i} f(m_i), \quad (3.53)$$

where $Z_i(N-1, M-m_i)$ denotes the partition function for $M-m_i$ balls occupying a graph consisting of N-1 nodes with degrees $\{k_1, \ldots, k_{i-1}, k_{i+1}, \ldots, k_N\}$. It is important not to think about Z_i as of partition function of the original graph with the *i*th node removed, but rather as of a new graph built of the old sequence of degrees without k_i . We define also the mean occupation probability as the average over all nodes:

$$\pi(m) = (1/N) \sum_{i} \pi_i(m).$$
(3.54)

It is worth mentioning that for graph with $k_1 = \cdots = k_N \equiv k = \text{const}$, that is for a k-regular graph, the above formulas reduce to that known from the balls-in-boxes model and the distribution $\pi_i(m) = \pi(m)$ is the same for all nodes. We will see below that sometimes $\pi(m)$ is indeed equal to f(m). Therefore we shall call f(m) "bare" occupation probability.

The partition function can be calculated recursively:

$$Z(N, M, \{k_1, \dots, k_N\}) = \sum_{m_N=0}^M \tilde{f}_N(m_N) \sum_{m_1, \dots, m_{N-1}} \delta_{\sum_{i=1}^{N-1} m_i, M-m_N} \prod_{i=1}^{N-1} \tilde{f}_i(m_i)$$
$$= \sum_{m_N=0}^M \tilde{f}_N(m_N) Z_N(N-1, M-m_N) = \sum_{m=0}^M \tilde{f}_N(m) Z(N-1, M-m, \{k_1, \dots, k_{N-1}\}).$$
(3.55)

For N = 1 the partition function reads simply $Z(1, M, k_1) = \tilde{f}_1(M)$. The formula (3.55) can serve for numerical calculations of the partition function for systems of order few hundreds nodes or more. Using it together with Eq. (3.53) we can compute the distribution of balls in a more efficient way that by Monte Carlo simulations.

The knowledge of the partition function allows one to calculate correlation functions of higher order. For small systems we can calculate Z(N, M) exactly from Eq. (3.55), for large systems it is better to use the definition (3.53) which allows for some approximations. In the thermodynamical limit of $N \to \infty$ it is therefore convenient to introduce the density of balls $\rho \equiv M/N$ and to study the limit of fixed ρ while increasing N. As we shall see below, for large systems, i.e. for N, M large, ρ becomes a relevant parameter of the model.

The dynamical and static properties of the ZRP depend strongly on the function u(m) and the degree sequence $\{k_i\}$. For the model described here we can distinguish two classes of systems. From now on, by a **homogeneous system**⁴ we shall understand the network with all k_i 's being equal. It is true for instance for a complete graph, one-dimensional closed chain or a k-regular random graph. In contrast, an **inhomogeneous system** has a non-trivial degree sequence, with at least one degree different from others. This is the case for random graphs, star graphs and scale-free networks.

3.2.2 Condensation in the ZRP

The reason why zero-range processes are so interesting is that under some conditions one observes a phenomenon of "condensation" in the steady state. In this phenomenon, a single node takes a finite fraction of all balls present in the system. The effect does not disappear in the thermodynamic limit. The condensation can be observed in the occupation distribution $\pi(m)$ as a separated peak, whose position moves almost linearly with the system size. Unlike the Bose-Einstein condensation which takes place in

 $^{^{4}}$ We mentioned before, that equilibrated networks were sometimes called "homogeneous networks". In this paper, however, we shall always use the term "homogeneous" while speaking about networks with equal degrees.

the momentum space, the above effect appears in the real space. Therefore it mimics such processes like the mass transport [83], condensation of links in complex networks [35, 84] or phase separation [95, 96].

The condition for the emergence of the condensation in homogeneous systems is well known [67, 94]. On the other hand, until now only a few inhomogeneous systems have been examined [97, 98, 99]. In this section we summarize some results and discuss methods of derivations for the existence of condensate. We begin with homogeneous systems and then we present our recent results for graphs with inhomogeneous degrees.

Homogeneous systems. For k-regular connected simple graphs, which we shall consider in this section, the static properties of the steady state depend only of the hopping rate u(m), the number of nodes N and the number of balls M, and are independent of the details of graph topology. The partition function assumes the form:

$$Z(N,M) = \sum_{m_1=0}^{M} \cdots \sum_{m_N=0}^{M} \delta_{\sum_{i=1}^{N} m_i,M} \prod_{i=1}^{N} f(m_i).$$
(3.56)

The factor k^M has been dropped since it is constant for given k and M. Similarly, for the distribution of balls we have

$$\pi(m) = \frac{Z(N-1, M-m)}{Z(N, M)} f(m).$$
(3.57)

From the definition (3.56) of Z(N, M) we can obtain another formula for the distribution of balls:

$$\pi(m) = N^{-1} f(m) \frac{\partial \ln Z(N, M)}{\partial f(m)}, \qquad (3.58)$$

and hence $\pi(m)$ is proportional to the derivative of the "free energy" $\ln Z$ and the bare occupation probability f(m). Notice a similarity between this formula and that of Eq. (2.35) for the degree distribution of equilibrated graphs. As we will see, indeed, there is a close relation of the ZRP and equilibrated pseudographs.

Now we shall study, how the behavior of u(m) influences on the emergence of condensation. From Eq. (3.49) we see that for homogeneous system there is a correspondence between the hop rate u(m) and the function f(m):

$$u(m) = f(m-1)/f(m) \iff f(m) = f(m-1)/u(m),$$
 (3.59)

and in many cases f(m) is more convenient, so we will stick to it below. Using the integral representation of Kronecker's delta we can rewrite the partition function as

$$Z(N,M) = \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} z^{-M-1} \left[F(z) \right]^N, \qquad (3.60)$$

where F(z) is an infinite series with coefficients given by f(m):

$$F(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} f(m) z^m.$$
 (3.61)

Denote the radius of convergence of this series by r (finite or infinite). The partition function (3.60) has the same form as the p.f. (2.31) for pseudographs, up to a factor depending only on N, L. Therefore, equilibrated pseudographs can be mapped onto a homogeneous system of balls in boxes with M = 2L. The degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ is then equivalent to the ball distribution $\pi(m)$. Therefore, many results presented below apply also to pseudographs from Sec. 2.1.4. In the thermodynamical limit, the integral (3.60) can be rewritten as

$$Z(N,M) \approx \oint \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{2\pi i} \exp\left[-N\left(\rho \ln z - \ln F(z)\right)\right],\tag{3.62}$$

and can be done using the saddle-point method:

$$Z(N,M) \approx \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi N G''(z_0)}} \frac{[F(z_0)]^N}{z_0^{M+1}},$$
(3.63)

where $G(z) = -\rho \ln z + \ln F(z)$ and the saddle point z_0 is determined by the condition $G'(z_0) = 0$, analogously to the case of pseudographs:

$$\rho = z_0 \frac{F'(z_0)}{F(z_0)}.$$
(3.64)

The saddle point solution (3.63) holds as long as the Eq. (3.64) has a real solution for z_0 . If not, the formula (3.63) cannot be trusted and in fact, as we will see, it breaks down in the condensed state. First, let us consider a situation when Eq. (3.63) has a real solution for z_0 . In this case the leading term in the free energy $\ln Z$ is given by $G(z_0)$. Differentiating this with respect to f(m) we obtain the distribution of balls:

$$\pi(m) = f(m) \frac{z_0^m}{F(z_0)}.$$
(3.65)

Hence, if $z_0 = 1$, $\pi(m) \propto f(m)$ which explains the name "bare occupation function" for f(m). One can directly see from the definition that F(z) is an increasing function of z. Similarly one can see that the right-hand side of Eq. (3.64) increases monotonically with z_0 as long as z_0 is smaller than the radius of convergence r. It means that z_0 increases when the density ρ increases. If the series (3.61) is convergent on the whole complex plane $(r \to \infty)$, the saddle point solution for $\pi(m)$ is valid for any density ρ . This happens only when $f(m+1)/f(m) \to 0$ for $m \to \infty$, which corresponds to $u(m) \to \infty$. In turn, this means that there exists an effective repulsive force between balls preventing them from occupying a single site. So in this case balls tend to distribute uniformly on the whole graph, regardless of the density of balls ρ . Consider now $u(m) \sim m^{\delta}$ for an arbitrary $\delta > 0$. Then f(m) is given by

$$f(m) \propto \frac{1}{(m!)^{\delta}},\tag{3.66}$$

and it is clearly seen from Eq. (3.65) that the distribution of balls falls faster than exponentially.

On the other hand, it is possible to choose f(m) so that F(z) has a finite radius of convergence. This situation happens when u(m) tends to a constant for $m \to \infty$. Because multiplying u(m) by a constant factor simply corresponds to rescaling the time axis, without loss of generality one can set $u(m) \to 1$ in the limit of large m. To be more specific, let us consider the case $u(m) = 1 + \frac{b}{m}$, for which we find the following formula for f(m) [100]:

$$f(m) = \frac{\Gamma(b+1)m!}{\Gamma(b+m+1)} \cong \frac{\Gamma(b+1)}{m^b},$$
(3.67)

which falls like a power of m for large m. In this case the series F(z) has a finite radius r = 1. We must consider now two cases: $b \leq 2$ and b > 2. For $b \leq 2$ the derivative F'(z) goes to infinity when z approaches one from below. But the ratio F'(z)/F(z) is finite for z < 1 and thus the density from Eq. (3.64) can be arbitrarily large. The saddle-point approximation works well:

$$\pi(m) \sim \frac{z_0^m}{m^b},\tag{3.68}$$

for all values of ρ . We see that in this case the distribution of balls falls off exponentially for large m. The case b > 2 is different because the ratio F'(z)/F(z) cannot grow above some critical ρ_c :

$$\rho_c = \frac{F'(1)}{F(1)} = \frac{\sum_m m f(m)}{\sum_m f(m)} = \frac{1}{b-2} < \infty,$$
(3.69)

at which Eq. (3.65) cease to hold for real values of z_0 . But of course we can put as many balls in the system as we want, so we can increase ρ above ρ_c . What happens then? At the critical point $\rho = \rho_c$, the distribution of balls is given by

$$\pi_c(m) = \frac{f(m)}{F(1)} \sim \frac{\Gamma(b+1)}{m^b},$$
(3.70)

in the thermodynamical limit. It has a finite-size cutoff for $N < \infty$ which scales as [67]

$$\sim N^{1/(b-1)}$$
 for $2 < b < 3$, (3.71)

$$\sim N^{1/2} \text{ for } b > 3,$$
 (3.72)

exactly like for the cutoff of the degree distribution for degenerated graphs. For $\rho > \rho_c$ the saddle-point equation is no longer valid. To understand what happens then, recall the Bose-Einstein condensation.

Below the critical temperature T_c , the fraction of particles occupying all energy levels above the ground state is equal to $(T/T_c)^{3/2}$ and it is less than one. The only way to keep the average number of particles fixed is to let them go into the lowest energy level which does not contribute to the partition function, which in the thermodynamic limit is given by the integral over energy [101]. The situation is a bit similar to the condensation of balls. Above the critical density some nodes take the surplus of balls, while the rest follows the critical distribution (3.70). In [102] one can find a complete proof. Here we only recall the main arguments [94] standing behind it. Assume that the system is deeply in the condensed phase, so that $M \gg N\rho_c$. Denote the excess of particles by $\Delta = M - \rho_c N$. The canonical weight of each configuration is

$$P(m_1, \dots, m_N) = f(m_1) \dots f(m_N) \sim \left(\prod_{i=1}^N m_i\right)^{-b}.$$
 (3.73)

Let us estimate the contribution to the partition function from states where the surplus of balls occupy one, or two nodes. The contribution to Eq. (3.73) from a single-site condensate is $N\Delta^{-b}$. From two-node condensation we however have $N(N-1)/2 \times (\Delta/2)^{-2b}$. Because $\Delta \approx M = \rho N$, we get for these two states:

$$N^{1-b}\rho^{-b}$$
 and $(N-1)N^{1-2b}2^{2b-1}\rho^{-2b}$, (3.74)

respectively. The second expression disappears faster in the thermodynamical limit, so we infer that the condensate emerges on a single node taking Δ balls on the average. One can consider also higher-nodes states but they disappear even faster when $N \to \infty$. The condensate is seen as a peak $\pi_{\text{cond}}(m-\Delta)$ in the distribution of balls. Since it occupies only one node, the area under the peak is equal to 1/N. Because in the remaining part of the system there are only $\rho_c N$ balls, the background of the distribution $\pi(m)$ is perfectly described by the saddle-point solution (3.70). The complete expression for $\pi(m)$ including the condensate reads

$$\pi(m) \approx \frac{\Gamma(b+1)}{m^b} + \pi_{\text{cond}} \left(m - (M - \rho_c N) \right).$$
 (3.75)

The form of $\pi_{\text{cond}}(m)$ has been investigated in [67] in the model with continuous masses m_i . In the model considered here one can take a quasi-continuous limit by letting $M \to \infty$ and rescaling u(m) properly. For 2 < b < 3, the peak is approximated by

$$\pi_{\text{cond}}(x) \cong N^{-b/(b-1)} V_b\left(\frac{x}{N^{1/(b-1)}}\right),$$
(3.76)

with $V_b(z)$ given by the integral:

$$V_b(z) = \int_{-i\infty}^{i\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}s}{2\pi i} e^{-zs + bs^{b-1}},$$
(3.77)

which falls as $|z|^{-b}$ for $z \to -\infty$ and faster than a Gaussian function for $z \to \infty$. On the other hand, for b > 3 in the vicinity of $m = \Delta$, the peak falls like a Gaussian:

$$\pi_{\rm cond}(x) \cong \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma^2 N^3}} \exp(-x^2/2\sigma^2 N),$$
(3.78)

with $\sigma^2 = \langle m^2 \rangle - \langle m \rangle^2$ being the variance of f(m). In both cases, the area under $\pi_{\text{cond}}(m)$ is equal to 1/N.

The picture we see now for b > 2 is the following. Below the critical density the distribution of balls is given by a power law suppressed additionally by an exponential prefactor. At the critical point this prefactor vanishes and we observe a pure power law, disturbed only by finite-size effects. Above the critical point, the condensate emerges at one node chosen at random (spontaneous symmetry breaking) from all nodes. The condensate does not need to occupy this particular site for the whole time. In fact, we will see that it performs a kind of random walk through the system, but the process of melting and rebuilding the condensate is fast in comparison to the mean occupation time. The condensate contains $M - \rho_c N$ balls on average.

At the end, let us mention the case $u(m) \to 0$ for large m. In this case f(m) increases fast with m and the series F(z) has a zero radius of convergence. The critical density ρ_c is zero and therefore the condensation takes place at any density $\rho > 0$. Balls attract so strong that almost all of them fall into a single node chosen at random.

In Fig. 3.7 we show $\pi(m)$ for the three different types of the hop functions f(m) discussed above, for various densities ρ . The data are obtained by means of the recursion formula (3.55) for the partition function and, if possible, compared with the saddle-point solution (3.65).



Figure 3.7: Plots of the distribution of balls $\pi(m)$ for a homogeneous system with various f(m), N, and ρ . Left: $f(m) \sim 1/m!$, N = 40, for $\rho = 0.5$ (diamonds), 1 (squares) and 2 (circles), no condensation. Middle: $f(m) \sim m^{-3}$, $\rho_c = 1$ and N = 400. For $\rho = 0.5$ (the left-most line) there is an exponential cutoff. At the critical density $\rho = \rho_c$ the power-law behavior is seen. Above ρ_c , the surplus of balls forms the condensate (the right-most line). The curves plotted with symbols are obtained by recurrential calculation of Z(N, M) from Eq. (3.55). Solid lines represent the saddle-point solution (3.65). Right: $f(m) \sim m!$, N = 40, for $\rho = 0.5, 1, 2$ (from left to right). The condensation is always present.

Inhomogeneous systems. Now we focus on inhomogeneous networks, whose degrees vary from node to node. It turns out [94, 97] that the effect of inhomogeneity is so strong that it completely dominates over the dependence on the hop rate u(m) as long as the latter does not change too fast with m. For simplicity we can assume u(m) = 1 and concentrate only on the effects coming from the inhomogeneity of degrees. Then, the zero-range process describes a gas of M indistinguishable and non-interacting balls randomly walking on the given network.

The most interesting case of graph with inhomogeneous degrees is of course the S-F network. It was studied in [97, 103] but because of its complicated structure, only very simple calculations of the static properties were possible. Here we decided to focus on the effect coming from the node with largest degree, say k_1 . To further simply considerations, we just imagine that the effect can be well simulated by assuming the identity of the remaining degrees. In effect we are led to consider an almost k-regular graph which has one node of degree k_1 bigger than the others which are of degree $k_2 = \cdots = k_N = k$ [99]. We shall call it a single-inhomogeneity graph.

To construct k-regular graphs and the single-inhomogeneity graph one can use various methods. For instance, one can start from a random graph with given number of vertices and links and rewire it until all nodes will have desired degrees. Another method of building a k-regular graph is to start from a complete graph with k + 1 nodes and build the desired graph successively adding nodes and links. The procedure depends on the parity of k. If k is odd, then the number of nodes has to be even because the number of links L = Nk/2 must be integer, otherwise the graph cannot be built. At each step we pick up k - 1 existing links and split them so that nodes being formerly joined by these links, have now "halves" of them. Then we introduce two new nodes i, j joined by a link. Finally, one half of "free ends" of previously split links is joined to the newly added node i, and the other half to j (Fig. 3.8a). In this way every node has now k neighbors. We repeat this process until the total number of nodes is equal to N. In case of even k, the algorithm is similar, but we add only one new node per time step, and split k/2 existing links (Fig. 3.8b). Sometimes, as a result of nodes' addition, multiple connections might arise. To prevent them, we discard such moves. For k much smaller than N, they are rare and the acceptance of the algorithm is almost 100%. We use the structure described in [53] to code the graphs.

A single-inhomogeneity graph with one node having degree $k_1 > k$ can be then obtained from a k-regular graph with N - 1 nodes by adding to it a new node and joining to it k_1 links coming from splitting $k_1/2$ randomly chosen links existing previously. If we get multiple connections, we discard this move and try again.

Before we calculate the partition function for a single-inhomogeneity graph it is convenient to calculate it for a k-regular graph. Because we set u(m) = 1 in this section, as mentioned before, hence also f(m) = 1. For a k-regular graph the partition function Z(N, M) from Eq. (3.52) is

$$Z_{\rm reg}(N,M) = \sum_{m_1=0}^{M} \cdots \sum_{m_N=0}^{M} \delta_{m_1+\dots+m_N,M} \ k^{\sum_i m_i} = k^M \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint dz \ z^{-M-1} \left[F(z)\right]^N, \tag{3.79}$$



Figure 3.8: The illustration of the method for generating k-regular graphs, based on addition of new nodes: a) for odd k (here k = 3), b) for even k (here k = 4).

where now F(z) reads

$$F(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{M} z^m = \frac{1}{1-z}.$$
(3.80)

Using the expansion:

$$(1-z)^{-N} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} {\binom{-N}{m}} (-z)^m = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} {\binom{N+m-1}{m}} z^m,$$
(3.81)

and Cauchy's theorem which selects only the term with m = M, we finally get an exact expression for the partition function of a k-regular graph:

$$Z_{\rm reg}(N,M) = k^M \binom{N+M-1}{M}.$$
(3.82)

The partition function for a graph with one irregular degree $k_1 > k$ has the form:

$$Z_{\rm inh}(N,M) = \sum_{m_1=0}^{M} (k_1)^{m_1} \sum_{m_2=0}^{M} \cdots \sum_{m_N=0}^{M} \delta_{M,m_1+\dots+m_N} k^{m_2+\dots+m_N}.$$
 (3.83)

The sum over m_2, \ldots, m_N is just the partition function $Z_{\text{reg}}(N-1, M-m_1)$ from Eq. (3.82). After changing the variable from m_1 to $j = M - m_1$, the formula (3.83) can be rewritten as

$$Z_{\rm inh}(N,M) = k_1^M \sum_{j=0}^M \alpha^j \binom{N+j-2}{j},$$
(3.84)

where $\alpha = k/k_1$ describes the level of "inhomogeneity". Introducing an auxiliary function

$$S(\alpha) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (-\alpha)^j \binom{-(N-1)}{j} = \frac{1}{(1-\alpha)^{N-1}},$$
(3.85)

we obtain the following expression:

$$Z_{\rm inh}(N,M) = k_1^M \left[(1-\alpha)^{1-N} - c(M) \right], \qquad (3.86)$$

where c(M) gives a correction for finite M. It tends to zero for $M \to \infty$:

$$c(M) = \sum_{j=M+1}^{\infty} \alpha^j \binom{N+j-2}{j}.$$
(3.87)

This correction can be however quite large for $k_1 \approx k$ because then $\alpha \approx 1$ falls slowly and the binomial term increases with j. We can estimate the correction by the saddle-point method, replacing the sum by the integral:

$$c(M) \approx \frac{1}{(N-2)!} \int_{M}^{\infty} e^{F(j)} \mathrm{d}j, \qquad (3.88)$$



Figure 3.9: The distribution of balls at the singular node for single-inhomogeneity graphs with k = 4, N = 20, $k_1 = 8$ (left) and $k_1 = 16$ (right). The total number of balls is M = 20, 40 and 80 from left to right, respectively. Points represent numerical data while solid lines the solution from Eq. (3.95).

where we define a new function F(j):

$$F(j) = j \ln \alpha + \ln((N+j-2)!) - \ln(j!), \qquad (3.89)$$

and use Stirling's formula for factorials. We get:

$$\int_{M}^{\infty} e^{F(j)} \mathrm{d}j \approx e^{F(j_*)} \int_{M}^{\infty} e^{\frac{1}{2}F''(j_*)(j-j_*)^2} \mathrm{d}j = e^{F(j_*)} \sqrt{\frac{-\pi}{2F''(j_*)}} \operatorname{erfc}\left((M-j_*)\sqrt{-F''(j_*)}\right), \quad (3.90)$$

where $\operatorname{erfc}(x)$ denotes the complementary error function:

$$\operatorname{erfc}(x) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{x}^{\infty} e^{-y^{2}} \mathrm{d}y, \qquad (3.91)$$

and j_* is the point being a solution of the saddle-point equation $F'(j_*) = 0$:

$$j_* \approx \frac{\alpha(N-2)}{1-\alpha}.\tag{3.92}$$

Only leading terms in F(j) were taken into account. Collecting all together one finds

$$c(M) = \frac{\alpha^{\frac{\alpha(N-2)}{1-\alpha}}}{1-\alpha} \frac{((N-2)/(1-\alpha))!}{(\alpha(N-2)/(1-\alpha))!} \sqrt{\frac{\pi\alpha(N-2)}{2}} \frac{1}{(N-2)!} \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{M(1-\alpha)-\alpha(N-2)}{\sqrt{\alpha(N-2)}}\right).$$
(3.93)

The complete partition function $Z_{inh}(N, M)$ is given by Eq. (3.86) with c(M) calculated by means of Eq. (3.93). We can now calculate $\pi_1(m)$ that is the distribution of balls at the node with degree k_1 :

$$\pi_1(m) = \frac{Z_{\text{reg}}(N-1, M-m)}{Z_{\text{inh}}(N, M)} k_1^m,$$
(3.94)

where $Z_{reg}(N, M)$ is the partition function for a k-regular graph. Making use of the formulas (3.82) and (3.86) we get

$$\pi_1(m) = \alpha^{M-m} \binom{M+N-m-2}{M-m} \left[(1-\alpha)^{1-N} - c(M) \right]^{-1}.$$
(3.95)

In figure 3.9 we show a comparison between the analytic solution (3.95) and the one obtained from Monte Carlo simulations. Neglecting inessential normalization, the equation (3.95) has the following asymptotic behavior:

$$\pi_1(m) \sim \exp(G(m)),\tag{3.96}$$

where

$$G(m) = -m\ln\alpha + \left(M + N - m - \frac{3}{2}\right)\ln(M + N - m - 2) - \left(M - m + \frac{1}{2}\right)\ln(M - m).$$
(3.97)

Condensation takes place when G(m) has a maximum for positive $m = m_*$. Taking the derivative of Eq. (3.97) and neglecting terms of order $1/M^2$ in the corresponding equation $G'(m_*) = 0$ we find

$$m_* = M - \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha} (N - 2). \tag{3.98}$$

Let us calculate the mean number of balls at the first node:

$$\langle m_1 \rangle = \sum_{m=0}^M \pi_1(m)m = M - \sum_{j=0}^M \pi_1(M-j)j.$$
 (3.99)

In the large M limit, the sum over j can be calculated exactly:

$$M - \frac{\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} j(-\alpha)^{j} \binom{-(N-1)}{j}}{\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (-\alpha)^{j} \binom{-(N-1)}{j}} = M - \alpha \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln S(\alpha)}{\mathrm{d}\alpha} = M - \frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha} (N-1) \approx m_{*}.$$
 (3.100)

The condensation occurs when an extensive number of balls is on the singular node. This happens when $m_* > 0$ or equivalently when $\langle m_1 \rangle > 0$. Therefore, the critical density in the limit $N, M \to \infty$ with fixed density $\rho = M/N$ is

$$o_c = \frac{\alpha}{1 - \alpha}.\tag{3.101}$$

The condensation is possible only for the density $\rho > \rho_c$, exactly like in the Single Defect Site model [94]. The critical density decreases with decreasing ratio $\alpha = k/k_1$ or, equivalently, with increasing inhomogeneity k_1/k . The site, which contains the condensate, has $N(\rho - \rho_c) + \rho_c$ balls on average, as follows from Eq. (3.100). It is also easy to find that the distribution of balls $\pi_i(m)$ at any regular node with degree k falls exponentially

$$\pi_i(m) \propto \left(\frac{k}{k_1}\right)^m = \alpha^m, \qquad (3.102)$$

with $\alpha < 1$. Thus the condensation never appears on a regular node. When the system is in the condensed phase, the mean occupation of such a node is equal to ρ_c independently on the total number of balls in the system.

Let us consider also a special example of a single-inhomogeneity graph called a star graph, which has one node of degree $k_1 = N - 1$ and N - 1 nodes of degree k = 1. Because k_1 increases when the system grows, the parameter α goes to zero as 1/N. The critical density $\rho_c \to 0$ in the thermodynamical limit. Thus on a star graph the condensation appears for any finite density $\rho > 0$. We can calculate the variance of m_1 which is a measure of fluctuations. Introducing $\mu \equiv -\ln \alpha$ we have

$$\langle (m_1 - \langle m_1 \rangle)^2 \rangle = -\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \ln S(e^{-\mu})}{\mathrm{d}\mu^2},$$
 (3.103)

and inserting $\mu = \ln(N-1)$ for the star graph we get $\left(\frac{N-1}{N-2}\right)^2$ which tends to one when $N \to \infty$. Therefore, for almost all time the condensate has all balls but one, the mean value $\langle m_1 \rangle \approx M-1$ as it follows from Eq. (3.100), and fluctuations are small. The occupation of other sites must be thus close to zero.

3.2.3 Dynamics of the condensate

One can address two natural questions while studying the dynamics of the condensate: i) how is it produced from a uniform distribution of balls, and, ii) how much time does it take to melt the condensate and rebuilt it at another site? The answer to these questions is different for homogeneous and inhomogeneous systems. Moreover, in both cases the dynamics depends on the structure of network, not only on degrees. For instance, one can imagine that there is a bottleneck, e.g. a single link joining two larger parts of the network. The transport of balls on such graph will be different from the case when these two parts are strongly interconnected. As we will see, however, the structure of the network is not so important as one could think, and characteristic time scales are determined mainly by the size of the system and its (in)homogeneity.

The emergence of the condensate from a state where all nodes have approximately equal occupation numbers has been investigated for homogeneous systems [94], [100], [102]. The process can be divided into two stages. First, the surplus of balls Δ accumulates at a finite number of nodes. When this happens,



Figure 3.10: Time scales for coarsening dynamics of the condensate on various homogeneous networks. In numerical simulations we measure the average time $\langle \tau \rangle$ after which the maximal number of balls exceeds $\Delta = M - \rho_c N$ at some node. The system starts from a uniform distribution of balls and the simulation is stopped when $m_{n_{\text{max}}} \ge \Delta$. The time τ is collected and the procedure is repeated. At the end we calculate $\langle \tau \rangle$. Repeating this a few times we estimate errors. Circles: complete graph (D > 2), squares: 4-regular random graph (D > 2), diamonds: 2d periodic lattice (D = 2), triangles: one-dimensional closed chain (D = 1). Lines are asymptotic solutions from Eq. (3.104) with proportionality coefficient fitted to data. In all cases M = 4N and b = 4, hence the density $\rho \gg \rho_c = 1/2$.

small condensates exchange particles through the nearly-uniform background. This results in coarsening of many condensates which eventually form a single one with a larger number of balls. This process is very slow. Assuming the jumping rate in the form u(m) = 1 + b/m and that we are in the condensed phase $\rho > \rho_c$, the mean condensate size grows as $\Delta(t/\tau)^{\delta}$, where the characteristic time scale τ for coarsening dynamics has been estimated as

$$\tau \sim \begin{cases} N^3 & \text{for } D = 1, \\ N^2 \ln N & \text{for } D = 2, \\ N^2 & \text{for } D > 2, \end{cases}$$
(3.104)

and the exponent δ is inversely proportional to the power of N in the expressions above. Here D is the dimension of the network, e. g. D = 1 for a closed chain, D = 2 for a two dimensional lattice and $D = \infty$ for a complete graph. In figure 3.10 we present the comparison of these asymptotic formulas to computer simulations.

Contrary to the coarsening dynamics, studies on the dynamics of an existing condensate in homogeneous systems are rare [100]. One can ask what is the typical life-time of the condensate, that is how much time it takes before it disappears from one site and rebuilds at another site. Let n_{max} be the position of the node with maximal number of balls. In figure 3.11 we plot n_{max} as a function of time, for different densities ρ , for a regular graph. It is clearly seen that the characteristic time between jumps is much larger in the condensed phase. This means that the condensate, once formed, spends a lot of time without any move and then suddenly jumps to another node. In [100] authors investigated this process on a complete graph. Using a Markovian ansatz that the number of balls on the condensed site varies slowly in comparison to other m_i 's one can recast the original problem into a biased diffusive motion on a one-dimensional interval. The authors showed that average crossing time, i. e. the time between melting the condensate and rebuilding it at another site, can be approximated by the formula

$$\bar{T} \propto (\rho - \rho_c)^{b+1} N^b, \qquad (3.105)$$

for b > 1. Thus for fixed size of graph and far above ρ_c , \overline{T} grows like a (b+1)th power of the density of balls. For the fixed density, \overline{T} grows with N as $\sim N^b$. This formula holds only for quite large systems and therefore it is hard to verify in Monte Carlo simulations. In figure 3.12 we see that for small systems the power-law dependence is rather on M than on $(\rho - \rho_c)$ as it would stem from Eq. (3.105).

Let us discuss now inhomogeneous systems. Although the emergence of the condensate in zerorange processes has been extensively studied, not much is known about their dynamics. The coarsening dynamics has been examined numerically for scale-free networks in Ref. [97], where the jumping rate was taken to be $u(m) \propto m^{\delta}$ with $\delta \geq 0$. It was observed that the dynamics is hierarchical. First, balls on the sub-network of small degrees are equilibrated, then nodes with higher degrees are equilibrated, and



Figure 3.11: From left to the right: position of the node n_{max} with maximal number of balls as a function of time, for different densities $\rho = 0.5$ (below $\rho_c = 1$), $\rho = 1.5$ and far in the condensed phase $\rho = 2.5$. The network is a 4-regular graph with N = 20 nodes and the hop rate $u(m) \propto 1 + 3/m$. In the condensed phase, the condensate occupies a single site for a long time and then moves to another site, thus jumps in n_{max} occur seldom.

finally the hubs - the nodes with highest degrees. The global stationary state is reached with the time $\tau \sim N^z$, where

$$z = \begin{cases} 1 + \alpha - \delta & \text{for trees,} \\ 1 - \delta & \text{for network with loops,} \end{cases}$$
(3.106)

and α is the exponent from the cutoff scaling law $k_{\text{max}} \sim N^{\alpha}$. Below we shall discuss the dynamics of the condensate, once it is formed. This issue has not been studied yet. Although we study only simplified models, the results will allow us to derive some conclusions about how this process looks like on S-F networks.

We shall consider the dynamics on a single-inhomogeneity network introduced earlier. It is a very good candidate to examine how inhomogeneities influence the typical life-time of the condensate. In order to determine this typical time \overline{T} after which the condensate melts, we should first define this quantity properly. We have seen in the figure 3.12 that for small homogeneous systems it was impossible to reach a good agreement with theoretical predictions. One of the reasons might be that, in fact, the crossing time [100] has not much to do with jumps in the position n_{max} . On the other hand, the approach presented there seems to work not only for homogeneous systems so we hope to successfully apply it to our case. It is therefore convenient to consider the quantity T_{mn} - the average time it takes to fall from m to n balls at the condensed site, or more precisely, the first passage time from the state with m balls to the state with n balls at that site. T_{mn} can be easily estimated from computer simulations - one starts to count the time when m_1 passes through m, and stops when it passes through n for the first time. Repeating this many times one gets the average time.

This quantity can be combined with a typical life-time \overline{T} using the following picture: in the condensed phase, the node with maximal degree takes an extensive number of balls Δ while for the remaining nodes m_i 's fluctuate around the average number $\rho_c \ll \Delta$. We suppose these fluctuations to be much faster than the life-time of the condensate. The condensate disappears when $m_1 \approx \rho_c$. Thus $\overline{T} \approx T_{mn}$ where $m \approx \Delta, n \approx \rho_c$. The averaging should actually be done over all possible value of m, n with the appropriate weight. How to choose this weight and how to finally calculate \overline{T} will be explained later. Now we would like to focus on the time T_{mn} for given m and n.

To calculate T_{mn} we adopt the method presented in Ref. [100]. We assume that the condensate can be considered as slowly changing in comparison to fast fluctuations in the bulk. Suppose that at particular time, the condensate has m balls. After one time step, the condensate can loose one ball, gain one ball or remain intact. Let us denote by λ_m the probability that $m \to m + 1$ and by μ_m that $m \to m - 1$. Assume additionally that $\mu_0 = 0, \lambda_M = 0$ and $\mu_{m \ge 1}, \lambda_{m < M}$ are greater than zero. One can see that T_{mn} has to fulfill the following equation:

$$T_{mn} = 1 + \lambda_m T_{m+1,n} + \mu_m T_{m-1,n} + (1 - \lambda_m - \mu_m) T_{mn}, \qquad (3.107)$$

with $T_{nn} = 0$. Defining $d_m = T_{mn} - T_{m-1,n}$ we rewrite that equation in the form:

$$d_m \mu_m - \lambda_m d_{m+1} = 1. (3.108)$$

With zero on the right-hand side it would have a solution $d_m = \prod_{k=1}^{m-1} \mu_k / \lambda_k$. In general, the solution



Figure 3.12: Average periods of time between jumps in n_{max} versus the density ρ , for homogeneous graphs. The simulation has been performed on various graphs with N = 20 nodes and the jumping rate u(m) = 1+3/m, the critical density $\rho_c = 1$. Circles: 4-regular graph, squares: complete graph, diamonds: one-dimensional closed chain. Solid lines are power laws $a_0 M^{a_1}$ fitted to data; for various graphs $a_1 = 3.6...4.2$. The dashed curve giving the asymptotic formula (3.105) with arbitrary proportionality factor is far away from numerics.

has the form $d_m = c_m \prod_{k=1}^{m-1} \mu_k / \lambda_k$ with $c_m \ge 0$. The equation (3.108) gives the recursion for c_m :

$$c_m - c_{m+1} = \frac{1}{\mu_m} \prod_{k=1}^{m-1} \mu_k / \lambda_k.$$
(3.109)

The maximal number of balls at one node is M, so it must be $c_{M+1} = 0$. With this boundary condition, Eq. (3.109) has the solution:

$$c_m = \sum_{l=m}^{M} \frac{1}{\mu_l} \prod_{k=1}^{l-1} \frac{\lambda_k}{\mu_k}.$$
(3.110)

This leads to the following expression for T_{mn} :

$$T_{mn} = \sum_{p=n+1}^{m} d_p = \sum_{p=n+1}^{m} \left(\prod_{k=1}^{p-1} \frac{\mu_k}{\lambda_k} \right) \left(\sum_{l=p}^{M} \frac{1}{\mu_l} \prod_{q=1}^{l-1} \frac{\lambda_q}{\mu_q} \right).$$
(3.111)

In our case $\mu_m = u(m)$ since it gives the probability that $m \to m-1$ at *i*th node. To find λ_m , let us consider a Master equation for the distribution of balls $\pi_i(m)$ at site *i*:

$$\partial_t \pi_i(m) = \pi_i(m+1)\mu_{m+1} + \pi_i(m-1)\lambda_{m-1} + \pi_i(m)(1-\mu_m-\lambda_m).$$
(3.112)

In the stationary state the derivative vanishes and hence

$$\pi_i(m+1)\mu_{m+1} - \pi_i(m)\lambda_m = \pi_i(m)\mu_m - \pi_i(m-1)\lambda_{m-1} = \text{const.}$$
(3.113)

One sees that expressions on both sides of the last equation cannot depend on m. Inserting m = 1 we see the constant is equal to zero. From Eq. (3.113) we obtain λ_m :

$$\lambda_m = \mu_{m+1} \frac{\pi_i(m+1)}{\pi_i(m)}.$$
(3.114)

Inserting μ_m and λ_m to Eq. (3.111), after some manipulations we obtain

$$T_{mn} = \sum_{p=n+1}^{m} \frac{1}{u(p)\pi_i(p)} \sum_{l=p}^{M} \pi_i(l).$$
(3.115)

We now apply the Eq. (3.115) to the case of a single-inhomogeneity graph assuming as before u(p) = 1. Let us start with the star graph as a special degenerate case and calculate the average transition times T_{mn} for the central node on which the condensate spends almost all time. Using the formula (3.95) with $\alpha = 1/(N-1)$ for the star graph we have:

$$T_{mn} = \sum_{p=n+1}^{m} \sum_{l=p}^{M} (N-1)^{l-p} \frac{(M+N-l-2)!(M-p)!}{(M+N-p-2)!(M-l)!}.$$
(3.116)

The terms vanish for $p \to m$ if $m \gg 1$. The sum over l decreases slowly with p because it is a cumulative distribution for $\pi_1(l)$ (see Eq. (3.115)). Thus for large m the transition time is almost independent of m. This means that the condensate fluctuates very quickly around some value $1 \ll \langle m_1 \rangle < M$. We know from our previous considerations that $\langle m_1 \rangle \approx M$ and fluctuations are very small, so it is enough to concentrate on T_{Mn} . Changing variables we get

$$T_{Mn} = (N-2)! \sum_{r=0}^{M-n-1} \frac{r!}{(N-2+r)!} (N-1)^r \sum_{k=0}^r (N-1)^{-k} \frac{(N-2+k)!}{k!(N-2)!}.$$
 (3.117)

In the last sum we can set the upper limit to infinity. We have:

$$T_{Mn} \approx \left(\frac{N-1}{N-2}\right)^{N-1} (N-2)! \sum_{r=0}^{M-n-1} \frac{r!}{(N-2+r)!} (N-1)^r.$$
(3.118)

The sum over r can be done approximately by changing the variable $r \to M - n - 1 - r$:

$$T_{Mn} \approx \left(\frac{N-1}{N-2}\right)^N (N-2)!(N-1)^{M-n-1} \frac{M-n-1}{M-n-2} \frac{(M-n-1)!}{(M+N-n-3)!}.$$
 (3.119)

We see that, because of the factor $(N-1)^{-n}$, the time T_{Mn} is very sensitive to n. In figure 3.13 it is compared to computer simulations. This complicated formula has a simple behavior in the limit of large systems and n = 0. For $M \to \infty$ and N being fixed we get an exponential growth:

$$T_{M0} \sim (N-1)^M,$$
 (3.120)

while for fixed density $\rho = M/N$ and $N \to \infty$ it increases faster than exponentially:

$$T_{M0} \sim e^{\rho N \ln N}.$$
 (3.121)

The approximated expressions (3.120) and (3.121) can be obtained very easily using a kind of Arrhenius law [100, 104], which tells that the average life-time is inversely proportional to the minimal value of the balls distribution:

$$T_{M0} \sim 1/\pi_1^{\min},$$
 (3.122)

if one thinks about the condensate's melting as of tunneling through a potential barrier. In our case the barrier $1/\pi_1(m)$ grows monotonically with $m \to 0$ so we observe that the condensate bounces from the wall at m = 0 rather than tunnels through it. We have $\pi_1^{\min} \sim (N-1)^{-M}$ for fixed N and large M and thus we get Eq. (3.120), while for fixed density ρ the distribution π_1^{\min} falls over-exponentially which results in Eq. (3.121).

Before we comment on the exponential behavior of times T_{mn} , let us calculate analogous quantities for the general single-inhomogeneity graph. In the condensed state the occupation m_1 fluctuates quickly around the mean condensate size $\langle m_1 \rangle = \Delta$, with the variance estimated by Eq. (3.103) as $\sim N$. Although Δ is smaller than M we can assume that $T_{mn} \approx T_{Mn}$ for $m > \Delta$. This is so because the transition time between the states with high number of balls to the state with $m \approx \Delta$ must be small since the potential $1/\pi_1(m)$ decreases with $m \to \Delta$. Therefore, we can concentrate again on T_{Mn} which is easier to compute. From Eqs. (3.95) and (3.115) we have:

$$T_{Mn} = \sum_{p=n+1}^{M} \sum_{l=p}^{M} \alpha^{p-l} \binom{M+N-l-2}{M-l} / \binom{M+N-p-2}{M-p}.$$
(3.123)

Changing variables we get:

$$T_{Mn} = \sum_{p=n+1}^{M} \frac{(M-p)!}{(M+N-p-2)!} \sum_{q=0}^{M-p} \alpha^{-q} \frac{(M+N-p-q-2)!}{(M-p-q)!}.$$
(3.124)



Figure 3.13: The average life-time T_{M0} for a star graph with N = 10 calculated from Eq. (3.119) (left panel) and for a single-inhomogeneity graph with $N = 20, k = 4, k_1 = 16$ from Eq. (3.127) (right panel), compared to computer simulations (circles).

The sum over q can be approximated in the condensed state by an integral and evaluated by the saddlepoint method. The saddle point $q_0 = \alpha(N-2)/(1-\alpha)$ is equal to m_* from Eq. (3.92) and therefore all calculations are almost identical. In this way we get:

$$\sum_{q} \dots \approx \alpha^{p} \times \alpha^{\alpha \frac{N-2}{1-\alpha} - M} \frac{((N-2)/(1-\alpha))!}{(\alpha(N-2)/(1-\alpha))!} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi\alpha(N-2)}{(1-\alpha)^{2}}}.$$
(3.125)

The only dependence on p is through the factor α^p . To calculate T_{Mn} it is therefore sufficient to evaluate the sum:

$$\sum_{p=n+1}^{M} \alpha^p \frac{(M-p)!}{(M+N-p-2)!}.$$
(3.126)

Because every term is proportional to $1/\pi_1(p)$ from Eq. (3.95), in the condensed state the function under the sum has a minimum at the saddle point $p_0 \approx m_* \in (1, M)$. This means that the effective contribution to the sum can be split into two terms: one for small p and one for $p \approx M$. The "small-p" part can be evaluated like for static distributions in the previous section. To calculate the "large-p" part, it is sufficient to take the last two terms, namely for p = M and p = M - 1, since the large p terms decrease quickly with p. The complete formula for T_{Mn} is given by:

$$T_{Mn} \approx \alpha^{\alpha \frac{N-2}{1-\alpha} - M} \frac{((N-2)/(1-\alpha))!}{(\alpha(N-2)/(1-\alpha))!} \sqrt{\frac{2\pi\alpha(N-2)}{(1-\alpha)^2}} \times \left[\frac{M!}{(M+N-2)!} \left(\alpha \frac{M+N-2}{M}\right)^{n+1} \left(1-\alpha \frac{M+N-2}{M}\right)^{-1} + \frac{\alpha^{M-1}(\alpha(N-1)+1)}{(N-1)!}\right].$$
(3.127)

In Fig. 3.13 we compare the theoretical expression for T_{M0} with Monte Carlo simulations. The agreement is the better, the larger M is. In the limit of large number of balls, $M \to \infty$, while keeping N and α fixed, the life-time grows exponentially:

$$T_{M0} \sim \left(\frac{1}{\alpha}\right)^M = \left(\frac{k_1}{k}\right)^M.$$
 (3.128)

In the limit of fixed density $\rho = M/N > \rho_c$ and for $M, N \to \infty$:

$$T_{M0} \sim \exp\left[N\left(-\ln(1-\alpha) + \rho\ln(\rho/\alpha) - (1+\rho)\ln(1+\rho)\right)\right].$$
(3.129)

Let us now comment on the exponential times observed for inhomogeneous graphs. Unlike in homogeneous systems, where the life time grows like a power of M, in the presence of inhomogeneity it changes to the exponential behavior. This is typical for systems possessing a characteristic scale. Here it is given by the ratio k_1/k . This situation is to some extent similar to the relation between massless and massive

interactions in particle physics. A two-point function for a massless field has a power-law decay and thus an infinite range, while for a massive field it falls off exponentially with the distance.

 T_{M0} calculated above gives us some insight into the dynamics of the condensate. Now we try to find a formula for \overline{T} that is for the average time between consecutive jumps of the position n_{\max} of the node with maximal number of balls. We do not expect that the behavior of \overline{T} will be asymptotically different from T_{mn} but we would like to check if we understand well the process of melting and rebuilding the condensate.

The main contribution to the average life-time of the condensate comes from situations when it occupies the node with the highest degree. The probability that at a particular time step the condensate has m balls is given by $\pi_1(m)$. The condensate ends its life at a certain $m_1 \equiv n$ number of balls which is no bigger than at the remaining nodes, which means that there is at least one node $i \neq 1$ with the same or higher occupation: $m_i \geq m_1$. We call this an "event A" and denote the probability of its occurrence by a(n). In order to calculate the average time \overline{T} we have to sum over all possible m, n, weighted by appropriate probabilities:

$$\bar{T} = \frac{1}{\sum_{n} a(n)} \sum_{m=0}^{M} \sum_{n=0}^{M} \pi_1(m) T_{mn} a(n), \qquad (3.130)$$

where the first factor gives an appropriate normalization of a(n). We have already calculated $\pi_1(m)$ and T_{mn} for the single-inhomogeneity graph. What remains is to calculate a(n). We have to consider the subset of all configurations $\{m_1, \ldots, m_N\}$ which favor the event A. One step before A happens, we have n+1 balls at the first node and no more than n balls at other nodes. The number of balls is M, therefore at nodes $2, \ldots, N$ there is M - n - 1 balls in total. New configurations which lead to A are the following:

- 1. *n* balls at the 1st node, n + 1 balls at one node among N 1 remaining nodes, and $m_i \le n$ balls on each of N 2 remaining nodes, that is M 2n 1 in total on N 2 nodes,
- 2. *n* balls at the 1st node, *n* balls at one node among N 1 nodes and $m_i \leq n$ at each of remaining nodes, with the total number of balls M 2n on those nodes.

The probability of the event A is proportional to the sum of all configurations described above:

$$a(n) = \frac{1}{Z(N,M)}(N-1) \left[\sum_{m_3=0}^{n} \cdots \sum_{m_N=0}^{n} \delta_{M,2n+1+m_3+\dots+m_N} + \sum_{m_3=0}^{n} \cdots \sum_{m_N=0}^{n} \delta_{M,2n+m_3+\dots+m_N} \right] k_1^n k^{M-n}.$$
(3.131)

First two factors give the normalization which corresponds to the sum over all configurations and over N-1 possibilities of choosing the node having exactly n+1 or n balls. In the square bracket we have numbers of configurations with fixed amount of balls on nodes i = 3, ..., N. The last two terms arise from degrees of nodes: the weight k_1^n for the first and k^{M-n} for the rest of nodes. Skipping the multiplicative factor and denoting the quantity in square brackets by b(n) we have

$$a(n) \propto b(n)\alpha^{-n}.\tag{3.132}$$

The coefficient b(n) can be expressed through the following sum:

$$b(n) = \sum_{r=0}^{N-2} (-1)^r \binom{N-2}{r} \left[\binom{N+M-4-2n-r(n+1)}{M-1-2n-r(n+1)} + \binom{N+M-3-2n-r(n+1)}{M-2n-r(n+1)} \right].$$
(3.133)

This formula is obtained by using the integral representation of discrete deltas in Eq. (3.131) and by calculating each sum over m_i separately.

We could now write in principle the formula for \overline{T} . It would be quite complicated so we decided not to present it here, but it can be evaluated numerically using the theoretical formulas given above. In figure 3.14 we present the comparison between average life-times computed from simulations and calculated analytically. One clearly sees that while M increases, the points approach the theoretical curve but are systematically slightly above it. This means that \overline{T} is a bit larger that predicted by Eq. (3.130).



Figure 3.14: Average life-time of the condensate on a small-inhomogeneity graph with N = 20, k = 4 and $k_1 = 8$ (circles), $k_1 = 12$ (squares). Empty symbols: numerical estimations, solid lines: analytical formula (3.130). Error bars are of symbols size.

3.2.4 Power-law distribution in the ZRP on inhomogeneous graphs

In previous sections we have noticed that there are many differences between zero-range processes on homogeneous and inhomogeneous networks. For a homogeneous system, one can have a scale-free distribution of balls $\pi(m)$ if one tunes the hop rate u(m) appropriately, while for an inhomogeneous one, distributions are in general exponential. In inhomogeneous systems the condensate, if exists, resides at the node with the largest degree for almost all time, and even if it melts, it rebuilds very fast on this node, while in homogeneous systems the condensate moves from node to node. For inhomogeneous systems the typical time-scale for melting the condensate grows exponentially with N while in homogeneous ones only as a power of N.

The power-law distributions at criticality are very interesting since they are typical for systems without a characteristic scale. Inhomogeneous systems have usually a typical scale introduced by the fact, that the flows of balls are different between different nodes. We want to address the question whether it is possible to obtain a power-law distribution of balls occupation numbers at the critical point also for inhomogeneous networks. As we shall see, the answer to this question is in the affirmative, but it requires a fine-tuning of the node-degree distribution of the underlying network. In this section we shall show how to do this. We shall also discuss some well-known examples of graphs including Erdös-Rényi graphs, for which the averaging over the ensemble of graphs leads to the particle distribution which resembles a power-law, although it is only a finite-size effect.

Unlike in previous sections, where we were interested in properties of the ZRP on a given, fixed network, we consider now an ensemble of random graphs from Chapter 2. The graphs are defined by specifying a desired degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ in the thermodynamical limit. They can be generated by the Monte Carlo algorithm described in Sec. 2.1.5. In this case, the probability $P(k_1, \ldots, k_N) \equiv P(\vec{k})$ of having a network with a sequence of degrees k_1, \ldots, k_N factorizes for $N \to \infty$:

$$P(\vec{k}) = \Pi(k_1) \cdots \Pi(k_N). \tag{3.134}$$

This assumption means that we consider only uncorrelated networks. It is approximately fulfilled for finite-size graphs if $\Pi(k)$ falls quickly with k, as it results from the equivalence between canonical and grand-canonical partition function for networks [18] discussed previously, since in the grand-canonical ensemble there is no constraint on the sum of degrees. The factorization breaks down for scale-free networks. Particularly strong deviations from the factorization are observed for $\Pi(k) \sim k^{-\gamma}$ with $2 < \gamma \leq 3$, where finite-size effects are especially strong [65]. Below we shall discuss networks which are free of these problems and for which the factorization works fine.

Let us recall the partition function for the ZRP on a given graph:

$$Z(N, M, \vec{k}) = \sum_{m_1, \dots, m_N = 0}^{M} \delta_{\sum_i m_i, M} \prod_{i=1}^{N} f(m_i) k_i^{m_i}.$$
(3.135)

We are now interested in the behavior of the ZRP on a "typical" network, taken from the ensemble of graphs with distribution of degrees given by Eq. (3.134). We want to average over all possible degree

sequences in the given ensemble. We thus define a canonical partition function:

$$Z(N, L, M) = \sum_{k_1...k_N} P(\vec{k}) Z(N, M, \vec{k}), \qquad (3.136)$$

where L is the total number of edges in the graph which, as in the canonical partition function for networks, is assumed to be fixed. The dependence on L we pull into the probability $P(\vec{k})$.

To simplify calculations, we set u(m) = 1 as before, since we expect the effect of network inhomogeneity to be stronger than the effect coming from the dependence of u(m) on m. The canonical partition function (3.136) assumes now the form:

$$Z(N, L, M) = \sum_{\vec{m}} \delta_{\sum_{i} m_{i}, M} \prod_{i=1}^{N} \mu(m_{i}), \qquad (3.137)$$

where $\mu(m)$ is the *m*th moment of the degree distribution $\Pi(k)$:

$$\mu(m) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \Pi(k) k^m.$$
(3.138)

This partition function has exactly the form of the partition function (3.56) for homogeneous ZRPs, which we have discussed before. This shows that averaging over uncorrelated networks is equivalent to considering another ZRP, for a homogeneous system. The averaging smears the inhomogeneity and restores the symmetry with respect to the permutation of occupation numbers. Instead of $\tilde{f}_i(m)$, distinct for different nodes, we have only one $f(m) \equiv \mu(m)$, identical for all nodes. Moreover, we will see that if all the moments $\mu(m)$ exist, the system is self-averaging in the sense that for large N a single network taken from the given ensemble reproduces the limiting distribution of balls.

After these preliminaries we are now ready to attack the main question, namely how to choose $\Pi(k)$ in order to obtain a scale-free distribution of balls occupation numbers: $\pi(m) \sim m^{-b}$, at the critical point. From section 3.2.2 and Eq. (3.137) we see that $\mu(m)$ should behave as m^{-b} for large m. Thus we are looking for the degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ which gives the following moments (3.138):

$$\mu(m) = \frac{\Gamma(m+1)}{\Gamma(m+1+b)} \phi^m.$$
(3.139)

This particular form of $\mu(m)$ is well suited for analytical calculations, but of course we expect a similar behavior for any other $\mu(m)$ having the asymptotic behavior $\sim m^{-b}$. The exponential term ϕ^m does not change the $\pi(m)$ at the critical point ρ_c , since for conserved number of balls it gives only an overall factor ϕ^M in Z(N, L, M). We shall use the freedom of choice of ϕ to adjust the mean value of the distribution $\Pi(k)$ to the average degree $\bar{k} = 2L/N$ which is fixed in the ensemble with given N, L. Introducing a generating function

$$M(z) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \mu(m) \frac{z^m}{m!} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(z\phi)^m}{\Gamma(m+1+b)},$$
(3.140)

we can recover $\Pi(k)$ for k > 0 as a Fourier coefficient by means of the inverse transform:

$$\Pi(k) = \mathcal{N} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \mathrm{d}z \, e^{izk} M(-iz), \qquad (3.141)$$

where \mathcal{N} gives appropriate normalization, since M(-iz) is by definition equal to $\sum_k \Pi(k) \exp(-izk)$. The integral in Eq. (3.141) is in general hard to calculate and express through special functions like sine and cosine integral. However, the function M(-iz) falls to zero with $z \to \pm \infty$ sufficiently fast and thus for $\phi \gg 1$ we can extend the limits of integration to $\pm \infty$. Then equation (3.141) becomes a Fourier Transform of the function M(-iz) from Eq. (3.20), introduced in section 3.1.2. Hence we know that it can be written as an infinite series expansion (3.22) (see also [62]). This complicated expression simplifies very much in the present case. Changing variables $k \to x\phi$ we have

$$\Pi(x\phi) = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{2\pi\phi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}z \, e^{izx} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-iz)^m}{\Gamma(m+1+b)}.$$
(3.142)

and we can now apply the results of section 3.1.2. According to Eq. (3.22), the last integral gives

$$\frac{\mathcal{N}}{\phi} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-x)^k}{k! \Gamma(b-k)},\tag{3.143}$$



Figure 3.15: $\Pi(k)$ calculated from the exact formula (3.141) (points) and approximated one (3.144) (thick line), for $\mathcal{N} = 2\pi$ and b = 3. Squares: $\phi = 6$, circles: $\phi = 30$. The approximate solution diverges for x > 1 and has to be cut. For $0 < x \leq 1$ the approximation is the better, the larger is ϕ .



Figure 3.16: Desired (dotted line) versus real $\mu(m)$ for finite networks (solid lines) obtained from Eqs. (3.144) and (3.138), for b = 3. Lines from left to right: $\phi = 5, 10, 20, 40, 80$, which corresponds to $\bar{k} = 1.67, 2.89, 5.4, 10.4, 20.4$ from Eq. (3.146). These plots approximate also $\pi(m)$ at the critical point, for infinite networks. The parameter ϕ grows almost linearly with \bar{k} .

and hence

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{\phi} \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-k/\phi)^q}{q! \Gamma(b-q)} = (\phi - k)^{b-1} \frac{\mathcal{N}}{\Gamma(b)\phi^b}.$$
(3.144)

In figure 3.15 we show $\Pi(k)$ calculated from the exact equation (3.141) and from the approximated one (3.144). Because the probabilistic interpretation of $\Pi(k)$ requires that it must be non-negative, the solution (3.144) is physical only for $k \leq \phi$. So we have to set $\Pi(k) = 0$ above ϕ . Thus $\lfloor \phi \rfloor$ can be interpreted as the maximal degree existing in the network. One must be, however, aware that even the true $\Pi(k)$ calculated directly from Eq. (3.141) can be negative above ϕ and that cutting the negative part leads to some discrepancy between the desired $\mu(m)$ from Eq. (3.139) and that obtained when (3.144) is inserted into Eq. (3.138). Hence we must make sure if we really have $\pi(m) \sim m^{-b}$ at the critical point. The answer is that for any finite network we can always choose ϕ so that the discrepancy between the power-law behavior and the real $\mu(m)$ becomes negligible. In figure 3.16 we plot the desired function $\mu(m)$ and we compare it to that calculated for various ϕ from Eqs. (3.138) and (3.144). As ϕ increases, the plots tend to the power law. We see that in order to get the correct ball distribution in the thermodynamic limit we have to scale \bar{k} to have $\lim_{N\to\infty} \bar{k} = \infty$. Such networks with $\Pi(k)$ given by Eq. (3.144) are neither sparse nor very dense since \bar{k} scales with a power of N less than one.

The parameter ϕ is related to the average degree by the formula: $\bar{k} = \sum_{k=1}^{\phi} \Pi(k)k$. The normalization \mathcal{N} must be chosen so that $\sum_{k=1}^{\phi} \Pi(k) = 1$. The sum goes from one because there can be no isolated

nodes (k = 0) on the graph. When b = 2, 3, 4, one is able to find closed formulas for the normalized degree distribution $\Pi(k)$. For instance, for b = 3 we have

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{(\phi - k)^2}{\phi(\phi - 1)(2\phi - 1)},\tag{3.145}$$

for $0 < k \le \phi$ and zero for k = 0 and $k > \phi$, with ϕ given by the following expression:

$$\phi = \left(-1 + 4\bar{k} + \sqrt{1 - 16\bar{k} + 16\bar{k}^2}\right)/2. \tag{3.146}$$

In general, for large ϕ , the relation between ϕ and \bar{k} is almost linear:

$$\bar{k} = \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{\phi} (k-\phi)^{b-1} k}{\sum_{k=1}^{\phi} (k-\phi)^{b-1}} \approx \frac{\int_{0}^{\phi} (\phi-k) k^{b-1} \mathrm{d}k}{\int_{0}^{\phi} k^{b-1} \mathrm{d}k} = \frac{\phi}{b+1}.$$
(3.147)

Because ϕ grows with \bar{k} , one should take graphs large enough to minimize finite-size corrections. In other words, the ratio ϕ/N should be much smaller that 1.

We performed Monte Carlo simulations of the ZRP on random networks with the degree distribution (3.144) to check whether one indeed obtains a power law in the distribution of balls $\pi(m)$. The simulations were made as follows. First we generated a connected graph from the ensemble of random graphs with the degree distribution from Eq. (3.144), using the Monte Carlo algorithm described in previous chapter. The graph had no degree-degree correlations, except of those introduced by finite-size effects. On that graph we simulated the zero-range process starting from a uniform distribution of balls. We collected a histogram of $\pi(m)$ and repeated the simulation for other networks from the ensemble. In total, we generated over 50 networks for the given set of parameters N, M, L.

The crucial point is to ensure that those graphs are connected. The Monte Carlo algorithm presented before generates in principle graphs which may have disconnected parts. But we know (see e.g. [1]) that for random graphs there exists a critical average degree \bar{k}_c (a percolation threshold), above which a single component is always formed in the limit of $N \to \infty$. In our simulations we always checked that we were above \bar{k}_c and that the graph we used was connected. We also simulated tree graphs which are by definition connected. For trees, however, finite-size effects are stronger than for graphs.

In figure 3.17 we compare a theoretical distribution at the critical point $\rho_c = 1$ for b = 3, with experimental ones obtained by numerical simulations. The agreement is not perfect. Finite-size effects are strong. But we see an apparent power law in the distribution of balls. The curves shown in figure 3.16 would suggest that for $\bar{k} = 8$, the power law should continue up to m of order 100. In figure 3.17 we see that it deviates already before, probably because it is not exactly at the critical point. Indeed, we observe a reminiscence of the condensation suggesting that the system is already off the transition point. These deviations are induced by the fact that for any finite graph there is a condensation on the most inhomogeneous node [99]. This gives a peak in $\pi(m)$. Because the condensate takes an extensive number of balls, it effectively increases the critical density for the rest of the system, so we are slightly below ρ_c .

In figure 3.18 we present results for large networks, but without averaging over the ensemble. We again get a power law which indicates that a self-averaging takes place. As before, the experimental line does not agree ideally with the theoretical one, $\pi(m)$, but the power-law behavior is clear.

The argumentation presented above suggests that one has to fine-tune the degree distribution in order to obtain the scale-free distribution of the number of balls. What happens if one takes different distributions? We have performed the ZRP also on some other networks and surprisingly found that $\pi(m)$ seems to be also heavy-tailed. In figure 3.19 we show results of numerical experiments for random trees [37] and ER random graphs. Random trees are equilibrated trees with weights p(k) = 1 and have been already mentioned in Sec. 2.1.4. They can be generated using the Monte Carlo algorithm given in Sec. 2.1.5. The degree distribution for random trees reads

$$\Pi(k) = \frac{e^{-1}}{(k-1)!},\tag{3.148}$$

for k > 0 and $\Pi(0) = 0$. For ER graphs, $\Pi(k)$ is approximately Poissonian as we know from Eq. (2.5). In figure 3.19 we see the results of measuring $\pi(m)$ on networks of size of order few hundreds. The distribution $\pi(m)$ seems to follow a power law, in a certain range. In order to check whether this range increases in the large N limit, one would have to perform a systematic analysis for networks of growing sizes.

However, here we prefer to present some theoretical discussion of whether it can be a power-law or rather some other distribution. Let us calculate the theoretical distribution $\pi(m) = \mu(m)$ at the



Figure 3.17: The distribution of balls in the ensemble of graphs with degree distribution $\Pi(k) \sim (\phi - k)^2$. Solid line: theoretical $\pi(m) \sim m^{-3}$ at the critical point $\rho_c = 1$ and for infinite system. Circles: for trees with N = M = 400, averaged over 50 graphs, $\phi \approx 6$. Squares: for simple graphs with N = M = 400, $\bar{k} = 8$, $\phi \approx 30$, diamonds: as before but M = 300, triangles: N = 800, M = 600.



Figure 3.18: Demonstration of self-averaging: $\pi(m)$ for a single network with degree distribution $\Pi(k) \sim (\phi - k)^2$, for two different sizes N = M = 5000 (thin solid line) and 10000 (dashed line) and $\bar{k} = 16$. For each case four networks were generated to estimate error bars. Only a few experimental points are shown for brevity. The thick solid line gives the asymptotic distribution.



Figure 3.19: The experimental distribution of balls averaged over 200 graphs taken from the ensemble of random trees and ER graphs. Circles: ER graphs $N = 400, M = 300, \bar{k} = 8$, squares: as before but N = 800, M = 450, diamonds: ER with $N = M = 400, \bar{k} = 16$, triangles: trees with N = 800, M = 300. Thick lines show power laws $\pi(m) \sim m^{-b}$ with b = 4.87 (upper line) and 5.52 (lower line).



Figure 3.20: The distribution $\pi(m)$ obtained from Eq. (3.138) with cut Poissonian degree distribution. The almost straight line on the log-log plot explains partially the quasi-power-law observed in numerical experiments in the figure 3.19.

critical point, in the thermodynamical limit. For random trees, the generating function M(z) defined in Eq. (3.140) has a closed form: $M(z) = \exp(z + e^z)$, as follows from Eq. (3.148). The function $\mu(m)$ is given by the inverse Laplace transform:

$$\mu(m) = \frac{m!}{2\pi i} \oint M(z) z^{-m-1} \mathrm{d}z, \qquad (3.149)$$

which can be evaluated by the saddle-point integration around $z_0 \approx \ln(m/\ln m)$:

$$\ln \mu(m) = m(\ln m - \ln \ln m) + O(m), \qquad (3.150)$$

and hence $\mu(m)$ grows over-exponentially for large m. The hop rate u(m) for an equivalent homogeneous ZRP decays fast with m. This means that the condensation happens for any density of balls, and the bulk distribution falls faster than any power-law. Similarly, one can estimate that for random ER graphs $M(z) \propto \exp(\bar{k}e^z) - 1$ and hence the leading term in $\ln \mu(m)$ is also $m \ln m$, so we again have the condensation.

It is clear from the above arguments that in the limit $M \to \infty$ one cannot obtain power-law distribution of balls for maximally random graphs like ER graphs or random trees. If it is not a power law, how the behavior in Fig. 3.19 can be explained? For finite systems, we observe that the power law goes only over one-two decades, so it can be easily confused with another function. Such a quasi-power-law behavior is presented in Fig. 3.20, where we have calculated $\pi(m)$ for finite-size ER graph by means of Eq. (3.138) multiplied by a factor $\exp(-m\beta)$. In order to mimic such finite-size effects we have assumed that the degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ had a cutoff at some k_{\max} calculated from the condition that in n = 200 samples of graphs of size N = 400 it should be around one node with degree k_{\max} : $nN\Pi(k_{\max}) \approx 1$, and hence $k_{\max} \approx 22$. The factor β has been chosen to get an almost straight line on the plot. Normally this is done by the factor Z(N-1, M-m)/Z(N, M) in the formula for distribution of balls, and in real simulations by taking an appropriate value of M, which brings the system to the critical density ρ_c .

To summarize the discussion of this subsection, we have shown that tuning the node-degree distribution $\Pi(k)$ on a random network, on which the zero-range process is defined, one can obtain the power law in the balls occupation distribution $\pi(m)$. This makes the system scale-free at the critical point, in contrast to the previously discussed single-inhomogeneity graphs. The key point is that although degrees of nodes differ, their distribution is so tuned that averaging over distributions of balls for nodes with different degrees gives exactly the power law. On every single node *i*, however, the distribution of balls is not a power law, but it falls exponentially as $(k_i/k_{\text{max}})^m$. The only exception is the node with maximal degree k_{max} , where the condensation takes place.

This is not the case for maximal random graphs like ER graphs, where the degree distribution is concentrated around \bar{k} and the ZRP behaves like for a homogeneous system with constant hop rates, having an over-exponential decay in $\pi(m)$ for small m and a condensation peak at large m. The situation is similar to that for S-F networks, where the node-degree fluctuations are strong enough to produce a node of degree much larger than other degrees. This node attracts the condensate [97].

Chapter 4 Conclusions and outlook

Complex networks have been widely studied in recent years. Being a discipline on the interface of physics, chemistry, biology, social and computer sciences, and others, it applies a variety of methods. Most people try to understand observed properties of networks by introducing simplified models and then by making computer simulations in order to compare results to real-world data. Some of them use a multitude of so-called mean field approaches, when the quantity of interest is assumed to evolve in an averaged field of all interactions. This, however, can rarely allow one to examine such effects like phase transitions or condensation, and the results can be only qualitative. Moreover, some problems may be ill-posed when one does not specify what the word "averaged" means. In this thesis we have tried to present a consistent theory of statistical mechanics of complex networks, where all problems can be formulated in terms of some averaged quantities over a well-defined statistical ensemble. The starting point of the formulation is the ensemble of Erdös-Rényi graphs, where all graphs have the same statistical weight. But we have seen that ER graphs weakly reproduce features observed in real-world networks. Therefore, we have assigned different statistical weights to graphs from the same set, enhancing the probability of occurrence of graphs of a certain type. For instance, by assigning to each node a functional weight p(k) depending on its degree k, we have been able to obtain any desired degree distribution, either for simple or degenerated graphs, for trees or graphs with cycles, and for causal as well as for equilibrated networks. In particular, we can reproduce for equilibrated networks the scale-free degree distribution, one of the most important properties of real networks. We have shown also how the approach via statistical ensemble can be used to calculate degree-degree correlations or the assortativity coefficient. We have pointed out that the same method can be used for growing networks. We have discussed how to reformulate models of preferential attachment in the language of network's ensembles and how to relate them to the rate-equation approach, which is a very powerful analytical method.

At the end of discussion devoted to statistical ensembles of graphs we have presented a comparison between growing and equilibrated networks. We have shown how to choose functional weights in both ensembles, in order to obtain the same power-law degree distributions and not to introduce node-node correlations. Then we have focused on some global properties like the assortativity or the diameter. We have found that both types of networks are disassortative but that the degree-degree correlation function $\epsilon(k,q)$ exhibits different behavior for these graphs. We have observed a similar difference for the diameter, which scales like $\ln N$ for growing unweighted networks, also for growing trees, thus indicating the smallworld behavior, while for equilibrated unweighted trees it grows like $\sim N^{1/2}$. In other words, we have explicitly shown that graphs in the two ensembles, despite having identical degree distributions, may have completely different geometrical properties. In this particular case, the origin of the differences, shortly speaking, comes from the fact that the set of causal graphs forms only a small subset of all possible graphs in the statistical ensemble, and the properties of that subset are quite different to those observed as "typical" for the whole set.

Further differences between various graphs with the same degree distribution have been discussed in Chapter 3. Using analytical and numerical methods we have tested theoretical predictions for the position of the cutoff known from the literature on the subject. We have encountered an unexpected difference between the values of the exponent α , describing the scaling of the cutoff k_{max} with the network size, for causal and equilibrated trees. We have pointed out that the two estimates of k_{max} for simple equilibrated graphs found in the literature seem to be inconsistent in light of results presented in this thesis. As a by-product of this analysis we have developed a method of calculating the cutoff function w(x), which allows one to treat many models of growing networks in a unified, standard fashion.

In the second part of Chapter 3 we have discussed dynamics on networks. We have studied the
zero-range process, being just the balls-in-boxes model with a certain type of local dynamics. We have shown that for inhomogeneous systems, that is when node degrees differ much from each other, static and dynamical properties of the system are different than those for homogeneous systems studied in the past. For instance, when the inhomogeneity is strong enough, it triggers the condensation on the most inhomogeneous node. The critical density of balls, above which the condensation takes place, depends on k_1/k , where k_1 is the largest degree and k is the typical degree in the network. In particular, on S-F networks the ZRP always develops the condensation. Another interesting effect of inhomogeneity is a qualitative change in the behavior of a typical life-time of condensate, which grows exponentially or faster, in contrast to homogeneous systems where it grows only as a power of the system size. We have seen also that the effect of inhomogeneity can be weakened for some node-degree distributions. In particular, we have found a special form of the distribution $\Pi(k) \sim (\phi - k)^{b-1}$, for which the system of balls behaves very much like on a homogeneous networks at the critical point, where the distribution of balls occupation number is scale-free: $\pi(m) \sim m^{-b}$.

At the end, let us say a few words about possible directions of further studies, and concepts which can be an interesting continuation of ideas discussed in this thesis. Among many interesting ideas, it is of the primary interest of the author to study dynamical processes taking place on dynamically rearranged networks. Suppose that the ZRP can interact with the topology of the underlying network and change it while the occupation of nodes is changing. A slow change in the network's structure should be well approximated by averaging of the ZRP over an ensemble of static networks as it was done in Sec. 3.2.4. If the network evolves quickly in comparison to the characteristic time of the ZRP, its evolution can be viewed as a sequence of rewirings as those described in section devoted to Monte Carlo simulations, but with additional weights for nodes, depending on the state of the ZRP. It is very interesting to study what happens in between, that is when the two characteristic time scales are comparable.

Another class of problems where this kind of the two-fold evolution becomes important is related to neural networks. If one couples the evolution of neuron's states to the evolution of connections between them, one observes a self-organized criticality that produces a S-F network and a small-world [105]. The question is whether one can mimic this behavior using a simpler model, or to predict it analytically in the framework described here.

There are also many other questions, for instance if one can use the approach via moments of the distribution $\Pi(k)$ to estimate the cutoff in some other models of growing networks, especially with degreedegree correlations, or how the properties of causal networks change when, after a certain time, we allow for some rewirings that homogenize the network. As the example of Watts and Strogatz's small-world model shows, an interesting behavior is possible. We hope to address these and other problems in the future investigations.

Bibliography

- R. Albert, A.-L. Barabási, Statistical mechanics of complex networks, Rev. Mod. Phys. 74 (2002), 47.
- [2] S. N. Dorogovtsev and J. F. F. Mendes, Evolution of networks, Adv. Phys. 51 (2002), 1079.
- [3] M. E. J. Newman, The structure and function of complex networks, SIAM Review 45, 167 (2003).
- [4] S. Boccaletti, V. Latora, Y. Moreno, M. Chavez, and D.-U. Hwang, Complex networks: Structure and dynamics, Phys. Rept. 424 (2006), 175.
- [5] J. A. Bondy and U. S. R. Murty, Graph theory with applications, Elsevier North-Holland 1976.
- [6] R. Xulvi-Brunet, I. M. Sokolov, Construction and properties of assortative random networks, Phys. Rev. E 70 (2004), 066102.
- [7] M. E. J. Newman, Assortative mixing in networks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 (2002), 208701.
- [8] R. Albert, H. Jeong, and A.-L. Barabási, Internet: Diameter of the World-Wide Web, Nature 401 (1999), 130.
- [9] R. Kumar, P. Raghavan, S. Rajalopagan, and A. Tomkins, Applications of linear algebra in information retrieval and hypertext analysis, Proceedings of the 9th ACM Symposium on Principles of Database Systems, 1 (1999).
- [10] A. Broder, R. Kumar, F. Maghoul, P. Raghavan, S. Rajalopagan, R. Stata, A. Tomkins, and J. Wiener, Comput. Netw. 33 (2000), 309.
- [11] L. A. Adamic, Proceedings of the ECDL'99 Conference (Springer), 443.
- [12] M. Faloutsos, P. Faloutsos, and C. Faloutsos, Proc. ACM SIGCOMM, Comput. Commun. Rev. 29 (1999), 251.
- [13] R. Govindan and H. Tangmunarunkit, Proc. IEEE Infocom 2000, Tel Aviv, Israel.
- [14] S. Redner, How popular is your paper? An empirical study of the citation distribution, Europhys. J. B 4 (1998), 131.
- [15] R. Albert and A-L. Barabási, Emergence of scaling in random networks, Science 286 (1999), 509.
- [16] A. Wagner and D. Fell, Tech. Rep. 00-07-041, 2000, Santa Fe Institute.
- [17] H. Jeong, S. P. Mason, Z. N. Oltvai, and A.-L. Barabási, Lethality and centrality in protein networks, Nature 411 (2001), 41.
- [18] S. N. Dorogovtsev, J. F. F. Mendes, and A. N. Samukhin, Principles of statistical mechanics of random networks, Nucl. Phys. B 666 (2003), 396.
- [19] J. Park and M. E. J. Newman, The statistical mechanics of networks, Phys. Rev. E 70 (2004), 066117.
- [20] Z. Burda, J. Jurkiewicz, and A. Krzywicki, Statistical mechanics of random graphs, Physica A 344 (2004), 56.
- [21] A. Krzywicki, Defining statistical ensembles of random graphs, LPT-Orsay 01/102; arXiv:condmat/0110574.

- [22] L. Bogacz, Z. Burda, and B. Waclaw, Homogeneous complex networks, Phys. A 366 (2006), 587.
- [23] M. Bauer, and D. Bernard, Maximal entropy random networks with given degree distribution, arXiv:cond-mat/0206150.
- [24] D. Garlaschelli, S. E. Ahnert, T. M. A. Fink, and G. Caldarelli, Temperature in complex networks, arXiv:cond-mat/0606805.
- [25] P. Erdös and A. Rényi, Publ. Math. Debrecen 6 (1959), 290; Publ. Math. Inst. Hung. Acad. Sci. 5 (1960), 17.
- [26] B. Bollobás, Random graphs, Academic Press, New York 1985.
- [27] D. J. Watts and S. H. Strogatz, Collective dynamics of 'small-world' networks, Nature 393 (1998), 440.
- [28] M. Molloy and B. Reed, Random Struct. Algorithms 6 (1995), 161; Combinatorics, Probab. Comput. 7 (1998), 295.
- [29] M. E. J. Newman, S. H. Strogatz, and D. J. Watts, Random graphs with arbitrary degree distributions and their applications, Phys. Rev. E 64 (2001), 026118.
- [30] E. A. Bender and E. R. Canfield, The asymptotic number of labeled graphs with given degree sequences, J. Combin. Theory A 24 (1978), 296.
- [31] R. Milo, N. Kashtan, S. Itzkovitz, M. E. J. Newman, and U. Alon, On the uniform generation of random graphs with prescribed degree sequences, arXiv:cond-mat/0312028.
- [32] S. Maslov and K. Sneppen, Specificity and stability in topology of protein networks, Science 296 (2002), 910.
- [33] D. Cvetković, P. Rowlinson, and S. Simić, *Eigenspaces of graphs*, Cambridge University Press 1997.
- [34] Z. Burda, J. D. Correia, and A. Krzywicki, Statistical ensemble of scale-free random graphs, Phys. Rev. E 64 (2001), 046118.
- [35] P. Bialas, Z. Burda, and B. Waclaw, Causal and homogeneous networks, AIP Conf. Proc. 776 (2005), 14.
- [36] Z. Burda, P. Bialas, and D. Johnston, Condensation in the Backgammon model, Nucl. Phys. B 493 (1997), 505.
- [37] P. Bialas, Z. Burda, J. Jurkiewicz, and A. Krzywicki, Tree networks with causal structure, Phys. Rev. E 67 (2003), 066106.
- [38] P. Bialas, private communication.
- [39] J. Berg and M. Lässig, Correlated random networks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 (2002), 228701.
- [40] P. Bialas, Matter correlations in branched polymers, Nucl. Phys. B 575 (2000), 645.
- [41] M. E. J. Newman, Assortative mixing in networks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 (2002), 208701.
- [42] M. Boguñá and R. Pastor-Satorras, Class of correlated random networks with hidden variables, Phys. Rev. E 68 (2003), 036112.
- [43] S. N. Dorogovtsev, Networks with desired correlations, arXiv:cond-mat/0308336.
- [44] M. E. J. Newman, Properties of highly clustered networks, Phys. Rev. E 68 (2003), 026121.
- [45] Z. Burda, J. Jurkiewicz, and A. Krzywicki, Network transitivity and matrix models, Phys. Rev. E 69 (2004), 026106.
- [46] Z. Burda, J. Jurkiewicz, and A. Krzywicki, *Perturbing general uncorrelated networks*, Phys. Rev. E 70 (2004), 026106.
- [47] S. N. Dorogovtsev, Clustering of correlated networks, Phys. Rev. E 69 (2004), 027104.

- [48] J. Park and M. E. J. Newman, Solution for the properties of a clustered network, Phys. Rev. E 72 (2005), 026136.
- [49] see e.g. www.numbertheory.org/courses/MP274/markov.pdf
- [50] see e.g. J. J. Binney, N. J. Dowrick, A. J. Fisher, and M. E. J. Newman, The theory of critical phenomena: An introduction to the renormalization group, Oxford University Press; the original paper: N. Metropolis, A. Rosenbluth, M. Rosenbluth, A. Teller, and E. Teller, Equation of state calculations by fast computing machines, J. Chem. Phys. 21 (1953), 1087.
- [51] F. Harary and E. M. Palmer, Graphical enumeration, Academic Press 1973.
- [52] W. Pietsch, Towards correlated random networks, arXiv:cond-mat/0509389.
- [53] L. Bogacz, Z. Burda, W. Janke, and B. Waclaw, A program generating random graphs with given weights, Comp. Phys. Comm. 173 (2005), 162.
- [54] M. V. Simkin and V. P. Roychowdhury, *Re-inventing Willis*, arXiv:physics/0601192.
- [55] S. N. Dorogovtsev, J. F. F. Mendes, and A. N. Samukhin, Structure of growing networks: exact solution of the Barabasi-Albert's model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000), 4633.
- [56] P. L. Krapivsky and S. Redner, Organization of growing random networks, Phys. Rev. E 63 (2001), 066123.
- [57] R. Xulvi-Brunet, PhD thesis, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, 2006, available at http://edoc.hu-berlin.de/dissertationen/xulvi-brunet-ramon-2006-06-22/PDF.
- [58] J. Ambjørn, B. Durhuus, and T. Jonsson, Summing over all genera for d > 1: a toy model, Phys. Lett. B 244 (1990), 403.
- [59] P. Bialas, Long range correlations in branched polymers, Phys. Lett. B 373 (1996), 289.
- [60] P. Bialas, Z. Burda, and J. Jurkiewicz, Correlation functions and critical behaviour on fluctuating geometries, Phys. Lett. B 421 (1998), 86.
- [61] B. Waclaw, unpublished results.
- [62] B. Waclaw and I. M. Sokolov, Finite-size effects is Barabási-Albert growing networks, accepted for publication in Phys. Rev. E; arXiv:cond-mat/0609728.
- [63] S. N. Dorogovtsev, J. F. F. Mendes, A. M. Povolotsky, and A. N. Samukhin, Organization of complex networks without multiple connections, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005), 195701.
- [64] Z. Burda and A. Krzywicki, Uncorrelated random networks, Phys. Rev. E 67 (2003), 046118.
- [65] M. Boguna, R. Pastor-Satorras, and A. Vespignani, Cutoffs and finite-size effects in scale-free networks, Eur. Phys. J. B 38 (2004), 205.
- [66] P. L. Krapivsky and S. Redner, Finiteness and fluctuations in growing networks, J. Phys. A 35 (2002), 9517.
- [67] M. R. Evans, S. N. Majumdar, and R. K. P. Zia, Canonical analysis of condensation in factorised steady state, J. Stat. Phys. 123 (2006), 357.
- [68] A. R. Miller and I. S. Moskowitz, Reduction of a class of Fox-Wright Psi functions for certain rational parameters, Comp. and Math. Appl. 30 (1995), 73.
- [69] F. Mainardi, G. Pagnini, and R. K. Saxena, Fox H functions in fractional diffusion, J. Comp. Appl. Math. 178 (2005) 321.
- [70] S. N. Dorogovtsev, J. F. F. Mendes, and A. N. Samukhin, Size-dependent degree distribution of a scale-free growing network, Phys. Rev. E 63 (2001), 062101.
- [71] K. Malarz and K. Kułakowski, Memory effect in growing trees, Physica A 345 (2005), 326.
- [72] M. P. H. Stumpf and C. Wiuf, Phys. Rev. E 72 (2005), 036118.

- [73] see e.g. www.physics.utah.edu/detar/phycs6730/handouts/jackknife/jackknife/jackknife.html
- [74] V. Sood and S. Redner, Voter model on heterogeneous graphs, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005), 178701.
- [75] C. Castellano, D. Vilone and A. Vespignani, Incomplete ordering of the voter model on small-world networks, Europhys. Lett. 63 (2003), 153.
- [76] K.-I. Goh, B. Kahng, and D. Kim, Universal behavior of load distribution in scale-free networks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87 (2001), 278701.
- [77] R. Pastor-Satorras and A. Vespignani, Epidemic spreading in scale-free networks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86 (2001), 3200.
- [78] M. E. J. Newman, Spread of epidemic disease on networks, Phys. Rev. E 66 (2002), 016128.
- [79] M. Boguná, R. Pastor-Satorras, and A. Vespignani, Absence of epidemic threshold in scale-free networks with degree correlations, Phys. Rev. Lett. **90** (2003), 028701.
- [80] M. Barahona and L. M. Pecora, Synchronization in small-world systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 (2002), 054101.
- [81] A. E. Motter, C. S. Zhou, and J. Kurths, Enhancing complex-network synchronization, Europhys. Lett. 69 (2005), 334.
- [82] T. Nishikawa, A. E. Motter, Y.-C. Lai, and F. C. Hoppensteadt, Heterogeneity in oscillator networks: are smaller worlds easier to synchronize?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 91 (2003), 014101.
- [83] M. R. Evans, S. N. Majumdar, and R. K. P. Zia, Factorised steady states in mass transport models on an arbitrary graph, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen, Vol. 39 (2006), 4859.
- [84] A. G. Angel, T. Hanney, and M. R. Evans, Condensation transitions in a model for a directed network with weighted links, Phys. Rev. E 73 (2006), 016105.
- [85] J. Kaupuzs, R. Mahnke, and R. J. Harris, Zero-range model of traffic flow, Phys. Rev. E 72 (2005), 056125.
- [86] S. Grosskinsky and T. Hanney, Coarsening dynamics in a two-species zero-range process, Phys. Rev. E 72 (2005), 016129.
- [87] J. D. Noh, G. M. Shim, and H. Lee, Complete condensation in a zero-range process on scale-free networks, Phys. Rev. Lett. 94 (2005), 198701.
- [88] C. Godreche, Dynamics of condensation in zero-range processes, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 36 (2003), 6313.
- [89] P. Bialas, Z. Burda, and D. Johnston, Phase diagram of the mean field model of simplicial gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 542 (1999), 413.
- [90] Z. Burda, D. Johnston, J. Jurkiewicz, M. Kamiński, M. A. Nowak, G. Papp, and I. Zahed, Wealth condensation in pareto macroeconomies, Phys. Rev. E 65 (2002), 026102.
- [91] R. Hagedorn, Statistical thermodynamics of strong interactions at high energies, Nuovo Cim. Suppl. 3 (1965), 147; Nuovo Cim. A 56 (1968), 1027.
- [92] Ph. Blanchard, S. Fortunato, and H. Satz, The Hagedorn temperature and partition thermodynamics, Eur. Phys. J. C 34 (2004), 361.
- [93] Bas V. de Bakker, Further evidence that the transition of 4D dynamical triangulation is 1st order, Phys. Lett. B 389 (1996), 238.
- [94] M. R. Evans and T. Hanney, Nonequilibrium statistical mechanics of the zero-range process and related models, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 38 (2005), R195.
- [95] Y. Kafri, E. Levine, D. Mukamel, G. M. Schütz, and J. Török, Criterion for phase separation in one-dimensional driven systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 (2002), 035702.

- [96] M. R. Evans, E. Levine, P. K. Mohanty, and D. Mukamel, Modelling one-dimensional driven diffusive systems by the Zero-Range Process, Eur. Phys. J. B 41 (2004), 223.
- [97] J. D. Noh, Stationary and dynamical properties of a zero-range process on scale-free networks, Phys. Rev. E 72 (2005), 056123.
- [98] L. Bogacz, Z. Burda, W. Janke, and B. Waclaw, *Balls-in-boxes condensation on networks*, to appear in the "Chaos" focus issue on "Optimization in Networks"; arXiv:cond-mat/0701553.
- [99] B. Waclaw, L. Bogacz, Z. Burda, and W. Janke, Condensation in zero-range processes on inhomogeneous networks, submitted to Phys. Rev. E; arXiv:cond-mat/0703243.
- [100] C. Godréche and J. M. Luck, Dynamics of the condensate in zero-range processes, J. Phys. A 38 (2005), 7215.
- [101] W. Czyż, Advanced quantum mechanics for PhD students, IF UJ, unpublished notes.
- [102] S. Grosskinsky, G. M. Schütz, and H. Spohn, Condensation in the zero-range process: stationary and dynamical properties, J. Stat. Phys. 113 (2003), 389.
- [103] J. D. Noh, Interacting particle systems in complex networks, J. Korean Phys. Soc. 50 (2007), 327.
- [104] S. Arrhenius, Z. Phys. Chem. 4 (1889), 226.
- [105] Ch.-W. Shin and S. Kim, Self-organized criticality and SF properties in emergent functional neural networks, Phys. Rev. E 74 (2006), 045101.